
 
RIDGWAY PLANNING COMMISSION  

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA  
Tuesday, November 29, 2022 

5:30 pm 
 

Pursuant to the Town’s Electronic Participation Policy, 
the meeting will be conducted both in person and via a virtual meeting portal. Members of 

the public may attend in person at the Community Center, located at 201 N. Railroad 
Street, Ridgway, Colorado 81432, or virtually using the meeting information below. 

 
Join Zoom Meeting 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83672848687?pwd=KytDOHc2MllrTkdFNzF2ZzhlS2Z4Zz09  
Meeting ID: 836 7284 8687 

Passcode: 015450 
To call in dial: 408.638.0968 or 253.215.8782 or 669.900.6833 

 
Written comments can be submitted before the meeting to kchristian@town.ridgway.co.us or 

delivered to Town Hall Attn: Planning Commission 
 

ROLL CALL:  Chairperson: Michelle Montague, Commissioners: John Clark, Jennifer Franz, Bill 
Liske, Russ Meyer, Jennifer Nelson, and Jack Petruccelli 

 
WORK SESSION: 
 

1. Presentation of initial draft of proposed updates to Chapter 7 “Planning and Zoning” 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 

2. Minutes from the Regular meeting of October 25, 2022 
 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 

3. Update regarding regular meeting schedule 
 

4. Updates from Planning Commission members 
 
ADJOURNMENT  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83672848687?pwd=KytDOHc2MllrTkdFNzF2ZzhlS2Z4Zz09
mailto:kchristian@town.ridgway.co.us


 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM #1 
 



 

 Community Planning Strategies, LLC 
970.368.3114     www.PlanStrategize.com 

To:   Town of Ridgway Planning Commissioners 
From: Katie Kent, CPS, Contracted Town Planner 

TJ Dlubac, CPS, Contracted Town Planner 
Cc:  Preston Neill, Town Manager 
Date:  November 23, 2022 
Subject:   Ridgway Municipal Code, Chapter 7 Proposed Updated Outline 
 
As a follow-up to the Planning Commission meeting discussion held on September 22, 2022, regarding 
moving forward with amending Chapter 7 of the Ridgway Municipal Code (RMC) to clarify application 
processes, we have prepared an outline of the proposed section headings. 
In the below outline, notes on existing code sections to be evaluated and/or modified through this process 
are presented in blue italicized font with brackets. This general outline is the first step to updating the 
procedures and evaluating ancillary sections of the RMC.  
The outline below may change over the course of the project, however, the intent is to present the idea of 
restructuring Chapter 7 to better delineate and separate the three functions of the code: 

1) Administration: This function includes the legal authority, interpretation, administration, and 
enforcement provisions of the code. Includes general administration, nonconforming uses and 
structures, enforcement provisions, etc. 

2) Procedures: This function includes all the procedures for various review processes. This ties to 
standards that are required for specific application types as well as the enforcement clauses and 
provisions as necessary. Includes application review procedures, nonconforming uses and 
structures, flow charts, etc. 

3) Standards:  This is the meat of a code. This has all the standards that need be met ranging from 
subdivision design, infrastructure improvements, zoning district standards and uses, to use 
requirements. Includes zoning district standards, use standards, development standards, 
subdivision standards, nonconforming uses and structures, etc. 

 
Please feel free to follow up with any questions. 
  



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 2 of 13 

2 

CHAPTER 7, LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 
SECTION 1 – GENERAL PROVISIONS [This Section has brought in existing language from Code and also added new 
language] 

7-1-1 INTERPRETATION OF THE PROVISIONS OF THESE LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS [New 
language] 

7-1-2 RULES OF CONSTRUCTION OF LANGUAGE [New language] 
7-1-3 COMPUTATION OF TIME [New language] 
7-1-4 STATUTORY VESTED PROPERTY RIGHTS [Brought in from Chapter 7, Section 5] 

7-1-5 ADEQUATE PUBLIC WATER SUPPLY [Brought in from Chapter 7, Section 6] 

7-1-6 FEES AND COSTS [Existing 7-4-12. However, removed specific fee amounts and referenced a fee 
schedule] 

7-1-7 ENFORCEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION [Brought in from 7-3-24] 

SECTION 2 – PLANNING COMMISSION [No changes were made to this Section] 

SECTION 3 – BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT  [No changes were made to this Section] 

SECTION 4 – ZONING REGULATIONS [This Section has brought in existing language from Code and also added 
new language] 

7-4-1 GENERAL PROVISIONS [This brings in existing 7-3-1 along with adding a few other general provisions] 

7-4-2 ZONING MAP [This is identical to existing 7-3-3] 

7-4-3 ZONING APPLICATIONS AND REVIEW PROCEDURES [This Section outlines review procedures for each 
application type and then breaks down each application type] 

(A) Table X-XX – Zoning Application Types and Processes [This Table states each zoning application 
type and what the process is the application goes through including public noticing requirements and 
approving authority] 

(B) General Application Review Procedures [This Section replaces existing 7-3-23 and clarifies the 
individual application process steps] 
(1) Pre-Application Meeting  
(2) Application Submittal Requirements  

(a) Basic Application Materials  
(3) Completeness Review [Within 10 days, review for completeness.] 
(4) Referral Agencies [There is currently not a referral review period for zoning applications; this 

adds one.] 
(5) Staff Report 
(6) Notice Requirements [Includes 15 day publication in paper, 7 day mailing to adjacent owners, 30 

day mineral estates notice] 
(7) Public Hearings  
(8) Post Approval [Includes submitting final documents and recordation of documents] 



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 3 of 13 

3 

(C) Rezoning 
(1) General Provisions [Brought in from 7-3-3 and 7-3-22 and added new language] 
(2) Review Procedures 

(a) Review flowchart 
(b) Pre-Application meeting 
(c) Application submittal requirements 
(d) Completeness review 
(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
(f) Staff Report 
(g) Review and Recommendation by Planning Commission 
(h) Review and Action by Town Council 

(3) Approval Criteria [Brought in from 7-3-21] 
(D) Text Amendment [7-3-22 states Amendments and Additions to Zoning Regulations but does not give 

clear information on text language amendments so this section is written from scratch] 
(1) General Provisions  
(2) Review Procedures 

(a) Review flowchart 
(b) Staff Report 
(c) Review and Recommendation by Planning Commission 
(d) Review and Action by Town Council 

(3) Approval Criteria  
(E) Conditional Uses 

(1) General Provisions  
(2) Applicability 
(3) Concurrent Applications 
(4) Existing Permits 
(5) Review and Revocation of a Conditional Use Permit 
(6) Review Procedures 

(a) Review flowchart 
(b) Pre-Application meeting 
(c) Application submittal requirements 
(d) Completeness review 
(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
(f) Staff Report 
(g) Review and Action by Planning Commission 



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 4 of 13 

4 

(7) Approval Criteria [Brought in from 7-3-19] 
(F) Minor Amendments to a Conditional Use Permit [New application type being added to RMC] 

(1) General Provisions 
(2) Review Procedures 

(a) Review flowchart 
(b) Pre-Application meeting 
(c) Application submittal requirements 
(d) Completeness review 
(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
(f) Review and Decision by Town Manager or designee 

(3) Approval Criteria [Directs applicants to approval criteria for a CUP application] 
(G) Temporary Use Permits 

(1) General Provisions [Brought in from 7-3-18 (C)] 
(2) Review Procedures 

(a) Review flowchart 
(b) Pre-Application meeting 
(c) Application submittal requirements 
(d) Completeness review 
(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
(f) Review and Decision by Planning Commission [Brought in from 7-3-18 (C)] 

(3) Approval Criteria  
(H) Site Plan [New application type being added to RMC] 

(1) General Provisions  
(2) Review Procedures 

(a) Review flowchart 
(b) Pre-Application meeting 
(c) Application submittal requirements 
(d) Completeness review 
(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
(f) Review and Decision by Town Manager or designee (may be appealed to Board of 

Adjustment in accordance with appeal section of Code) 
(3) Approval Criteria  

(I) Administrative Adjustment [New application type being added to RMC] 
(1) General Provisions  
(2) Review Procedures 



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 5 of 13 

5 

(a) Review flowchart 
(b) Pre-Application meeting 
(c) Application submittal requirements 
(d) Completeness review 
(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
(f) Review and Decision by Town Manager or designee (may be appealed to Board of 

Adjustment in accordance with appeal section of Code) 
(3) Approval Criteria  

(J) Variance 
(1) General Provisions  
(2) Review Procedures 

(a) Review flowchart 
(b) Pre-Application meeting 
(c) Application submittal requirements 
(d) Completeness review 
(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
(f) Staff Report 
(g) Review and Decision by Planning Commission 

(3) Approval Criteria [Brought in from 7-3-21] 
(K) Appeal [7-3-21 states Variances and Appeals but does not give clear information on appeals so this 

section is written from scratch] 
(1) General Provisions  
(2) Review Procedures 

(a) Review flowchart 
(b) Pre-Application meeting 
(c) Application submittal requirements 
(d) Completeness review 
(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
(f) Staff Report 
(g) Review and Decision by Board of Adjustment 

(3) Approval Criteria  
7-4-4 ZONING DISTRICTS  

(A) Establishment of Districts. [Each Zone District is same as exists in current RMC]  
(B) Residential Districts 
(C) Commercial Districts 



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 6 of 13 

6 

(D) Industrial Districts 
(E) R Low-Density Residential District 

(1) Intent [Brought in from 7-3-5] 
(2) District Standard 

(a) Permitted uses. [Refers to new Land Use Table which pulls existing permitted and 
conditional uses from 7-3-5] 

(b) Lot size and required setbacks. [Refers to Dimensional Standards table copied from 
existing RMC] 

(F) HR Historic Residential District 
(1) Intent [Brought in from 7-3-6] 
(2) District Standards 

(a) Permitted uses. [Refers to new Land Use Table which pulls existing permitted and 
conditional uses from 7-3-6] 

(b) Lot size and required setbacks. [Refers to Dimensional Standards table copied 
from existing RMC] 

(G) MR Mixed Residential District 
(1) Intent [Brought in from 7-3-7] 
(2) District Standards 

(a) Permitted uses. [Refers to new Land Use Table which pulls existing permitted and 
conditional uses from 7-3-7] 

(b) Lot size and required setbacks. [Refers to Dimensional Standards table copied 
from existing RMC] 

(3) Performance and Design Standards [Existing language pulled in from 7-3-7] 
(H) FD Future Development District 

(1) Intent [Brought in from 7-3-8] 
(2) District Standard 

(a) Permitted uses. [Refers to new Land Use Table which pulls existing permitted and 
conditional uses from 7-3-8] 

(b) Lot size and required setbacks. [Refers to Dimensional Standards table copied 
from existing RMC] 

(I) HB Historic Business District 
(1) Intent [Brought in from 7-3-9] 
(2) District Standards 

(a) Permitted uses. [Refers to new Land Use Table which pulls existing permitted and 
conditional uses from 7-3-9] 

(b) Lot size and required setbacks. [Refers to Dimensional Standards table copied 
from existing RMC] 

(3) Performance and Design Standards [Existing language pulled in from 7-3-9] 



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 7 of 13 

7 

(J) DS Downtown Service District 
(1) Intent [Brought in from 7-3-10] 
(2) District Standards 

(a) Permitted uses. [Refers to new Land Use Table which pulls existing permitted and 
conditional uses from 7-3-10] 

(b) Lot size and required setbacks. [Refers to Dimensional Standards table copied 
from existing RMC] 

(3) Performance Standards for Conditional Uses [Existing language pulled in from 7-3-10] 
(K) GC General Commercial District 

(a) Intent [Brought in from 7-3-11] 
(b) District Standards 

(i) Permitted uses. [Refers to new Land Use Table which pulls existing permitted and 
conditional uses from 7-3-11] 

(ii) Lot size and required setbacks. [Refers to Dimensional Standards table copied 
from existing RMC] 

(c) Performance Standards [Existing language pulled in from 7-3-11] 
(L) I-1 Light Industrial 1 District 

(a) Intent [Brought in from 7-3-12] 
(b) District Standards 

(i) Permitted uses. [Refers to new Land Use Table which pulls existing permitted and 
conditional uses from 7-3-12] 

(ii) Lot size and required setbacks. [Refers to Dimensional Standards table copied 
from existing RMC] 

(c) Performance Standards [Existing language pulled in from 7-3-12] 
(M) I-2 Light Industrial 2 District 

(a) Intent [Brought in from 7-3-13] 
(b) District Standards 

(i) Permitted uses. [Refers to new Land Use Table which pulls existing permitted and 
conditional uses from 7-3-13] 

(ii) Lot size and required setbacks. [Refers to Dimensional Standards table copied 
from existing RMC] 

(c) Performance Standards [Existing language pulled in from 7-3-13] 
(N) UROD Uncompahgre River Overlay District 

(a) Purpose and Intent [Brought in from 7-3-14] 

(b) Applicability [Brought in from 7-3-14] 

(c) Uses by Right [Brought in from 7-3-14] 

(d) Conditional Uses [Brought in from 7-3-14] 



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 8 of 13 

8 

(e) Development between 25 and 75 feet [Brought in from 7-3-14] 

(f) Performance Standards [Brought in from 7-3-14] 

(g) Submittal requirements  [Brought in from 7-3-14] 

(h) Exempt Uses and Activities [Brought in from 7-3-14] 

(O) Land Use Table [New table being inserted which brings in all uses within Code into one place and 
states which zone districts permit uses by right or conditional use within the Code. No changes made to 
where uses permitted. Still need to finalize all industrial uses into table] 

(P) Zone District Dimensional Standards [Table and associated footnotes brought in from 7-3-15] 
7-4-5 SUPPLEMENTAL REGULATIONS 

(A) Home Occupations [Brought in from 7-3-18 (A)] 
(B) Offensive Businesses [Brought in from 7-3-18 (B)] 
(C) Use and Location of Travel Homes [Brought in from 7-3-18 (D)] 
(D) Garage and Yard Sales [Brought in from 7-3-18 (E)] 
(E) Bed and Breakfast Operations [Brought in from 7-3-18 (F)] 
(F) Accessory Dwelling Units [Brought in from 7-3-18 (G)] 
(G) Telecommunication Antenna and Tower Regulations [Brought in from 7-3-18 (H)] 
(H) Short-Term Rental Regulations [Brought in from 7-3-18 (I)] 
(I) Marijuana [Brought in from 7-3-18 (J)] 
(J) Manufactured Homes [Brought in from 7-3-18 (K)] 
(K) Employee Housing [Brought in from 7-3-18 (L)] 
(L) Parking Standards [Brought in from 7-3-15] 
(M) Fence, Hedge, and Wall Regulations [Brought in from 6-4-1] 
(N) Outdoor Lighting Regulations [Brought in from Chapter 6, Section 5] 

7-4-6 SIGN REGULATIONS [Brought in from 7-3-17] 
7-4-7 LANDSCAPE REGULATIONS [Brought in from Chapter 7, Section 7] 
7-4-8 RESIDENTIAL DESIGN STANDARDS [Brought in from Chapter 6, Section 6] 
7-4-9 REGULATIONS FOR MANUFACTURED HOMES, TRAVEL HOMES AND OTHER FACTORY-BUILT 

HOUSING [All section in existing code but various sections: brought in from Chapter 6, Section 3 and 
Chapter 8, Section 1] 

7-4-10 NONCONFORMING USES [Brought in from 7-3-20] 

SECTION 5 – SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 
7-5-1 GENERAL PROVISIONS [Brought in from 7-4-1, 7-4-2, and 7-4-3] 
7-5-2 SUBDIVISION APPLICATIONS AND REVIEW PROCEDURES [This Section replaces existing 7-4-5 and 
clarifies the individual subdivision application process steps] 



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 9 of 13 

9 

(A) Subdivision Application Types and Processes [This Table states each subdivision application type 
and what the process is the application goes through including public noticing requirements and 
approving authority] 

(B) General Application Review Procedures [This Section replaces existing 7-4-5 and clarifies the 
individual application process steps] 
(1) Pre-Application Meeting 
(2) Application Submittal Requirements 

(a) Basic Application Materials 
(i) Application Form [Includes application form, applicant/agent and owner information 

requirements] 
(ii) Fees [Includes application fees and payment of consultant fees] 
(i) Proof of Ownership 
(ii) Legal Description 
(iii) Adjacent Property Owners  
(iv) Mineral Interest Owners 
(v) Vicinity Map 
(vi) General Written Narrative 

(3) Completeness Review [Within 10 days, review for completeness] 
(4) Referral Agencies [Brought in from 7-4-5] 
(5) Staff Report 
(6) Notice Requirements [Includes 15 day publication in paper, 7 day mailing to adjacent owners, 30 

day mineral estates notice] 
(7) Public Hearings 
(8) Post Approval [Includes submitting final documents, Improvements Agreement, Recordation of 

documents, and public sale of lots] 
(C) Major Subdivision [Pulls information from 7-4-5 and adds new information for further clarification. 

Three stages of subdivision process remain in this section (Sketch Plan, Preliminary Plat, Final Plat)] 
(1) General Provisions 
(2) Review Procedures 

(a) Sketch Plan Review 
(i) Review Flowchart 
(ii) Pre-Application meeting 
(iii) Application submittal requirements 
(iv) Completeness review 
(v) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
(vi) Staff Report 
(vii) Review and Recommendation by Planning Commission 



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 10 of 13 

10 

(viii) Review and Action by Town Council 
(b) Preliminary Plat 

(i) Review Flowchart 
(ii) Pre-Application meeting 
(iii) Application submittal requirements 
(iv) Completeness review 
(v) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
(vi) Staff Report 
(vii) Review and Recommendation by Planning Commission 
(viii) Review and Action by Town Council 

(c) Final Plat 
(i) Review Flowchart 
(ii) Pre-Application meeting 
(iii) Application submittal requirements 
(iv) Completeness review 
(v) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
(vi) Staff Report 
(vii) Review and Recommendation by Planning Commission 
(viii) Review and Action by Town Council 
(ix) Post Approval 

(3) Approval Criteria 
(D) Minor Subdivision [Pulls from 7-4-8 and added some new sub-application types] 

(1) Applicability  
(2) Procedures 

(E) Plat Amendments [Pulls information from 7-4-10 and adds new information] 
(1) Applicability 
(2) Procedures 

(F) Lot Splits [Brought in from 7-4-9] 
(1) Applicability  
(2) Procedures 

(G) Boundary of Lot Line Adjustment. [New Section] 
(1) Applicability 
(2) Procedures 

(H) Townhomes [New Section] 



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 11 of 13 

11 

(1) Applicability 
(2) Procedures 

(I) Building Footprint [New Section] 
(1) Applicability  
(2) Procedures 

(J) Condominiumization [New Section] 
(1) Applicability  
(2) Procedures 

(K) Exempt Division of Land [New Section] 
(1) Applicability  
(2) Procedures 

(L) Lot Consolidation [New Section] 
(1) Applicability  
(2) Procedures  

(M) Replat [New Section] 
(1) Applicability  
(2) Procedures 

(N) Right-of-Way Vacation [New Section] 
(1) Applicability 
(2) Procedures 

7-5-3 SUBDIVISION REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS [Brought in from 7-4-6] 
7-5-4 DESIGN STANDARDS [Brought in from 7-4-7] 

SECTION 6 – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) [Brought in from 7-3-16 and inserted additional 
information for process outline] 

7-6-1 GENERAL PUD REVIEW PROCEDURES 
(A) Authorization 
(B) General Provisions [Brought in from 7-3-16] 
(C) Intent 
(D) Application 
(E) Eligibility  
(F) Permitted Uses 
(G) Coordination with Subdivision and Zoning Regulations 
(H) Modification of Requirements  

7-6-2 PUD STANDARDS 



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 12 of 13 

12 

(A) General Provisions 
(B) Affordable Housing 
(C) Installation of Electric Vehicle Spaces 

7-6-3 GENERAL PUD REVIEW PROCEDURES 
(A) Table of PUD Application Types and Processes 
(B) Pre-Application Meeting 
(C) Application Submittal Requirements 
(D) Completeness Review 
(E) Referral Agencies 
(F) Staff Report 
(G) Notice Requirements 
(H) Public Hearings 
(I) Post Approval 

7-6-4 PUD ZONING [New application type] 
(A) General Provisions 
(B) Review Procedures  
(C) Approval Criteria 

7-6-5 MAJOR PUD AMENDMENT[New application type] 
(A) General Provisions 
(B) Review Procedures 
(C) Approval Criteria [Refers back to original PUD approval criteria as currently exist] 

7-6-6 MINOR PUD AMENDMENT [New application type] 
(A) General Provisions 
(B) Review Procedures 
(C) Approval Criteria 

SECTION 7 –ANNEXATIONS [New Section] 

7-7-1 Application of Municipal Code 
7-7-2 Purpose 
7-7-3 Statement of Policy and Review Criteria 
7-7-4 Responsibilities of Applicant 
7-7-5 Annexation Procedures 

(A) Eligibility 
(B) Annexation Process Summary 
(C) Pre-Application Meeting 



Town of Ridgway 
November 23, 2022 
Page 13 of 13 

13 

(D) Application and Petition Submittal Requirements 
(E) Completeness Review 
(F) Substantial Compliance 
(G) Evaluation and Review of Application and Petition 
(H) Notice of Public Hearing 
(I) Planning Commission Review 
(J) Town Council 
(K) Post Approval 

SECTION 8 – DEFINITIONS [Consolidates all definitions currently under 6-3-1, 7-3-2, and 7-4-4] 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 1-3 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 1 of 7 

Chapter 7: Land Development Regulations 
SECTION 1 – GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
7-1-1 INTERPRETATION OF THE PROVISIONS OF THESE LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 
[New language] 

(A) The provisions of these Land Development Regulations shall be regarded as the minimum 
requirements for the protection of the public health, safety, and general welfare. 

(B) These Land Development Regulations shall be interpreted in a manner to further its underlying 
purposes. 

(C) If a conflict occurs between provisions of these Land Development Regulations, or between 
provisions of these Land Development Regulations and a state statute or other applicable codes 
and regulations, the more restrictive provision controls unless otherwise specified these Land 
Development Regulations, or preempted by a direct conflict with state statute. 

(D) Unless otherwise specified in these Land Development Regulations, the requirements of these 
Land Development Regulations are presumed to apply to actions related to a change in land use 
as defined herein. 

 

7-1-2 RULES OF CONSTRUCTION OF LANGUAGE [New language] 

(A) Words and phrases shall be read in context and construed according to common usage. Words 
and phrases that have acquired a technical or particular meaning, by legislative definition or 
otherwise, shall be construed accordingly. 

(B) The particular controls the general. 
(C) The word “shall” is always mandatory. 
(D) The words “may” and “should” are permissive. 
(E) Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, words used in the singular number include the 

plural and words used in the plural number include the singular. 
(F) If there is a conflict between figures and words expressing a number, the words govern. 
(G) The phrase “used for” includes “arranged for,” “designed for,” “intended for,” “maintained for,” 

and “occupied for.” 
 

7-1-3 COMPUTATION OF TIME [New language] 

(A) In computing a period of days, the first day is excluded and the last day is included unless the 
last day of any period is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, in which case the last day shall be 
the next working day. 

(B) Unless otherwise specified in these Land Development Regulations, the term “days” shall refer to 
calendar days. 

  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 1-3 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 2 of 7 

7-1-4 STATUTORY VESTED PROPERTY RIGHTS [Brought in from Ch. 7, Sec. 5] 

(A) Purpose. 
The purpose of this Section is to provide procedures necessary to implement a program of 
legislated vested rights similar, but not necessarily identical, to that called for by the provisions of 
Article 68 of Title 24, C.R.S. The provisions of said Article 24-68, to the extent inconsistent with 
the provisions of this Chapter, including but not necessarily limited to the provisions of C.R.S. 24-
68-102.5(1), are hereby superseded. 

(B) General Provisions. 
(1) As used in this Section, "Site-Specific Development Plan" means a plan approved by the 

Town pursuant to this Section which has been submitted to the Town by a landowner or his 
representative describing with reasonable certainty the type and intensity of use for a 
specific parcel or parcels of property. Such plan may consist of one or more of the 
following: 

(2) An approved Final Planned Unit Development Plan; 
(3) An approved Subdivision Final Plat; 
(4) An approved Conditional Use; 
(5) An approved change in a nonconforming use; or 
(6) Annexation Agreements or Development Agreements executed by the Town which 

specifically provide that they should be part of a Site-Specific Development Plan. 
(7) Neither a Sketch Plan, a Preliminary Subdivision Plat nor a Preliminary PUD Plan may qualify 

as a Site-Specific Development Plan. An approved Zoning Variance, final architectural plans, 
public utility filings, or final construction drawings and related documents and methods for 
construction of improvements shall not, in and of itself constitute a Site-Specific 
Development Plan although it may be an additional element of a Site-Specific Development 
Plan which is specified in paragraph (1) above. 

(8) A Site-Specific Development Plan for any development shall include all of the items 
identified in paragraphs (1) and (2), above, to the extent applicable to the development. 

(9) None of the items identified in paragraphs (1) and (2) shall be considered a Site-Specific 
Development Plan until approved, pursuant to the procedures of this Section in addition to 
the procedures applicable to such individual items. Such procedures may be pursued 
contemporaneously. 

(C) Procedures 
(1) A landowner desiring approval of a Site-Specific Development Plan shall submit an 

application therefore on forms provided by the Town indicating each element of such plan 
and shall submit a copy of each element as approved by the Town together with any other 
information necessary to determine with reasonable certainty the type and intensity of use 
for the property. 

(2) Upon receipt of a properly completed application with fee, the Town shall schedule a public 
hearing and publish notice thereof.  

(3) Following the Hearing, the Town Council may approve the Site-Specific Development Plan if 
it is consistent with the requirements of this Section. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 1-3 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 3 of 7 

(4) Following approval, the Town shall cause a Notice describing generally the type and 
intensity of the use approved, and the description of the property affected. Such notice 
shall not be published more than 14 days after approval. 

(5) The Site-Specific Development Plan shall be deemed approved upon the effective date of 
the Town Council's action. In the event amendments to any of the elements of the Site-
Specific Development Plan are subsequently proposed and approved, the effective date of 
such amendments for purposes of the duration of vested property rights shall be the date 
of approval of the original Site-Specific Development Plan. 

(D) Limitations.  
(1) Approval of a Site-Specific Development Plan pursuant to this Chapter shall be deemed to 

create a vested property right which shall be subject to the provisions and limitations of 24-
68-103(1)(b) and (c), 104 and 105, C.R.S., except inconsistent with any provision of this 
Chapter. 

(2) Failure of any landowner to request a hearing and approval of various elements of the 
development plan as a Site-Specific Development Plan shall constitute a waiver and no 
vested right shall be deemed to have been created by the Town's approval of such 
elements. 

(3) Approval of a Site-Specific Development Plan may be revoked by the Board of Trustees 
following notice and hearing on account of breach of any condition of approval of the 
various elements of the plan or any ordinance or regulations of the Town applicable to the 
various approvals or the various elements of the plan. 

(4) The provisions of all duly adopted zoning ordinances and other land use and development 
ordinances and regulations and master plans, as amended from time to time, shall apply in 
accordance with their terms, to all property and pending applications and proceedings 
except to the extent otherwise specifically provided in the adopting legislation, and except 
to the extent otherwise provided for an approved Site-Specific Development Plan pursuant 
to paragraph (A) above. 

 
7-1-5 ADEQUATE PUBLIC WATER SUPPLY [Brought in from Ch. 7, Sec. 6] 

(A) Purpose 
The purpose of this Section is to provide procedures necessary to implement a program to insure 
adequate public water supplies similar, but not necessarily identical, to that called for by the 
provisions of Part 3 of Article 20 of Title 31, C.R.S. The provisions of said C.R.S. 31-20-301 et 
seq., to the extent inconsistent with the provisions of this Section, are hereby superseded. 

(B) General Provisions 
As used in this Section, "Development Permit" means any preliminary or final approval of an 
application for rezoning, conditional use permit, subdivision, PUD, building permit, site plan, 
development plan or similar application for new construction; which includes new water use in an 
amount more than that used by 50 single-family equivalents. 

(C) Procedures 
(1) Unless the Town has authorized use of a water supply other than that of the Town, in a 

preannexation agreement or by other official action of the Town, a landowner desiring 
approval of a Development Permit shall submit with the application a report complying with 
C.R.S. 29-20-304(1) with respect to the Town's water supply, until such time as the Town 
has adopted a water supply plan conforming with C.R.S. 29-20-304(3). 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 1-3 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 4 of 7 

(2) If the Town has previously authorized Tri County Water Conservation District water or other 
source of supply, the applicant shall submit, the report, letter, or plan complying with 
C.R.S. 29-20-304(1). The Town shall have no obligation to approve any source of supply 
other than that of the Town. 

(3) No development permit shall be approved until the Town has determined in its sole 
discretion that the documents required by subsections (1) and (2) have been properly 
submitted and that the water supply for the proposed development, as such may been 
modified, will be adequate to meet its water supply requirements. 

(D) Applicability 
The provisions of this Section 7-1-6 shall apply to all new and pending applications for a 
development permit submitted after May 29, 2008, except for pending subdivisions or PUDs with 
an unexpired and approved preliminary plat, unless materially changed to increase water supply 
requirements. The determination of the adequacy of water supply for subdivisions or PUDs shall 
be made at the sketch plan stage unless material changes occur after sketch plan approval, in 
which case the determinations shall be made at the next stage of review and approval. The 
determination for other applications shall be made prior to approval of the application. 
 

7-1-6 FEES AND COSTS [Brought in from Sec. 7-4-12, but removed specific fee amounts] 

(A) Application Fees.  
(1) Any application must be accompanied by the appropriate fees. A schedule of fees is available 

through the Town of Ridgway.  
(2) The Town Council, in its sole discretion, may defer, reduce and/or waive certain land use 

fees within this Chapter 7 for projects demonstrating significant public benefit such as 
perpetual, deed-restricted affordable or workforce housing projects. 

(B)  Reimbursement of Costs 
In addition to the application fees, the applicant shall reimburse the Town for all out-of-pocket 
costs incurred during the review including legal fees, postage, notice and publishing costs, map 
costs, engineering fees, etc., together with wages and associated payroll costs for contract 
employees, plus ten percent to cover overhead and administration. The Town shall bill the 
applicant periodically as such costs are incurred. Payment is due within 30 days. Bills not paid by 
the due date shall accrue interest at the rate of one and one-half percent per month or part 
thereof. No plat shall be recorded, improvement accepted, lien released, building permit issued, 
tap approved or other final approval action taken until all fees then due are paid to the Town. 
Such fees may be certified to the County Treasurer for collection as delinquent charges against 
the property concerned. 

 
7-1-7 ENFORCEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION [Brought in from Sec. 7-4-24] 

(A) The Building Official shall be responsible for the interpretation, administration and enforcement of 
the provisions of these Regulations, as amended, the Official Zoning Map, as amended, and of 
any decisions entered by the Planning Commission, Board of Adjustment or Town Council, 
pursuant to this Section. 

(B) No building permit, occupancy permit, or other permit or license shall be issued, nor shall any 
other action of approval be taken or allowed by the Town for any property which is not in 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 1-3 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 5 of 7 

compliance with the provisions of these Zoning Regulations, and any decision issued pursuant 
hereto. 

(C) Whenever necessary to make an inspection to enforce any of the provisions of these Zoning 
Regulations, or any provision of a decision entered, pursuant to this Section, or whenever there is 
reasonable cause to believe that a violation of any provision of these Zoning Regulations, or of 
any decision issued, pursuant to this Section exists, the Marshal, Building Inspector, or their 
authorized representative, shall have the right to enter upon such building or premises at all 
reasonable times for purposes of inspection or to perform any other duty imposed by this 
Section. Prior to entry, he shall identify himself and request permission to enter from the 
occupant or person in charge of the premises if they can be found by reasonable efforts. If entry 
is refused, he shall have recourse to any remedy provided by law to secure entry. 

(D) The Town may maintain an action in a court of competent jurisdiction to enjoin any violation of 
these Zoning Regulations or of the terms of any decision entered pursuant to this Section. 

(E) Any action which reduces the area of any site, lot or tract in violation of the minimum 
dimensional requirements of these regulations shall be unlawful. 

(F) It shall be unlawful to violate any of the provisions of these Zoning Regulations, or the terms of 
any decision entered pursuant to this Section. Any person convicted of such a violation may be 
punished by a fine of up to $300.00. Each day any violation continues shall constitute a separate 
violation. 

(G) Continuing Violations of this Section, the terms of any decision issued pursuant to this Section, or 
any subdivision plat restrictions, are hereby declared to be a nuisance and may be abated in any 
lawful manner. 

  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 1-3 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 6 of 7 

SECTION 2 - PLANNING COMMISSION 
7-2-1 ESTABLISHMENT [Same as existing 7-1-1] 

(A) The Ridgway Planning Commission is hereby created to consist of seven members. Five members 
shall be appointed by the Mayor to serve six-year terms, which will expire at one-year intervals. 
The Mayor and one member of the Town Council, appointed by the Mayor, shall be ex-officio 
members, and shall serve for the period of their incumbency. Any vacancy shall be filled by the 
Mayor for remaining term.  

(B) All members shall be qualified electors of the Town.  
(C) The Mayor may appoint an alternate who may serve and vote in the absence of any of the 

regular members. Such alternate shall serve a two-year term ending on December 31st of the 
odd-numbered years.  

 
7-2-2 BY-LAWS AND RULES OF PROCEDURE [Same as existing 7-1-2] 

The Planning Commission may adopt By-Laws and Rules of Procedure as necessary for the conduct of 
business not in conflict with this Section or State law.  
 
7-2-3 POWERS AND DUTIES [Same as existing 7-1-3] 

The Planning Commission shall have the following powers and duties:  
(A) To discharge duties specified for a Planning Commission or Zoning Commission in any Town 

ordinance or Town Code.  
(B) To make recommendations to the Town Council upon referral or otherwise concerning matters 

related to planning, zoning and land use regulation.  
(C) To make recommendations for the adoption of, or amendments to, a master plan.  

 
7-2-4 REMOVAL OF MEMBERS [Same as existing 7-1-4] 

Members may be removed for malfeasance in office by the Mayor. If any member, other than the Mayor, 
misses any more than five meetings in any calendar year, they shall be automatically removed and a 
replacement appointed by the Mayor.  
  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 1-3 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 7 of 7 

SECTION 3 - BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
7-3-1 CREATION [Same as existing 7-2-1] 

(A) The Board of Adjustment is hereby created to consist of seven members. Five members shall be 
appointed by the Mayor to serve six-year terms, expiring at two-year intervals. The Mayor and 
one member of the Town Council appointed by the Mayor shall be ex officio members and shall 
serve for the period of their incumbency. Any vacancy shall be filled by the Mayor for the 
remaining terms.  

(B) All members shall be qualified electors of the Town.  
(C) The members of the Board of Adjustment and Planning Commission may be the same.  
(D) The Mayor may appoint an alternate who may serve and vote in the absence of any of the 

regular members. Such alternate shall serve a two-year term ending on December 31st of the 
odd-numbered years.  

 
7-3-2 BY-LAWS AND RULES OF PROCEDURE [Same as existing 7-2-2] 

The Board of Adjustment may adopt By-Laws and Rules of Procedure, as necessary, for the conduct of its 
business not in conflict with this Section, other ordinances of the Town or State law.  
 
7-3-3 POWERS AND DUTIES [Same as existing 7-2-3] 

The Board of Adjustment shall discharge duties as specified for a Board of Adjustment in the Town Zoning 
Regulations, other Town ordinances and State law.  
 
7-3-4 REMOVAL OF MEMBERS [Same as existing 7-2-4] 

Members may be removed for malfeasance in office by the Mayor. If any member, other than the Mayor, 
misses any more than five meetings in any calendar year, they shall be automatically removed, and a 
replacement appointed by the Mayor. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 1 of 79 

Chapter 7: Land Development Regulations 
SECTION 4 – ZONING REGULATIONS 
 

7-4-1 – GENERAL PROVISIONS 

(A) This Section, as amended from time to time, together with the Official Zoning Map as adopted and 
amended from time to time, may be cited as the Town's Zoning Regulations .  

(B) The purpose of these Zoning Regulations is to promote the public health, safety and welfare.  
(C) Whenever there is any conflict between these Zoning Regulations and any other ordinance, code 

provision, regulation, or law, the more restrictive or higher standard shall apply.  
(D) These Zoning Regulations and the Official Zoning Map shall constitute a part of the Town's 

Comprehensive Master Plan. These Zoning Regulations are enforceable in accordance with 
Subsection 7-1-XX, Administration and Enforcement. However, the Master Plan is advisory in 
nature.  

(E) This Section lays out the application types, requirements, and review procedures for requests 
associated with zoning changes and land use approvals within the Town of Ridgway. These 
common review procedures provide the foundation for specific review and approval procedures. 
See those specific sections to determine which of these common review procedures apply to 
individual applications for development review.  

(F) Multiple Applications 
(1) Concurrent Review Permitted. Where multiple applications concern the same property, the 

Town Manager or their designee, may permit concurrent review of applications for efficiency 
and practicality. 

(G) Continued Work on Application. Applicants shall continuously and diligently pursue their 
application(s). An applicant who fails to respond to staff comments or requests for a period of four 
(4) months shall be administratively withdrawn by the Town Manager or their designee. An 
applicant may request, in writing, an extension to the Town Manager or their designee. The Town 
Manager or their designee may allow such extension if it is determined that good cause exists to 
extend the application time frame. 
 

7-4-2 – ZONING MAP 

(A) The 1993 Revised Zoning Map of the Town, as such may be amended from time to time, may be 
known or cited as the "Official Zoning Map" of the Town.  

(B) Amendments to the Official Zoning Map may be made by an ordinance enacting a revised map or 
by an ordinance amending portions of the Official Zoning Map by specifying the legal description 
of the property to be rezoned. A copy of the Official Zoning Map, as amended from time to time, 
shall be maintained in the Town Clerk's office available for public inspection. Periodically, copies of 
the Official Zoning Map, as amended, may be reproduced and made available to the public.  

(C) The regulations for the various districts provided for in this Section shall apply within the boundaries 
of each such district as indicated on the Official Zoning Map. The district boundaries, as shown on 
the Official Zoning Map, shall be construed to follow the center lines of streets, to follow platted 
lot lines or the lines of undivided parcels of property, or to follow the Town limits, whenever a 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 2 of 79 

boundary is shown as approximately in the vicinity of such lines. Distances may be determined by 
the scale of the map.  

7-4-3 – ZONING APPLICATIONS AND REVIEW PROCEDURES  

This Section outlines the review procedures that are common to all applications regulated within Section 3, 
Zoning Application and Review Procedures, unless otherwise stated in this Chapter.  Table XXX identifies 
the various application types and associated review procedures regulated by the Zoning Regulations. The 
submittal requirements, review procedures, and approval criteria for each application type are laid out in 
subsequent sections of this Chapter as identified in Table XXX. All documents and materials identified in 
this Section, and the particular application type section shall be required. 

(A) Table XXX - Zoning Application Types and Processes 

 
Pre- 
Application 
Meeting 
(§7-4-XX) 

Completenes
s Review 
(§7-4-XX) 

Referrals 
(§7-4-
XX) 

Notice of 
Hearing 
(§7-4-XX) 

Town 
Manager or 
their 
designee 

Planning 
Commission 
(§7-4-XX) 

Town 
Council 
(§7-4-XX) 

BOA 
(§7-4-
XX) 

R=Required;  O=Optional;  PH=Required Public Hearing;  Rec=Recommendation;  D=Decision 

Rezoning 
(§7-4-X) O R R R 

Posting Rec R 
PH / Rec 

R 
PH / D  

Text Amendment 
(§7-4-X) O R R 

R 
Publication 

 
Rec R 

Rec 
R 

PH / D  

Conditional Use 
Permit 
(§7-4-X) 

O R R R 
Posting Rec R 

PH / D 
 
  

Minor 
Amendment to 
Conditional Use 
Permit 
(§7-4-X) 

O R O  Rec R 
D   

Temporary Use 
Permit 
(§7-4-XX) 

O R O  Rec R 
D   

Site Plan 
(§7-4-XX) O R O  Rec R 

D   

Administrative 
Adjustment 
(§7-4-XX) 

O R O  D    

Variance 
(§7-4-XX) O R R R 

Posting Rec R 
PH / D   

Appeal 
(§7-4-XX) O R O R 

Posting Rec   R 
PH / D 

 

  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 3 of 79 

(B) General Application Review Procedures 
The following procedures shall apply to all classifications of development applications which are 
required under this Chapter.  
(1) Pre-Application Meeting 

If the applicant or Town Manager or their designee, requests a pre-application meeting, the 
following process shall be followed:  
(a) Prior to the formal submission of the application, the applicant shall contact the Town 

Manager or their designee to schedule and request a pre-application meeting. Following 
receipt of a request, the pre-application meeting should be set for a date within ten (10) 
business days of the date of the applicant’s request. The Town Manager or their designee 
shall advise the applicant of the date and time of the pre-application meeting.  

(b) The applicant shall be prepared to discuss the proposed application with the Town Manager 
or their designee. The applicant is encouraged to present such plats, plans, diagrams, or 
other preliminary information sufficient to allow a conceptual review of the proposed 
application.  

(c) The purpose of the pre-application meeting is to assist the applicant in understanding the 
town’s application review processes and to allow the Town Manager or their designee to 
determine the applicable process(es) and regulations for the proposed application.  

(2) Application Submittal Requirements 
All of the following information and materials shall be submitted to the Town of Ridgway in a 
form acceptable to the Town Manager or their designee. Additional information and materials 
required to be submitted for each specific application type identified in Table XXX are set forth 
in subsequent sections of this Chapter and shall also be submitted in order to receive a 
determination of completeness. 
(a) Basic Application Materials 

The following materials are required for all applications regulated by Chapter 7, Section 4 
Zoning Regulations, unless waived by the Town Manager or their designee.  
(i) Application Form. An application form for the request shall be obtained from the 

Town. Completed application forms and accompanying materials shall be 
submitted to the Town by the owner or applicant.  
a. Authorized Agent. If the applicant is not the owner of the land based on Ouray 

County Assessor records, the applicant shall submit a letter signed by the 
owner consenting to the submission of the application(s). 

b. Applicant is Not the Sole Owner. If the applicant is not the sole owner of the 
land, the applicant shall submit a letter signed by all owners or an association 
representing all the owners, by which all owners consent to or join in the 
application.  

(ii) Fees. All application fees shall be in compliance with Section 7-1-6, Fees and Costs. 
(iii) Proof of Ownership. Proof of Ownership in the form of a copy of the property deed 

or a title commitment which has been issued within sixty (60) days of the 
application submittal along with copies of all documents listed in the exceptions. 

(iv) Legal Description. Legal description of the property subject to the development 
application.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 4 of 79 

(v) Mineral Interest Owners. List of all mineral interest owners with interests severed 
from the subject property.  

(vi) Vicinity Map. A map locating the project limits, parcel(s), and property within 
Ridgway. The vicinity map shall clearly show the boundaries of the subject property 
and all property within a three-mile radius of the subject property.  

(vii) General Written Narrative. A general written narrative identifying the development 
team, existing conditions of the property, proposed uses, density, lot layout, end 
users, financing, public dedications (including rights-of-way, parks, open space, 
infrastructure), and describing the purpose of the project, how the request meets 
the applicable approval criteria, furthers the goals and objectives specified in the 
Master Plan, and identifying any potential impacts on adjacent properties and 
public infrastructure and how those impacts are proposed to be mitigated.  

(3) Completeness Review 
When a completeness determination is required pursuant to Table X-X.X, the following shall 
apply: 
(a) Within ten (10) days following receipt of an application, the Town Manager or their 

designee shall administratively review the application and determine whether it includes 
all the application content requirements of the Ridgway Municipal Code for the requested 
application type.  

(b) All plans, reports, maps, and other information required for the application type must be 
complete and legible. A failure of the application to meet the requirements of the Zoning 
Regulations and this Ridgway Municipal Code may delay the processing of the application 
until the application is sufficient and deemed complete.  

(c) When the Town Manager or their designee determines that the application is complete as 
submitted, the Town Manager or their designee shall process the application for review in 
accordance with the provisions set forth in this Chapter 7, Land Development Regulations.  

(d) In the event the Town Manager or their designee determines that the application is 
incomplete, the Town Manager or their designee shall inform the applicant in writing of 
the deficiencies in the application. No further processing of the incomplete application shall 
be undertaken until the Town Manager, or their designee, determines that the applicant 
has remedied the application’s deficiencies.  

(4) Referral Agencies  
In accordance with Table X-X.X, applications shall be referred to any of the below referral 
agencies the Town Manager or their designee determines is necessary to the complete and 
comprehensive review of the request. Referral of applications to other agencies shall be for a 
minimum time frame of fourteen (14) days. However, the time frame for review and comment 
may be extended if the application presents technical issues which require additional review, 
additional information is provided by the applicant, or the application is modified. Referral 
agencies include, but are not limited to, the following: 
(a) Bureau of Land Management (BLM) 
(b) Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) 
(c) Colorado Division of Reclamation, Mining & Safety 
(d) Colorado Division of Water Resources 
(e) Colorado Parks and Wildlife 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 5 of 79 

(f) Colorado State Forest Service 
(g) Ditch companies 
(h) Fire Protection District(s) or department(s) 
(i) Ouray County Departments (Assessor, Clerk & Recorder, Attorney, Health Department, 

Building Department, Road & Bridge, Sheriff Office, etc.) as appropriate  
(j) Town of Ridgway Departments (Town Clerk, Town Attorney, Engineering Department, 

Building Department, Public Works Department, Police Department, etc.) as appropriate  
(k) Water Conservation District(s) 
(l) San Miguel Power Authority 
(m) School district(s) 
(n) Soil Conservation District  
(o) Utility service providers and districts 
(p) US Army Corp of Engineers 
(q) US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
(r) US Forest Service 
(s) Xcel Energy / Public Service of Colorado 
(t) Any other entity or agency deemed necessary by the Town Manager or their designee 

(5) Staff Report 
The Town Manager or their designee shall review the application to determine if the proposal 
satisfies the applicable standards. The Town Manager or their designee shall prepare a staff 
report discussing whether the applicable standards of the Ridgway Municipal Code have been 
satisfied. The staff report should identify issues raised through staff and referral agency review, 
potential mitigation requirements, any recommended conditions for approval, and any 
additional information pertinent to the review of the application.  

(6) Notice Requirements 
All public notices of hearings required by these Zoning Regulations shall include the date, time, 
place, and purpose of the hearing, a general description of the property affected, and any 
other information deemed appropriate to apprise the public of the general nature of the action 
proposed. Errors or inaccuracies in the notice shall not be deemed sufficient cause to postpone 
or invalidate a hearing except where such errors are substantive in material and are found to 
have reasonably mislead or misinformed the public.  
(a) Notice by Posting 

When notice by posting is required for a public hearing by Table X-X.X, notice of the 
hearing shall be posted at Town Hall ten (10) days before the hearing and posted, visible 
from each street frontage abutting the property, for at least ten (10) days prior to the 
hearing in addition to any other notice required by Town regulations. 

(b) Mineral Estates Notice.  
Per 24-65.5-103, C.R.S. if the surface estate and mineral estate are severed, the owners 
of severed mineral estates shall be entitled to notification of not less than thirty (30) days 
before the date scheduled for the public hearing for the application. A copy of the notice 
shall be given to the Town along with the applicant’s certification of compliance with said 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 6 of 79 

notification requirements. Provided this notice is not required if notice was previously sent 
and such certification previously provided with respect to the same surface development, 
or the application is only platting an additional single lot, unless a mineral estate owner 
has requested notice pursuant to 24-6-402(7), C.R.S. 

(7) Public Hearings  
When an application requires a public hearing before the Planning Commission, the Town 
Council, or the Board of Adjustment in accordance with Table X-X.X, the following shall apply:  
(a) The Town shall set the date and time of a public hearing. Notice of the public hearing shall 

be issued in accordance with Table X-X.X and Section XXX.XX, Notice Requirements.  
(b) At the public hearing, the reviewing body shall review the application for conformance with 

the applicable review standards and approval criteria for the request.  
(c) Any public hearing or other action of the body may be continued or postponed at any time 

to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional information for 
further review by the reviewing body.  

(d) When required, the Planning Commission recommendation shall be forwarded to the Town 
Council. Following a public hearing, the Town Council shall approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the application or continue the matter to a date certain.  

(e) The applicant shall bear the burden of presenting sufficient competent evidence at the 
public hearing to support the standards for approval set forth by this Ridgway Municipal 
Code. Any decision by the reviewing body to recommend, or to act to, approve, 
conditionally approve, or deny an application shall be based upon a consideration of all 
evidence presented during the public hearing. Where evidence presented is contradictory, 
the reviewing body shall weigh such evidence and judge the credibility and sufficiency of 
the evidence prior to rendering a decision.  

(8) Post Approval 
(a) Review. Prior to recording of the approved documents, the applicant shall submit all final 

documents reflecting any conditions of approval to the Town Manager or their designee 
for final review and acknowledgement.  

(b) Recording. Any documents required to be recorded with the Ouray County Clerk and 
Recorder shall be fully executed by the applicant and filed for execution by the Town and 
recorded. Recording of all documents shall be completed within a reasonable period of 
time from the date of approval by the approving body.  

(c) Effective Upon Recording. The approval does not become effective until all approved 
documents have been properly recorded with the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder. 

(C) Rezoning 
(1) General Provisions.  

(a) Amendments to the Official Zoning Map may be made by an ordinance enacting a revised 
map or by an ordinance amending portions of the Official Zoning Map by specifying the 
legal description of the property to be rezoned. A copy of the Official Zoning Map, as 
amended from time to time, shall be maintained in the Town Clerk's office available for 
public inspection. Periodically, copies of the Official Zoning Map, as amended, may be 
reproduced and made available to the public.  

(b) Rezonings may be requested or initiated by the Town, the Planning Commission, or the 
owner of any legal or equitable interest in the property or his representative. The area 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 7 of 79 

considered for rezoning may be enlarged by the Planning Commission on its own motion 
over the area requested in the application as part of its recommendation.  

(c) Legislative Zoning: Comprehensive review and reenactment of all or a significant portion 
of the Official Zoning Map shall be a legislative action and shall not be required to meet 
any criteria set out in this Subsection. 

(2) Review Procedures.  
(a) Review Flowchart. 

The flowchart depicts the zoning map amendment application review process described in 
greater detail in this section.  
[Insert Flowchart] 

(b) Pre-Application Meeting. 
A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the provisions set forth in 
Section XXX, Pre-Application Meeting. 

(c) Application Submittal Requirements. 
The following are the application materials required to be submitted for a rezoning request. 
The Town Manager or designee may waive or alter any of the submittal requirements if 
they are determined to be inappropriate or unnecessary to determining if the application 
satisfies applicable standards. 
(i) Basic Application Materials. All materials set forth in Section XXX, Basic Application 

Materials  
(ii) Written Narrative. A written narrative shall be submitted addressing all of the 

following items and any other pertinent or necessary information.  
a. A general written narrative describing the purpose of the project; 
b. The source and quantity of water required for the proposed use(s) within the 

project; 
c. The method of wastewater treatment and anticipated quantity of wastewater 

generated;  
d. When water or wastewater service would be provided by a municipality or a 

water or sanitation district or other public entity, written confirmation that such 
entity is willing and able to provide such service; 

e. A description of any natural or man-made hazard within or in the vicinity of 
the land within the application and a statement describing how the anticipated 
impact of such hazards would be mitigated if the proposed request requires 
such mitigation; 

f. A vicinity map showing to scale the proposed project area in relationship to 
the surrounding municipal and unincorporated area; 

g. A description of any unique features, such as historical sites, unique landforms 
or scenic vistas, contained within the project area; 

(iii) Site Improvement Plan.  
a. The size of the map shall be of a size that is legible for reasonable review and 

interpretation, as determined by the Town Manager or designee. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 8 of 79 

b. A scale that is one (1) inch equals two hundred (200) feet or another suitable 
scale if approved by Town Manager or designee; 

c. Legal description of the parcel; 
d. North arrow, scale, and legend; 
e. A vicinity map at a suitable scale; 
f. Outline of the parcel boundary or the portion of the parcel that the application 

applies to; 
g. The location and name of any streams, ponds, waterways, and irrigation 

ditches within the property boundaries;  
h. The location and names of all roads and highways abutting the site;  
i. All existing and proposed structures and their dimensions; 
j. The location, dimensions and design of any existing signs on the site; 
k. All utility easements or rights-of-way for telephone, gas, electric, water and 

sewer lines;  
l. The location of vehicular drives, entrances, exits, acceleration and deceleration 

lanes; location and dimensions of pedestrian entrances, exits, walks and 
walkways; 

m. General location, arrangement and dimensions of parking spaces, aisles, bays 
and other similar information; and 

n. A notation on the site improvement plan of all existing or potential natural or 
manmade hazards on or adjacent to the site and a narrative description of an 
acceptable plan for the mitigation of the impact of such identified hazards. 

(iv) Supplemental Materials. The following items are also required to be submitted to 
the Town of Ridgway:  
a. Proof of minimum guaranteed water supply. 

(v) Additional Requirements.  
a. Any other information deemed necessary by the Town Manager or designee 

to assist in the review of the application.  
(d) Completeness Review. 

The Town Manager or their designee shall review the application for completeness in 
accordance with the provisions of Section XXX, Completeness Review.  

(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies. 
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or their designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section XXX, Referral Agencies 
and review the application for conformance with the requirements and standards of this 
Chapter. 

(f) Staff Report. 
A staff report shall be prepared and provided to the reviewing body in accordance with 
Section XXX, Staff Report.  

(g) Review and Recommendation by the Planning Commission.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 9 of 79 

The Planning Commission shall review the rezoning application in a manner consistent with 
Table XXX to evaluate compliance with applicable standards. Following its review of the 
application, the Planning Commission may provide either a recommendation to approve, 
approve with conditions, or deny the application to the Town Council based on the criteria 
set forth in Section XXX, Approval Criteria.  

a. The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the 
public hearing to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of 
additional information for further review by the Planning Commission prior to 
providing a recommendation to the Town Council. 

(h) Review and Action by the Town Council. 
The final decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a rezoning shall be made 
by the Town Council in a manner consistent with Table XXX and be based upon the criteria 
set forth in Section XXX, Approval Criteria. 

a. The Town Council may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the public 
hearing to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional 
information for further review by the Town Council prior to making a final decision.  

(3) Approval Criteria. 
Rezonings involving any change in the boundaries of an existing zoning district, or changing 
the designation of a district, shall be allowed only upon a determination following public hearing 
that the following criteria are met:  
(a) The amendment is not adverse to the public health, safety and welfare, and  
(b) Either:  

(i) The amendment is in substantial conformity with the Master Plan; or  
(ii) The existing zoning is erroneous;  
(iii) Conditions in the area affected or adjacent areas have changed materially since the 

area was last zoned. 
(D) Text Amendment 

(1) General Provisions.  
Text amendments are changes to these Land Use Regulations. Such amendments may be 
submitted, reviewed, and approved pursuant to this section to respond to changed conditions, 
changes to public policy, or to advance the general welfare of the town. The review process 
for text amendments shall be reviewed as set forth in Section XXX, Review Procedures. A text 
amendment may only be initiated by the Planning Commission, Town Council, or the Town 
Manager or their designee. 

(2) Review Procedures 
(a) Review Flowchart 

The flowchart depicts the text amendment application review process described in greater 
detail in this section.  
[Insert Flowchart] 

(b) Staff Report. 
A staff report shall be prepared and provided to the reviewing body in accordance with 
Section XXX, Staff Report.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 10 of 79 

(c) Review and Recommendation by the Planning Commission.  
The Planning Commission shall review the text amendment application in a manner 
consistent with Table XXX to evaluate compliance with applicable standards. Following its 
review of the application, the Planning Commission may provide either a recommendation 
to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application to the Town Council based on 
the criteria set forth in Section XXX, Approval Criteria. 

a. The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the 
public hearing to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of 
additional information for further review by the Planning Commission prior to 
providing a recommendation to the Town Council. 

(d) Review and Action by the Town Council. 
The final decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a text amendment shall be 
made by the Town Council in a manner consistent with Table XXX and be based upon the 
criteria set forth in Section XXX, Approval Criteria. 

a. The Town Council may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the public 
hearing to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional 
information for further review by the Town Council prior to making a final decision.  

(3) Approval Criteria. 
The following criteria shall be found to be met by the application and supplemental materials 
in order for the Planning Commission and/or Town Council to recommend approval or approve 
a text amendment.  
(a) The text amendment is consistent with the intent of applicable portions of the Master Plan 

in the reasonable judgement of the approving body; and 
(b) The proposed text amendment is necessary to correct an omission or error in the code; 
(c) The proposed text amendment is necessary to adapt to a change in conditions within the 

town; or 
(d) Changes in public policy are needed to advance the general welfare of the town. 

(E) Conditional Uses 
(1) General Provisions 

Conditional uses are land uses that have potential for causing adverse impacts on other uses 
because of such factors as location, method of operation, scale or intensity of activity, or traffic 
generated. Because of their unusual or special characteristics, conditional uses require review 
and evaluation so that they may be located properly with respect to their effects on surrounding 
properties and the Town of Ridgway at large. Conditional uses may be permitted subject to 
such conditions and limitations as the town may prescribe. The intent is to ensure that the 
location and operation of the conditional use is in accordance with the development objectives 
of the town and the Master Plan and will not be detrimental to other uses or properties. All 
conditional uses shall meet all applicable site development standards as detailed in this 
Chapter. The review process for conditional uses is set forth in Section XXX, Review Procedures. 

(2) Applicability. Conditional use approval is required for those uses listed as conditional uses in 
the Land Use Table in Section XXX. 

(3) Concurrent Applications. An application for conditional use approval is required and shall be 
submitted at the same time as site plan review, if one is necessary. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 11 of 79 

(4) Existing permits. Conditional use permits issued prior to the effective date of these Land 
Development Regulations shall be allowed to continue as long as the use is consistent with the 
conditions of the permit and the provisions of Section X, Nonconforming Land Uses and 
Structures and is renewed as required by the conditional use permit. If the conditions of 
approval are not maintained, it shall be considered a violation of these Land Development 
Regulations, punishable in a manner set forth in Section X-XX  Administration and Enforcement. 
In addition, the Town may revoke the permit. 

(5) Review and Revocation of a Conditional Use Permit 
(a) At such intervals as the Planning Commission may have specified in its original decision, 

or when there is an alleged violation of the provisions of a conditional use permit, the Town 
Manager or designee shall review the terms, conditions, and other provisions of conditional 
use permit(s) issued by Planning Commission. 

(b) Upon review of the permit terms, conditions, and provisions, the Town Manager or 
designee shall make recommendations to the Planning Commission at its next available 
meeting to remedy any violations, the reasons for such recommendations, and specific 
time period(s) in which violations of the provisions of the permit shall be corrected. 

(c) The Planning Commission may apply any and all remedies and penalties set forth in the 
Municipal Code to correct violations of a conditional use permit. 

(d) If the Town Council finds that terms, conditions, and/or provisions of a conditional use 
permit have been violated, the conditional permit shall be revoked, and such use shall be 
considered in violation of the Ridgway Municipal Code. 

(6) Review Procedures 
(a) Review Flowchart. Figure XXX, Conditional Use Permit Flowchart, depicts the conditional 

use permit application review process described in greater detail in this section.  
[Insert Flowchart] 

(b) Pre-Application Meeting 

A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the provisions set forth in 
Section XXX, Pre-Application Meeting. 

(c) Application Submittal Requirements. 
The following are the application materials required to be submitted for conditional use 
requests. The Town Manager may waive or alter any of the submittal requirements if they 
are determined to be inappropriate or unnecessary to determining if the application 
satisfies applicable standards. 

(i) Basic Application Materials. All items set forth in Section XXX, Basic Application 
Materials. 

(ii) Written Narrative. A written narrative shall be submitted addressing all of the 
following items and any other information: 

a. A general written narrative describing the purpose of the project; 
b. Description of the current land use(s) on the property, the characteristics 

of the land within the property boundaries, and the current land use on all 
adjoining property; 

c. A time schedule for construction and/or operation; 
d. Description of how the use will be operated 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 12 of 79 

e. How ongoing maintenance of the use and site will be provided; 
f. How the use’s impacts on surrounding properties will be minimized and 

mitigated; 
g. A statement describing how the proposed use would be in compliance with 

the provisions of the Master Plan;  
h. The proposed sources of water and sanitary sewer; and 
i. A listing of additional local, state and/or federal permits required prior to 

commencing the proposed land use and notation of which permits have 
been applied for and which, if any, have been granted. 

(iii) Site Improvement Plan 
a. The size of the map shall be of a size that is legible for reasonable review 

and interpretation, as determined by the Town Manager or designee. 
b. A scale that is one (1) inch equals two hundred (200) feet or another 

suitable scale if approved by Town Manager or designee; 
c. Legal description of the parcel; 
d. North arrow; scale, and legend; 
e. A vicinity map at a suitable scale; 
f. Outline of the parcel boundary or the portion of the parcel that the 

conditional use applies to; 
g. The location and name of any streams, ponds, waterways and irrigation 

ditches within the property boundaries;  
h. Current and proposed grading and drainage patterns including:  
i. Drainage arrows depicting surface flow; 
j. Drainage facilities and improvements; and  
k. A grading plan depicting existing and proposed site contours at two-foot 

intervals. 
l. The location and names of all roads and highways abutting the site;  
m. All existing and proposed structures and their dimensions; 
n. The location, and dimensions of any existing and proposed signs on the 

site; 
o. All utility easements or rights-of-way transmission and/or service lines; 
p. The location and dimensions of vehicular drives, entrances, exits, 

acceleration and deceleration lanes; location and dimensions of pedestrian 
entrances, exits, walks and walkways; 

q. General location, arrangement and dimensions of parking spaces, width 
of aisles, width of bays, angle of parking and other similar information;  

r. A notation on the site improvement plan of all existing or potential natural 
or manmade hazards on or adjacent to the site and a narrative description 
of an acceptable plan for the mitigation of the impact of such identified 
hazards; and 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 13 of 79 

s. Any other information deemed necessary by the Town Manager or 
designee to assist in the review of the application. 

(iv) Supplemental Materials. The following items are required to be submitted to the 
Town of Ridgway:  
a. Drainage plan or study calculating historic and proposed surface and 

stormwater flows and how such flows will be managed. 
1) Traffic statement or study identifying current and proposed traffic counts 

and proposed trip generation along with any needed or anticipated 
improvements to mitigate the projects use on the public transportation 
network and infrastructure. 

2) Proof of minimum guaranteed water supply appropriate for the requested 
use. 

(v) Additional Requirements 
Any additional information that may be reasonably requested by the Town 
Manager or designee and determined to be necessary to enable an adequate and 
comprehensive evaluation of the application. 

(d) Completeness Review 
The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in accordance 
with the provisions of Section XXX, Completeness Review. 

(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section XXX, Referral Agencies 
and review the application for conformance with the requirements and standards of this 
Municipal Code. 

(f) Staff Report. 
A staff report shall be prepared and provided to the reviewing body in accordance with 
Section XXX, Staff Report.  

(g) Review and Action by the Planning Commission.  
The Planning Commission shall review the conditional use application in a manner 
consistent with Table XXX to evaluate compliance with applicable standards. The final 
decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a conditional use permit shall be 
made by the Planning Commission in a manner consistent with Table XXX and be based 
upon the criteria set forth in Section XXX, Approval Criteria. 

a. The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the 
public hearing to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of 
additional information for further review by the Planning Commission prior to 
making a final decision.  

(7) Approval Criteria.  
Uses listed as conditional uses for the various zoning districts provided in this Chapter shall be 
allowed only if the Planning Commission determines, following review pursuant to Subsection 
7-3-XX, that the following criteria are substantially met with respect to the type of use and its 
dimensions: 
(a) The use will not be contrary to the public health, safety, or welfare. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 14 of 79 

(b) The use is not materially adverse to the Town's Master Plan. 
(c) Streets, pedestrian facilities, and bikeways in the area are adequate to handle traffic 

generated by the use with safety and convenience. 
(d) The use is compatible with existing uses in the area and other allowed uses in the District. 
(e) The use will not have an adverse effect upon other property values. 
(f) The location of curb cuts and access to the premises will not create traffic hazards. 
(g) The use will not generate light, noise, odor, vibration, or other effects which would 

unreasonably interfere with the reasonable enjoyment of other property in the area. 
(h) Visual impact due to a building's size shall be mitigated by means of design, landscaping, 

berming, and other methods of site treatment, and must be compatible with the mass and 
scale of existing buildings on adjacent properties, or if there are no such buildings, 
compatible with the mass and scale of buildings in the Town generally. 

(F) Minor Amendment to a Conditional Use Permit 
(1) General Provisions 

(a) Minor amendments to conditional use permits are those that do not alter the basic intent 
and character of the approved conditional use and are deemed necessary in light of 
technical or engineering considerations not first discovered during actual construction; or 
could not have been reasonably anticipated during the initial review process. Minor 
amendments shall not include changes in use. 

(b) Any change not qualifying as a minor amendment shall be processed as a new conditional 
use request. 

(c) No conditional use permit may receive more than one (1) minor amendment. For purposes 
of this subsection, a minor amendment may include multiple amendments consolidated 
and submitted as one minor amendment to a conditional use permit application. Any 
additional amendments, minor or otherwise, shall be processed as a new conditional use 
application pursuant to Section XXX, Conditional Use Permit. 

(d) The review process for a minor amendment to conditional use permit is set forth in Section 
XXX, Review Procedures. These minor amendments may include, but are not limited to: 
(i) Variations to the location of an approved building footprint of not more than five (5) 

feet; 
(ii) Minor deviations in the location of infrastructure (roads and utilities);  
(iii) Pedestrian or vehicular circulation throughout or adjacent to the project; 
(iv) Changes to the gross floor area of not more than ten (10) percent of the approved 

square footage;  
(v) Modifications to include necessary operations to enhance the area or clear the site; 
(vi) Modification to the day by which the conditional use permit is in operation; 
(vii) Other minor changes to a conditional use permit as determined by the Town Manager 

or designee; 
(2) Review Procedures 

(a) Review Flowchart. Figure XXX, Minor Amendment to a conditional use permit Flowchart, 
depicts the minor amendment to a conditional use permit application review process 
described in greater detail in this section.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 15 of 79 

Figure XXX, Minor Amendment to a Conditional Use Permit Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 

(b) Pre-Application Meeting 
A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the provisions set forth in 
Section XXX, Pre-Application Meeting. 

(c) Application Submittal Requirements. 
The following are the application materials required to be submitted for minor amendment 
to conditional use permit requests. The Town Manager or designee may waive or alter any 
of the submittal requirements if they are determined to be inappropriate or unnecessary 
to determining if the application satisfies applicable standards. 
(i) Basic Application Materials. All items set forth in Section XXX, Basic Application 

Materials. 
(ii) Written Narrative. A written narrative shall be submitted addressing all of the following 

items and any other information.  
a. A general narrative of the conditional use permit issued by the town and any 

conditions or provisions included in such permit; 
b. A description of the minor amendment being requested and justification and 

rationale for such request; and 
c. Any impacts the amendment may have on the use, adjacent properties, and/or 

public infrastructure. 
(iii) Site Improvement Plan. The site improvement plan shall include all items required for 

a conditional use set forth in Section XXX, Site Improvement Plan. 
(iv) Supplemental Materials. The supplemental materials shall include all items required for 

a conditional use set forth in Section XXX, Supplemental Materials. 
(v) Additional Requirements. Any additional information deemed necessary by the Town 

Manager or designee to assist in the review of the application. 
(d) Completeness Review 

The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in accordance 
with the provisions of Section XXX, Completeness Review. 

(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section XXX, Referral Agencies 
and review the application for conformance with the requirements and standards of these 
Land Use Regulations. 

(f) Review and Action by the Planning Commission.  
The Planning Commission shall review the minor amendment to a conditional use 
application in a manner consistent with Table XXX to evaluate compliance with applicable 
standards. The final decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a minor 
amendment to a conditional use permit shall be made by the Planning Commission in a 
manner consistent with Table XXX and be based upon the criteria set forth in Section XXX, 
Approval Criteria. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 16 of 79 

(i) The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the meeting 
to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional information 
for further review by the Planning Commission prior to making a final decision.  

(3) Approval Criteria 
A minor amendment to a conditional use permit may be approved by the Planning Commission 
if the application is found to meet the approval criteria of a conditional use permit set forth in 
Section XXX, Approval Criteria.  

(G) Temporary Use Permits 
(1) General Provisions.  

Temporary uses or structures are uses and/or structures that will be used for a specified period 
of time, is not permanent, or is for a special event or purpose. The review process for a 
temporary use permit is set forth in Section X.XX, Review Procedures. 
(a) The Planning Commission may issue a permit authorizing certain temporary uses of 

premises in a district for a use which is otherwise not allowed in such a district for the 
periods specified here below:  

Use  Zoning District  Period  
Construction office incidental to construction 
on premises  

All districts  9 months  

Carnival, circus, bazaar, fairs  Commercial  1 week  
Tent meetings or crusades  Commercial  2 weeks  

(a) A permit for a period of up to one year may be issued under the following circumstances 
by the Planning Commission for temporary location or use of a manufactured home or 
travel home:  

(i) For fire protection or security purposes in the General Commercial District.  
(ii) At a construction site during the construction period.  

(2) Review Procedures.  
(a) Review Flowchart. Figure XXX, Temporary Use Permit Flowchart, depicts the temporary 

use permit application review process described in greater detail in this section.  
Figure XXX, Temporary Use Permit Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 

(b) Pre-Application Meeting. A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the 
provisions set forth in Section XXX, Pre-Application Meeting. 

(c) Application Submittal Requirements. The following are the application materials required 
to be submitted for temporary use requests. The Town Manager may waive or alter any of 
the submittal requirements if they are determined to be inappropriate or unnecessary to 
determining if the application satisfies applicable standards. 
(i) Basic Application Materials. All items set forth in Section X-XX, Basic Application 

Materials. 
(ii) Written Narrative. A written narrative shall be submitted addressing all of the following 

items and any other information: 
a. A general written narrative describing the purpose of the project; 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 17 of 79 

b. Description of the current land use(s) on the property, the characteristics of the 
land within the property boundaries, and the current land use on all adjoining 
property; 

c. A time schedule for construction and/or operation; 
d. Description of how the use will be operated 
e. How ongoing maintenance of the use and site will be provided; 
f. How the use’s impacts on surrounding properties will be minimized and mitigated; 
g. A statement describing how the proposed use would be in compliance with the 

provisions of the Master Plan;  
h. The proposed sources of water and sanitary sewer; and 
i. A listing of additional local, state and/or federal permits required prior to 

commencing the proposed land use and notation of which permits have been 
applied for and which, if any, have been granted. 

(iii) Site Improvement Plan 
a. The size of the map shall be of a size that is legible for reasonable review and 

interpretation, as determined by the Town Manager or designee. 
b. A scale that is one (1) inch equals two hundred (200) feet or another suitable scale 

if approved by Town Manager or designee; 
c. Legal description of the parcel; 
d. North arrow; scale, and legend; 
e. A vicinity map at a suitable scale; 
f. Outline of the parcel boundary or the portion of the parcel that the conditional use 

applies to; 
g. The location and name of any streams, ponds, waterways and irrigation ditches 

within the property boundaries;  
h. Current and proposed grading and drainage patterns including:  
i. Drainage arrows depicting surface flow; 
j. Drainage facilities and improvements; and  
k. A grading plan depicting existing and proposed site contours at two-foot intervals. 
l. The location and names of all roads and highways abutting the site;  
m. All existing and proposed structures and their dimensions; 
n. The location, and dimensions of any existing and proposed signs on the site; 
o. All utility easements or rights-of-way transmission and/or service lines; 
p. The location and dimensions of vehicular drives, entrances, exits, acceleration and 

deceleration lanes; location and dimensions of pedestrian entrances, exits, walks 
and walkways; 

q. General location, arrangement and dimensions of parking spaces, width of aisles, 
width of bays, angle of parking and other similar information;  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 18 of 79 

r. A notation on the site improvement plan of all existing or potential natural or 
manmade hazards on or adjacent to the site and a narrative description of an 
acceptable plan for the mitigation of the impact of such identified hazards; and 

s. Any other information deemed necessary by the Town Manager or designee to 
assist in the review of the application. 

(iv) Additional Requirements. Any additional information that may be reasonably requested 
by the Town Manager or designee and determined to be necessary to enable an 
adequate and comprehensive evaluation of the application. 

(d) Completeness Review 
The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in accordance 
with the provisions of Section XXX, Completeness Review. 

(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section XXX, Referral Agencies 
and review the application for conformance with the requirements and standards of these 
Land Use Regulations. 

(f) Review and Decision by Planning Commission 
The Planning Commission shall review the temporary use application to evaluate 
compliance with applicable standards. Following the review, the Planning Commission may 
approve, approve with conditions, or deny an application for a temporary use permit based 
on the criteria set forth in Section X.XX, Approval Criteria. 
(i) The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the meeting 

to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional information 
for further review by the Planning Commission prior to making a final decision. 

(3) Approval Criteria. The following criteria shall be met by the application and supplemental 
materials in order for the Planning Commission or designee to issue a temporary use permit. 
(a) The owner of the property on which the temporary use, structure or event is proposed 

consents in writing to the issuance of the permit. 
(b) Local governmental agencies have the resources to dedicate to the use, structure or event; 
(c) The use, structure or event is not too intrusive or destructive to the community; 
(d) The proposed use, structure or event is compatible with surrounding land users and uses;  
(e) The use, structure or event complies with all requirements imposed by this code; and  
(f) The use, structure or event complies with all applicable laws and regulations 

(H) Site Plan 
(1) General Provisions. 

(a) The purpose of a site plan is to ensure that nonresidential and multifamily uses comply 
with access, parking, setbacks, signage, and other site design standards as required by 
the Ridgway Municipal Code. When site plan review is required, structures shall not be 
constructed or installed and uses may not begin until a site plan showing the proposed 
development has been approved in accordance with the procedures and provisions of this 
section. The review process for site plans is set forth in Section X.XX, Review Procedures. 

(b) The following projects require site plan approval:  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 19 of 79 

(i) All new uses and structures which are not exempted in Section X-XX;  
(ii) Any modification of an existing use, structure, or site where, in the opinion of the Town 

Manager or designee, significant changes to the use, structure, or site are proposed; 
or 

(iii) Any modification of an existing structure where the exemption limits set forth in Section 
X.XX are exceeded.  

(c) The following projects are exempt from site plan approval:  
(i) Single-family attached or detached dwellings; or  
(ii) Any proposed modification of an existing structure where less than twenty (20) percent 

of gross floor footage of the existing structure is being modified, provided that the 
modification does not exceed one thousand (1,000) gross square feet. 

(2) Review Procedures 
(a) Review Flowchart. Figure XXX, Site Plan Flowchart, depicts the site plan application review 

process described in greater detail in this section.  
Figure XXX, Site Plan Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 

(b) Pre-Application Meeting 
A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the provisions set forth in 
Section XXX, Pre-Application Meeting. 

(c) Application Submittal Requirements. 
The following are the application materials required to be submitted for site plan requests. 
The Town Manager or designee may waive or alter any of the submittal requirements if 
they are determined to be inappropriate or unnecessary to determining if the application 
satisfies applicable standards. 
(i) Basic Application Materials. All items set forth in Section X.XX, Basic Application 

Materials. 
(ii) Written Narrative. A written narrative shall be submitted addressing all of the following 

items and any other information: 
a. A general written narrative describing the purpose of the project; 
b. The proposed vehicular access including ingress, egress, internal circulation, and 

parking; 
c. The source and quantity of water required for the proposed use(s) within the area 

to be developed; 
d. The method of wastewater treatment and anticipated quantity of wastewater 

generated;  
e. When water or wastewater service would be provided by a municipality or a water 

or sanitation district or other public entity, written confirmation that the public 
entity in question is willing and able to provide the service in question;  

f. A description of any natural or man-made hazard within or in the vicinity of the 
subject parcel and a statement describing how the anticipated impact of such 
hazards would be mitigated if the proposed development requires such mitigation;  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 20 of 79 

g. A description of any unique features, such as historical sites, unique landforms or 
scenic vistas, contained within the subject parcel. 

(iii) Site Improvement Plan 
a. The size of the map shall be of a size that is legible for reasonable review and 

interpretation, as determined by the Town Manager or designee. 
b. A scale that is one (1) inch equals two hundred (200) feet or another suitable scale 

if approved by Town Manager or designee; 
c. Legal description of the parcel; 
d. North arrow; scale, and legend; 
e. A vicinity map at a suitable scale; 
f. Outline of the parcel boundary or the portion of the parcel that the conditional use 

applies to; 
g. The location and name of any streams, ponds, waterways and irrigation ditches 

within the property boundaries;  
h. Current and proposed grading and drainage patterns including:  

i. Drainage arrows depicting surface flow; 
ii. Drainage facilities and improvements; and  
iii. A grading plan depicting existing and proposed site contours at two-foot 

intervals. 
i. The location and names of all roads and highways abutting the site;  
j. All existing and proposed structures and their dimensions; 
k. The location, and dimensions of any existing and proposed signs on the site; 
l. All utility easements or rights-of-way transmission and/or service lines; 
m. The location and dimensions of vehicular drives, entrances, exits, acceleration and 

deceleration lanes; location and dimensions of pedestrian entrances, exits, walks 
and walkways; 

n. General location, arrangement and dimensions of parking spaces, width of aisles, 
width of bays, angle of parking and other similar information;  

o. A notation on the site improvement plan of all existing or potential natural or 
manmade hazards on or adjacent to the site and a narrative description of an 
acceptable plan for the mitigation of the impact of such identified hazards; and 

p. Any other information deemed necessary by the Town Manager or designee to 
assist in the review of the application. 

(iv) Supplemental Materials. The following items are required to be submitted to the Town 
of Ridgway:  
a. Drainage plan or study calculating historic and proposed surface and stormwater 

flows and how such flows will be managed. 
b. Traffic statement or study identifying current and proposed traffic counts and 

proposed trip generation along with any needed or anticipated improvements to 
mitigate the projects use on the public transportation network and infrastructure. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 21 of 79 

c. Proof of minimum guaranteed water supply appropriate for the requested use. 
(v) Additional Requirements 

Any additional information that may be reasonably requested by the Town Manager or 
designee and determined to be necessary to enable an adequate and comprehensive 
evaluation of the application. 

(d) Completeness Review 
The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in accordance 
with the provisions of Section XXX, Completeness Review. 

(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section XXX, Referral Agencies 
and review the application for conformance with the requirements and standards of this 
Municipal Code. 

(f) Review and Decision by Town Manager 
The Town Manager shall review the site plan application to evaluate compliance with 
applicable standards. Following the review, the Town Manager may approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny a site plan based on the criteria set forth in Section X.XX, Approval 
Criteria. 
(i) The decision of the Town Manager or designee may be appealed to the Planning 

Commission in accordance with Section X.XX, Appeal 
(3) Approval Criteria.  

Prior to making a decision on a site plan application, the Town Manager shall consider the 
following review criteria and find that each criterion has been met or determined to be 
inapplicable:  
(a) The application complies with all requirements imposed by these Land Development 

Regulations;  
(b) The application complies with all applicable laws and regulations;  
(c) The proposed use is compatible with surrounding land users and uses; and  
(d) The proposed use does not result in undue traffic congestion or traffic hazards. 

(I) Administrative Adjustment 
(1) General Provisions. 

An administrative adjustment may be requested by an applicant to adjust any dimensional 
standard set forth in Chapter 4, Zoning Regulations, by no more than ten (10) percent of the 
required dimensional standard. An administrative adjustment shall be submitted and reviewed 
in compliance with this Section XXX, Administrative Adjustment.  
(a) The request for an administrative adjustment must be made in writing to Town Manager. 
(b) If an applicant desires over ten (10) percent relief from a dimensional standard set forth 

in Section 4, Zoning Regulations, the applicant must pursue a variance in accordance with 
Section X.XX, Variance. 

(2) Review Procedures 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 22 of 79 

(a) Review Flowchart. Figure XXX, Administrative Adjustment Flowchart, depicts the 
administrative adjustment application review process described in greater detail in this 
section.  
Figure XXX, Administrative Adjustment Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 

(b) Pre-Application Meeting 
A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the provisions set forth in 
Section XXX, Pre-Application Meeting. 

(c) Application Submittal Requirements. 
The following are the application materials required to be submitted for administrative 
adjustment requests. The Town Manager or designee may waive or alter any of the 
submittal requirements if they are determined to be inappropriate or unnecessary to 
determining if the application satisfies applicable standards. 
(i) Basic Application Materials. All items set forth in Section X.XX, Basic Application 

Materials. 
(ii) Written Narrative. A written narrative shall be submitted addressing all of the following 

items and any other information: 
a. A general written narrative describing the purpose of the project; 
b. Explanation of the request(s) and justification for why the standard for which an 

adjustment is being requested is unable to be met;  
c. Any efforts the applicant or property owner has made to meet the minimum 

standards;  
d. Justification for the request and how the request is the minimum required 

standard(s); and  
e. Description of how the request meets each of the criterion set forth in Section 

X.XX, Approval Criteria. 
(iii) Site Improvement Plan 

a. All existing, required, and proposed dimensional standards clearly depicting the 
location and increase of the administrative adjustment request. 

b. A table identifying the required standard(s) and the numerical value being 
requested by the administrative adjustment.  

(iv) Additional Requirements 
a. Any additional information that may be reasonably requested by the Town 

Manager or designee and determined to be necessary to enable an adequate and 
comprehensive evaluation of the application. 

(d) Completeness Review 
The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in accordance 
with the provisions of Section XXX, Completeness Review. 

(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section XXX, Referral Agencies 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 23 of 79 

and review the application for conformance with the requirements and standards of this 
Municipal Code. 

(f) Review and Decision by Town Manager or designee 
The Town Manager or designee shall review the administrative adjustment application to 
evaluate compliance with applicable standards. Following the review, the Town Manager 
or designee may approve, approve with conditions, or deny an administrative adjustment 
based on the criteria set forth in Section X.XX, Approval Criteria. 
(ii) The decision of the Town Manager or designee may be appealed to the Board of 

Adjustment in accordance with Section X.XX, Appeal 
(3) Approval Criteria.  

The Town Manager or designee may approve an administrative adjustment upon a finding 
that:  
(a) The request is consistent with the intent, purpose, and goals of this Municipal Code;  
(b) The administrative adjustment is of a technical nature (i.e., relief from a dimensional or 

design standard), and is either:  
(i) Required to compensate for some unusual aspect of the site or the proposed 

development that is not shared by landowners in general; 
(ii) Support by an objective or goal from the purpose and intent of the zoning district 

within which the project is located; or  
(iii) Proposed to protect sensitive natural resources or better integrate development with 

the surrounding environment. 
(J) Variance 

(1) General Provisions. 
Variances are deviations from the zoning dimensional standards set forth in Chapter 7, Land 
Use Development Regulations, that would not be contrary to the public interest when, owing 
to special circumstances or conditions such as exceptional topographic conditions, narrowness, 
shallowness or the shape of a specific piece of property, the literal enforcement of the 
provisions of this Ridgway Municipal Code would result in peculiar and exceptional practical 
difficulties to or exceptional and undue hardship upon the owner of the property. No variance 
from the provisions governing "Uses By Right", and "Conditional Uses" within any zoning district 
may be granted. 

(2) Review Procedures 
(a) Review Flowchart. Figure XXX, Variance Flowchart, depicts the variance application review 

process described in greater detail in this section.  
Figure XXX, Variance Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 

(b) Pre-Application Meeting 
A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the provisions set forth in 
Section XXX, Pre-Application Meeting. 

(c) Application Submittal Requirements. 
The following are the application materials required to be submitted for variance requests. 
The Town Manager or designee may waive or alter any of the submittal requirements if 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 24 of 79 

they are determined to be inappropriate or unnecessary to determining if the application 
satisfies applicable standards. 
(i) Basic Application Materials. All items set forth in Section X.XX, Basic Application 

Materials. 
(ii) Written Narrative. A written narrative shall be submitted addressing all of the following 

items and any other information: 
a. Explanation of the request(s) and justification for why the standard for which the 

variance is being requested is unable to be met;  
b. Any efforts the applicant or property owner has made to meet the minimum 

standards;  
c. Justification for the request and how the request is the minimum required 

standard(s);  
d. Description of how the request meets each of the criterion set forth in Section 

X.XX, Approval Criteria; 
(iii) Site Improvement Plan 

a. All existing, required, and proposed dimensional standards clearly depicting the 
location and increase of the variance request.  

b. A table identifying the required standard(s) and the numerical value being 
requested by the variance. 

(iv) Additional Requirements 
b. Any additional information that may be reasonably requested by the Town 

Manager or designee and determined to be necessary to enable an adequate and 
comprehensive evaluation of the application. 

(d) Completeness Review 
The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in accordance 
with the provisions of Section XXX, Completeness Review. 

(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section XXX, Referral Agencies 
and review the application for conformance with the requirements and standards of this 
Municipal Code. 

(f) Staff Report 
A staff report shall be prepared and provided to the reviewing body in accordance with 
Section X.XX, Staff Report. 

(g) Review and Decision by Planning Commission 
The Planning Commission shall review the variance application in a manner consistent with 
Table X-X.X to evaluate compliance with applicable standards. Following its review of the 
application, the Planning Commission shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny the 
application based on the criteria set forth in Section X.XX Approval Criteria.  

a. No variance shall be granted with fewer than four (4) concurring votes of the 
Planning Commission regardless of number of Commissioners present. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 25 of 79 

b. If there are only four (4) Commissioners present, the applicant may elect to, in 
their sole discretion, continue the hearing to a future meeting when more than 
four (4) Commissioners will be present. 

(3) Approval Criteria.  
(a) The Planning Commission may grant a variance for allowed deviations only upon the 

finding that the following criteria are met:  
(i) There are practical difficulties or unnecessary hardships in the way of carrying out the 

strict letter of the zoning ordinance, and  
(ii) The spirit of the ordinance will be observed, the public health, safety and welfare 

secured and substantial justice done by granting the variance.  
(b) The Planning Commission may grant a variance from the Off-Street Parking Requirements 

within the Historic Business Zoning District only upon the finding that the following criteria 
are met:  
(i) The variance is requested for an addition to an existing building or the construction of 

a purely accessory structure and these modifications will have a de minimis effect on 
traffic and parking; or,  

(ii) The placement of on-site parking is not congruent with the goals and objectives of the 
downtown and as such will create an undesirable effect on the downtown streetscape, 
potentially interrupting, impeding or otherwise adversely affecting existing or future 
infrastructure such as pedestrian walkways and landscape areas; or,  

(iii) There are practical difficulties or unnecessary hardships in the way of carrying out the 
strict letter of the Off-Street Parking Requirements.  

(K) Appeal 
(1) General Provisions. Administrative interpretations and final decisions of the Town Manager or 

designee may be appealed to the Board of Adjustment. Recommendations to a decision-making 
authority are not subject to appeal pursuant to this Section X.XX, Appeal. 
(a) Any person applying to the courts for a review of any decision made under the terms of 

this section shall apply for review within thirty (30) days after the date of decision and 
shall be required to pay the cost of preparing a transcript of proceedings and the 
application for review shall be in the nature of certiorari under Rule 106 (a) (4) of the 
Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure. The town shall be entitled to appeal any decision of the 
District Court under said Rule 106 proceedings. 

(b) No appeal shall be granted with fewer than four (4) concurring votes of the Board of 
Adjustment members regardless of number of members present. 

(c) If there are only four (4) members present, the applicant may elect to, in their sole 
discretion, continue the hearing to a future meeting when more than four (4) members 
will be present. 

(2) Review Procedures 
(a) Review Flowchart. Figure XXX, Appeal Flowchart, depicts the appeal application review 

process described in greater detail in this section.  
Figure XXX, Appeal Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 

(b) Pre-Application Meeting 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 26 of 79 

A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the provisions set forth in 
Section XXX, Pre-Application Meeting. 

(c) Application Submittal Requirements. 
The following are the application materials required to be submitted for appeal requests. 
The Town Manager or designee may waive or alter any of the submittal requirements if 
they are determined to be inappropriate or unnecessary to determining if the application 
satisfies applicable standards. 
(i) Basic Application Materials. All items set forth in Section X.XX, Basic Application 

Materials. 
(ii) Written Narrative. A written narrative shall be submitted addressing all of the following 

items and any other information: 
a. Explanation of the request(s) and justification for why the standard for which the 

variance is being requested is unable to be met;  
b. Any efforts the applicant or property owner has made to meet the minimum 

standards;  
c. Justification for the request and how the request is the minimum required 

standard(s);  
d. Description of how the request meets each of the criterion set forth in Section 

X.XX, Approval Criteria; 
(d) Completeness Review 

The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in accordance 
with the provisions of Section XXX, Completeness Review. 

(e) Evaluation by Staff and Referral Agencies 
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section XXX, Referral Agencies 
and review the application for conformance with the requirements and standards of this 
Municipal Code. 

(f) Staff Report 
A staff report shall be prepared and provided to the reviewing body in accordance with 
Section X.XX, Staff Report. 

(g) Review and Decision by Board of Adjustment 
The Board of Adjustment shall review the appeals application in a manner consistent with 
Table X-X.X to evaluate compliance with applicable standards. Following its review of the 
application, the Board of Adjustment shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny the 
application based on the criteria set forth in Section X.XX Approval Criteria.  

(3) Approval Criteria.  
(a) The Board of Adjustment may only approve an appeal upon a finding that the following 

criteria have been met:  
(i) Literal enforcement of the standard or requirement would place an unnecessary and 

unreasonable hardship upon the applicant; 
(ii) The granting of the appeal will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare or 

injurious to other property in the neighborhood and surrounding area;  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 27 of 79 

(iii) The appeal will not have adverse effect on the intent, goals, and policies of the Town 
of Ridgway; 

(iv) The appeal will not be averse to the intent of the applicable portions of the Master 
Plan in the reasonable judgement of the Board of Adjustment;  

(v) Evidence of the manner in which the provision has been interpreted in the past, if 
applicable; and 

(vi) The positive or negative impact of the requested appeal on the achievement of the 
purposes of the Municipal Code. 

 
7-4-4 – ZONING DISTRICTS 

(A) Establishment of Districts.  
The following districts are established to encourage the most appropriate use of land within the 
Town of Ridgway.   

(B) Residential Districts   
The residential districts described in this Section are established to support a diversity of housing 
options; to promote stability in residential neighborhoods; to protect such property from 
incompatible land uses; to protect property values; and to encourage the appropriate use of such 
land. Certain other uses are permitted which are compatible with residences. 

(C) Commercial Districts [New language]  
The commercial districts described in this section are established to support a diverse and 
sustainable local economy with a mix of retail and service uses meeting the needs of the Ridgway 
community. 

(D) Industrial Districts. [New language]  
The industrial districts described in this section are established to support a diverse mix of 
employment opportunities including manufacturing, warehousing, distribution, or office uses to 
meet the needs of the regional workforce. 
Table X-XX, Zone District Abbreviations 

District Regulations Abbreviation 
Low Density Residential District R 
Historic Residential District HR 
Mixed Residential MR 
Future Development District FD 
Historic Business District HB 
Downtown Service District DS 
General Commercial District GC 
Light Industrial -1 District I-1 
Light Industrial – 2 District I-2 
Uncompahgre River Overlay District UROD 

 
(E) “R” Low Density Residential District  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 28 of 79 

(1) Intent: The "R" Low Density District is intended to accommodate low to moderate density 
development for single-family detached dwellings, as well as a mix of other housing types 
and other compatible land uses where supported by the Master Plan. Environmental 
protection is provided by allowing cluster development to preserve environmentally 
sensitive lands, maintain common open space, and to provide recreational opportunities 
for residents.  

(2) District Standards 
(a) Permitted uses are identified in Table XXX. 
(b) Lot size and required setbacks are identified in Table XXX. 
 

(F) “HR” Historic Residential District 
(1) Intent: This District is intended to coincide with the historic residential core of Ridgway 

and accommodate a variety of housing types at medium density as well as other activities 
which are compatible with such uses. 

(2) District Standards 
(a) Permitted uses are identified in Table XXX. 
(b) Lot size and required setbacks are identified in Table XXX. 

(G) “MR” Mixed Residential  
(1) Intent: This District provides opportunities for a diverse mix of housing options at higher 

densities, as well as supporting services and other compatible uses that help meet the 
needs of area residents. Uses should be organized in compact, pedestrian and bicycle 
friendly manner and be responsive to the scale and intensity of development in adjacent 
zoning districts. 

(2) District Standards 
(a) Permitted uses are identified in Table XXX. 
(b) Lot size and required setbacks are identified in Table XXX. 

(3) Performance and Design Standards. In addition to the Residential Design Standards in 
Section X-X, the following standards shall apply: 
(a) Developments must address stormwater drainage and to employ a stormwater 

drainage plan that does not discharge to the Town streets or stormwater infrastructure 
if available, an amount greater than historic flows have discharged to public 
infrastructure. 

(b) A mix and variety of housing types and unit sizes must be incorporated to the maximum 
extent feasible based on the size of the development, adjacent development context, 
and other site considerations.  

(c) Parks, open spaces or common areas must be incorporated into the development.  
(d) Parking shall be sited to provide the least visual impact from public rights-of-way and 

shall not dominate the frontage of pedestrian-oriented streets. Site parking shall 
include bike racks and areas for parking strollers and other nonmotorized vehicles near 
the main entrance to the primary building(s) and shall have a logical connection to on 
site non-motorized access routes.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 29 of 79 

(e) Parking areas, outside trash receptacles, large utility boxes, open storage areas, 
mechanical systems and other unattractive views shall be screened from the street 
and public right-of-way. Screening of utility boxes, trash enclosures, and similar uses 
shall be around all sides except for those required for access, which will be screened 
with a gate on the access side.  

(f) Buildings containing more than 25,000 square feet of gross floor area are not 
permitted.  

(H) “FD” Future Development District  
(a) Intent: This District is intended to include lands held in reserve to meet future growth 

needs of the community. Uses include very low-density single-family detached dwellings 
and agriculture. 

(b) District Standards 
(i) Permitted uses are identified in Table XXX. 
(ii) Lot size and required setbacks are identified in Table XXX. 

(I) “HB” Historic Business District  
(a) Intent: This District encompasses the historic commercial core of Town. Intended uses include 

a mix of retail, restaurants, office, lodging, residential, service, institutional and other uses that 
are compatible with the historic character of the Town Core and contribute to vibrant, 
pedestrian-friendly atmosphere. All residential development must comply with residential 
design standards in Section XX. Where short-term rentals are permitted, they must comply 
with subsection XXX. 

(b) District Standards 
(i) Permitted uses are identified in Table XXX. 
(ii) Lot size and required setbacks are identified in Table XXX. 

(c) Performance Standards 
(i) No use shall be established, maintained or conducted in any "HB" Historic Business 

District that will result in any public or private nuisance.  
(ii) No equipment, inventory, or supplies may be stored outside, except as authorized 

pursuant to subsection 7-3-9(C)(3).  
(iii) All manufacturing and industrial activities must take place inside with no noise, smoke, 

dust or light observable off of the premises.  
(iv) Parking:  

a. Residential uses must provide off-street parking as required by subsection XXX 
and subsection XXX.  

b. All nonresidential uses must provide a minimum of one off-street parking space 
per 1,650 square feet of gross floor area. Partial spaces will be rounded up to the 
next whole number of required parking spaces. If the structure contains both 
residential and nonresidential uses, calculation of the gross floor area shall not 
include the residential area(s) for purposes of determining off-street parking 
pursuant to this paragraph. Also excluded from this calculation are enclosed 
parking and outdoor common areas. Parking spaces will be accessed only from an 
alley. The first three spaces must be provided on-site.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 30 of 79 

c. In cases where mixed residential and nonresidential uses occur within the same 
property, the residential parking requirements of paragraph (a) shall be in addition 
to the nonresidential parking space requirement set forth in paragraph (b).  

d. In lieu of nonresidential off-street parking requirements in excess of three spaces 
and pursuant to paragraph (b) above, a money payment of $3,000.00 per space 
may be paid to the Town, which money shall be used to fund the acquisition or 
construction of public parking facilities to serve the Historic Business Zoning 
District.  

(v) Buildings containing more than 15,000 square feet of gross floor area shall not be 
allowed.  

(J) “DS” Downtown Service District  
(a) Intent: The Downtown Service District is not intended to compete with the Historic 

Business District or the General Commercial District, but rather intended to provide some 
flexibility in use for existing residences located on or within 100 feet of Highway 62, west 
of Laura Street as depicted upon the Town Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map. The 
flexibility in use is intended to mitigate the impact of increasing traffic upon the highway 
upon residences, by allowing for limited business use of the properties. The Downtown 
Service District is further intended to provide an effective transition between the General 
Commercial and Historic Business Districts and nearby residential neighborhoods along and 
near the Highway without creating an undue, adverse impact on these areas. 
Establishments and structures within the Downtown Service District are intended to appear 
"residential" as opposed to simply providing a visual extension of the commercial and 
business districts. Toward this objective, some service-oriented businesses are allowed 
within the Downtown Service District, as conditional uses, and with performance criteria 
that speak to appearance, signage and parking. These businesses may have limited and 
ancillary retail use. Home occupation of these business uses is permissible in accordance 
with subsection XXX. Auto intensive uses such as gas stations, drive through businesses, 
convenience stores and similar uses that generate high traffic of items or require large 
parking areas are not permitted. All residential development in these districts must comply 
with residential design standards in Section XXX.  

(b) District Standards 
(i) Permitted uses are identified in Table XXX. 
(ii) Lot size and required setbacks are identified in Table XXX. 

(c) Performance Standards for Conditional Uses 
(i) Conditional Uses, other than churches, schools, multi-family residences and community 

centers, shall comply with the intent of subsection 7-3-10(A).  
(ii) All applications for conditional uses shall be accompanied by a site plan proposal 

detailing, at a minimum, the following information or other information deemed 
necessary by the Town of Ridgway:  
a. Site plan showing setbacks, lot coverage, parking, vehicle and pedestrian access, 

landscaping, topographic features, utility locations, storage/trash receptacles and 
similar information.  

b. Building design showing building elevations (all four sides), finish materials, door 
and window placement and location and types of exterior lighting fixtures.  

c. A statement of the anticipated traffic impact on the site and on adjacent properties 
and roadways.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 31 of 79 

(iii) All professional offices and service businesses allowed as a conditional use shall have 
no more than five employees.  

(iv) Structures must be compatible in mass and scale with nearby residences, and similar 
in architectural features.  

(v) Off-street parking per Town standards is required, but businesses shall be credited 
with half parking space for every on-street parking space that is constructed adjacent 
to the business and in accordance with Town specifications. No parking shall be 
allowed on alley ways or on Highway 62 (Sherman Street).  

(vi) Signage shall be non-illuminated and attached to the building.  
(vii) Business hours shall be between 7:30 a.m. and 5:30 p.m.  
(viii) No semi-truck traffic shall be allowed upon residential streets or alley ways.  
(ix) No food services shall be allowed unless as otherwise specified herein.  
(x) No drive-in restaurants, drive-in theatres, or any other retail stores and service 

establishments with drive-through facilities shall be allowed in the "DS" District.  
(K) “GC” General Commercial District  

(a) Intent: This District encompasses lands along the river and Highways 550 and 62. Its 
purpose is to create areas for a mix of retail and commercial services, office, and other 
supportive uses to meet the needs of residents and tourists. A mix of higher-density 
housing types are also supported to provide for live/work opportunities and to promote 
activity and vibrancy within these areas. While more auto oriented than development within 
the Town Core, uses in the "GC" District should be designed with the safety and 
convenience of pedestrians and bicyclists in mind. Where short-term rentals are permitted, 
they must comply with subsection XXX.  

(b) District Standards 
(i) Permitted uses are identified in Table XXX. 
(ii) Lot size and required setbacks are identified in Table XXX. 

(c) Performance Standards 
(i) No use shall be established or maintained in the "GC" District which results in an 

unreasonable hazard to the community, creates a public or private nuisance, or creates 
unreasonable smoke, dust, noise, fumes, odors, vibrations or light observable off the 
premises.  

(ii) Buildings containing more than 10,000 square feet of gross floor area will be required 
to mitigate the visual impacts of their size by means of design, landscaping, berming 
and other methods of site treatment, and must be compatible with the mass and scale 
of existing buildings on adjacent properties, or if there are no such buildings compatible 
with the mass and scale of buildings in the Town generally.  

(iii) Buildings containing more than 25,000 square feet of gross floor area shall not be 
allowed.  

(iv) All uses shall follow screening requirements as described in subsection X-XX.  
(v) All outdoor storage areas must follow the screening requirements as described in 

subsection X-XX.  
(vi) Residential development:  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 32 of 79 

a. Residential development shall comply with the Residential Design Standards in 
Section X-X, as applicable.  

b. Residential development shall not be located along Arterial street frontages to 
preserve these locations for commercial services and other businesses that rely 
upon visibility from Highways 550 and 62.  

c. Employee housing. All employee housing units shall meet the requirements of 
criteria of subsection X-XX.  

(i) Drive-in restaurants, drive-in theatres, or any other retail stores and service 
establishments with drive-through facilities, other than banks or pharmacies, shall not 
be allowed in the "GC" District.  

(ii) Boarding and Rooming House(s) shall not be allowed in the "GC" District.  
(iii) A Dormitory shall not be allowed in the "GC" District.  

(L) “I-1” Light Industrial -1 District  
(a) Intent: This district is to provide areas for light industrial uses that include offices and light 

manufacturing and fabrication. Additionally, this district is to provide opportunities for 
employment and serve as a transition from adjoining residential neighborhoods. Uses by right 
in this district, will be those that do not create an adverse impact on adjoining uses from 
lighting, noise, vibration, glare, smoke/fumes/odor, outside storage or other similar impacts. 
Landscaping is to be used to improve the appearance of the properties, breakup parking areas 
into smaller sections and generally buffer the industrial area from surrounding non-industrial 
uses. Work conducted on-site is to occur primarily inside buildings. Some on-site impacts may 
be associated with this district in the form of noise, truck traffic, and vibrations. However, these 
impacts must be mitigated at the property line.  

(b) District Standards 
(i) Permitted uses are identified in Table XXX. 
(ii) Lot size and required setbacks are identified in Table XXX. 

(c) Performance Standards 
(i) All manufacturing, fabrication and repairs shall be conducted within a building unless the 

activity is not visible from adjoining property outside of the light industrial district within 
100 yards of the district boundary.  

(ii) Outdoor storage of supplies, machinery, equipment or products shall be screened from 
view from the adjacent street and properties.  

(iii) Any outside storage of materials, equipment or supplies associated with a use by right or 
conditional use shall not exceed 200 percent of the total building footprint of the structure 
associated with that use except in the case where materials are intended for on-site 
wholesale or retail sales.  

(iv) Landscaping within setbacks and street rights-of-way where an industrial zoning district is 
adjacent to or across the street from a non-industrial use, additional landscaping shall be 
provided to buffer the industrial district from adjoining use. An applicant shall submit a 
detailed landscaping plan for locations within which the aforementioned conditions exist 
when the applicant makes a request for a building permit. The plan shall indicate location, 
type and species of all buffering vegetation. The landscaping plan shall also include the 
details of irrigation systems necessary for establishment and continued survival of all 
plantings. The Town shall review the landscaping plan to determine if it is in conformance 
with landscaped buffering standards in the Ridgway Municipal Code. Unacceptable 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 33 of 79 

proposals will be rejected and the building permit shall be withheld until a plan providing 
adequate buffering is submitted and accepted by the Town.  

(v) The maximum fence height shall be eight feet.  
(vi) Maximum building size without special review is 5,000 square feet of gross floor area. 

Buildings containing more than 5,000 square feet of gross floor area will be required to 
mitigate the visual impacts of their size by means of design, landscaping, berming and 
other methods of site treatment. Buildings must be compatible with the mass and scale of 
existing buildings on adjacent properties, or if there are no such buildings, compatible with 
the mass and the scale of buildings in the Town generally. In no case, shall buildings 
exceed 5,000 square feet of building footprint.  

(vii) Fencing, parking and storage is not allowed in the front or side setbacks along any street.  
(viii) Drive-in restaurants, drive-in theatres, or any other retail stores and service 

establishments with drive-through facilities shall not be allowed in the "I-1" District.  
(ix) Applicants shall submit an Industrial Use Mitigation Report that details how the proposed 

use will conform to the following criteria. Mitigation measures shall include, at a minimum, 
a combination of site design, building setbacks, landscaping and screening, to minimize 
noise, odor, glare, vibration or lighting from emanating beyond the property boundaries in 
a manner that is not in conformance with these or other town regulations. An application 
that fails to address each of the following items or that inadequately addresses these items 
shall be deemed incomplete and no permits shall be issued until all criteria have been 
addressed.  
a. Additional Studies. The applicant shall complete or provide funding for completion of 

studies by qualified personnel that the Town deems necessary to quantify and to 
develop recommendations for abating impacts directly associated with the proposed 
use.  

b. Dust and Fly Ash. No solid or liquid particles shall be emitted in such a quantity as to 
be readily detectable at any point along lot lines or as to produce a public nuisance or 
hazard beyond lot lines.  

c. Electrical Disturbance or Interference. No use shall:  
1. Create any electrical disturbance that adversely affects any operations or 

equipment other than those of the creator of such disturbance, or  
2. Otherwise cause, create, or contribute to the interference with electrical signals 

(including television and radio broadcasting transmissions) to the extent that the 
operation of any equipment not owned by the creator of such disturbance is 
adversely affected.  

d. Exterior Lighting. All exterior lighting shall conform to Chapter 6, Section 5 titled 
"Outdoor Lighting Regulations".  

e. Fire and Explosion. No fire or explosive hazard shall exist such as to produce dangerous 
exposure to adjacent property.  

f. Glare. No direct or reflected glare shall be detectable at any Light Industrial District 
boundaries.  

g. Hazardous Waste. Hazardous waste shall be those substances as defined by Federal, 
State or local regulations. The disposal, treatment, bulking or handling (hereinafter 
collectively called treatment) of hazardous waste within the municipal limits of the 
Town shall be permitted only when such waste is generated within the Town. Any such 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 34 of 79 

treatment shall be prohibited except in conformance with all applicable Federal, State 
or local regulations governing hazardous waste. The temporary storage of hazardous 
waste other than for treatment is permitted only when it is used, manufactured or 
generated as a waste as part of an industrial, manufacturing or laboratory process that 
takes place within the Town of Ridgway. In this circumstance, hazardous waste shall 
be inventoried and stored inside a building with an impermeable floor and otherwise 
handled in strict conformance with all applicable Federal, State and local regulations. 
The records pertain to such inventory and storage shall be open to authorized 
personnel of the Town of Ridgway and/or the Ridgway Fire Department upon 
reasonable request.  

h. Heat. No direct or reflected heat that is dangerous or discomforting shall be detectable 
at any Light Industrial District boundaries.  

i. Landscaping. A landscaping plan setting forth type, size, location of all plant types and 
species shall be submitted in conformance with the landscaping standards of 
Subsection 6-1-11. The design of the landscaping plan shall adequately buffer the light 
industrial use from adjacent surrounding non-light industrial zone districts and breakup 
any parking area more than 25 spaces to avoid the appearance of large areas of 
parking.  

j. Noise. No persistent noise shall be detectable beyond the property line in excess of 
the values identified in the following table:  

 Zoning of Adjacent Lot 
Zoning of lot 
where use is 
located  

All Residential 
Zone Districts 

General  
Commercial  

District 
Industrial-1 

District 
Industrial-2 

District 
Industrial-1 
District  50 55 60 65 

Industrial-2 
District  50 60 65 70 

All of the above levels are measured in decibels dB(A).  
1. Impact noises are sounds that occur intermittently rather than continuously. 

Impact noises generated by sources that do not operate more than one minute in 
any hour are permissible up to a level of ten dB(A) in excess of the figures listed 
in the table above, except that this higher level of permissible noise shall not apply 
from 7:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. when the adjacent lot is zoned residential. The impact 
noise shall be measured using the fast response of the sound level meter.  

2. Noise resulting from temporary construction activity that occurs between 7:00 a.m. 
and 7:00 p.m. shall be exempt from the requirements of this Section.  

3. Noise shall be measured on a decibel or sound level meter. Noise level shall be 
measured at a point located within a street or public right-of-way in the town and 
a distance of at least 25 feet from the noise source; and/or at the common property 
line of the property on which the noise source is located and the adjacent property.  

4. No use in the light industrial zone districts may generate noise that tends to have 
an annoying or disruptive effect upon uses outside the immediate space occupied 
by the use if that use is one of several located on the lot or uses located on 
adjacent lots.  

5. The table above establishes the maximum permissible noise levels for the I-1 and 
the I-2 Zone Districts. Measurements shall be taken at the boundary line of the lot 
where a particular use is located, and, as indicated, the maximum permissible 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 35 of 79 

noise levels vary according to the zoning of the lot adjacent to the lot on which 
subject use is located.  

k. Odor.  
1. For purposes of this Section, the "odor threshold" is defined as the minimum 

concentration in a year of a gas, paper or particulate matter that can be detected 
by the olfactory systems of a healthy observer.  

2. No use in the I-1 or I-2 Districts may generate any odor that reaches the odor 
threshold measured at the outside boundary of the immediate space occupied by 
the enterprise generating the odor (if there is more than one enterprise in the 
structure) or the lot line (if the enterprise generating the odor is the only enterprise 
located on a lot).  

l. Off-site Impacts. Off-site impacts that directly result from the proposed use shall be 
abated. The Town of Ridgway reserves the right to require an independent evaluation 
of off-site impacts including recommendations about mitigation measures. 

m. Radioactivity. No operation shall be permitted which causes radioactivity in violation 
any applicable Federal, State or local regulation.  

n. Smoke. For purposes of determining the density of equivalent opacity of smoke, 
Ringlemann chart, as adopted and published by the United States Department of 
Interior, Bureau of Mines Information Circular 8333 May 1967, shall be used. The 
Ringlemann number referred to in this Section refers to the number of the area of the 
Ringlemann Chart that coincides most nearly with the visual density of equivalent 
opacity of the omission of smoke observed. For example, a reading of Ringlemann No. 
1 indicates a 20-percent density of the smoke observed. No smoke shall be permitted 
in such quantity as to become a nuisance nor shall it be detectable at any property 
boundaries. All measurements shall be taken at the point of emission of the smoke. In 
the I-1 District, no use may emit from a tent, stack, chimney or combustion process 
any smoke that exceeds a density or equivalent capacity of Ringlemann No. 1, except 
that any emission that does not exceed a density or equivalent capacity of Ringlemann 
No. 2 is permissible for a duration of not more than four minutes during any eight-
hour period if the source of such emission is not located within 250 feet of a residential 
district.  

o. Vehicular Traffic. Traffic to and from the site shall not overload or damage street 
systems to or from the site. Verification of this provision shall be a confirmed by an 
independent traffic analysis conducted by properly qualified individuals. 

p. Vibration. No inherent and recurrently generated vibration shall be perceptible, without 
instruments, at any point along in the boundary line of the property on which the use 
is located. Where more than one use is located on a property, then this standard shall 
also be measured along any wall of any other building on the property.  

q. Waste Disposal. Liquid and solid waste disposal and water service shall comply with all 
pertinent Federal, State and local regulations.  

r. Observations shall be made as described in the applicable subsection above. In the 
event that the point of measurement is not defined or if there is more than one use 
on the property, measurements shall be taken at the property line of the lot on which 
the use is located if it is the only use on the lot, or at the exterior of the building in 
which the use is located is more than one use exist on the same site.  

   



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 36 of 79 

(M) “I-2” Light Industrial – 2 District  
(a) Intent: This district is similar to the I-1 Light Industrial District but will allow more intensive 

uses. Uses by right in this district, will be those that do not create an adverse impact on 
adjoining uses from lighting, noise, vibration, glare, smoke/fumes/odor, outside storage or 
other similar impacts. Landscaping is to be used to improve the appearance of the properties, 
breakup parking areas into smaller screened sections and generally buffer the industrial area 
from surrounding non-industrial uses. Work conducted on-site may occur outside of buildings. 
Some on-site impacts may be associated with this district in the form of noise, truck traffic, 
and vibrations. However, these impacts must be mitigated at the property line. 

(b) District Standards 
(a) Permitted uses are identified in Table XXX. 
(b) Lot size and required setbacks are identified in Table XXX. 

(c) Performance Standards 
(i) All manufacturing, fabrication and repairs shall be conducted within a building unless the 

activity is not visible from an adjacent right-of-way or adjoining property outside of the 
light industrial district.  

(ii) The maximum fence height shall be eight feet.  
(iii) Buildings containing more than 5,000 square feet of gross floor area will be required to 

mitigate the visual impacts of their size by means of design, landscaping, berming and 
other methods of site and architectural design treatments. Buildings must be compatible 
with the mass and scale of existing buildings on adjacent properties, or if there are no such 
buildings, compatible with the mass and the scale of buildings in the Town generally. In 
no case, shall buildings exceed 12,500 square feet of building footprint.  

(iv) Landscaping requirements for properties zoned I-2 are set forth as required by Subsection 
X-XX.  

(v) Fencing, parking and storage shall not exist in front and street side yard setbacks.  
(vi) Drive-in restaurants, drive-in theatres, or any other retail stores and service establishments 

with drive-through facilities shall not be allowed in the I-2 District.  
(vii) Applicants shall submit an Industrial Use Mitigation Report that details how the proposed 

use will conform to the following criteria. Mitigation measures shall include, at a minimum, 
a combination of site design, building setbacks, landscaping and screening, to minimize 
noise, odor, glare, vibration or lighting from emanating beyond the property boundaries in 
a manner that is not in conformance with these or other Town regulations. An application 
that fails to address each of the following items or that inadequately addresses these items 
shall be deemed incomplete and no permits shall be issued until all criteria have been 
addressed:  
a. Additional Studies. The applicant shall complete or provide funding for completion of 

studies by qualified personnel that the Town deems necessary to quantify and to 
develop recommendations for abating impacts directly associated with the proposed 
use.  

b. Dust and Fly Ash. No solid or liquid particles shall be emitted in such a quantity as to 
be readily detectable at any point along lot lines or as to produce a public nuisance or 
hazard beyond lot lines.  

c. Electrical Disturbance or Interference. No use shall:  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 37 of 79 

1. Create any electrical disturbance that adversely affects any operations or 
equipment other than those of the creator of such disturbance, or  

2. Otherwise cause, create, or contribute to the interference with electrical signals 
(including television and radio broadcasting transmissions) to the extent that the 
operation of any equipment not owned by the creator of such disturbance is 
adversely affected.  

d. Exterior Lighting. All exterior lighting shall conform to Section X-XX titled "outdoor 
lighting regulations."  

e. Fire and Explosion. No fire or explosive hazard shall exist such as to produce dangerous 
exposure to adjacent property.  

f. Glare. No direct or reflected glare shall be detectable at any Light Industrial District 
boundaries.  

g. Hazardous waste. Hazardous waste shall be those substances as defined by Federal, 
State or local regulations. The disposal, treatment, bulking or handling (hereinafter 
collectively called treatment) of hazardous waste within the municipal limits of the 
Town shall be permitted only when such waste is generated within the Town. Any such 
treatment shall be prohibited except in conformance with all applicable Federal, State 
or local regulations governing hazardous waste. The temporary storage of hazardous 
waste other than for treatment is permitted only when it is used, manufactured or 
generated as a waste as part of an industrial, manufacturing or laboratory process that 
takes place within the Town. In this circumstance, hazardous waste shall be 
inventoried and stored inside a building with an impermeable floor and otherwise 
handled in strict conformance with all applicable Federal, State and local regulations. 
The records pertaining to such inventory and storage shall be open to authorized 
personnel of the Town of Ridgway and/or the Ridgway Fire Department upon 
reasonable request.  

h. Heat. No direct or reflected heat that is dangerous or discomforting shall be detectable 
at any Light Industrial District boundaries.  

i. Landscaping. A landscaping plan setting forth type, size, location of all plant types and 
species shall be submitted in conformance with the landscaping standards Subsection 
X-XX. The design of the landscaping plan shall adequately buffer the light industrial 
use from adjacent surrounding non-light industrial zone districts and breakup any 
parking area more than 25 spaces to avoid the appearance of large areas of parking.  

j. Noise. No persistent noise shall be detectable beyond the property line in excess of 
the values identified in the following table:  

 Zoning of Adjacent Lot 
Zoning of lot 
where use is 
located  

All Residential 
Zone Districts 

General 
Commercial 

District 
Industrial-1 

District 
Industrial-2 

District 

Industrial-1 
District 50 55 60 65 

Industrial-2 
District 50 60 65 70 

All of the above levels are measured in decibels dB(A). 
 

1. Impact noises are sounds that occur intermittently rather than continuously. 
Impact noises generated by sources that do not operate more than one minute in 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 38 of 79 

any hour are permissible up to a level of ten dB(A) in excess of the figures listed 
in the table above, except that this higher level of permissible noise shall not apply 
from 7:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. when the adjacent lot is zoned residential. The impact 
noise shall be measured using the fast response of the sound level meter.  

2. Noise resulting from temporary construction activity that occurs between 7:00 a.m. 
and 7:00 p.m. shall be exempt from the requirements of this Section.  

3. Noise shall be measured on a decibel or sound level. Noise level shall be measured 
at a point located within a street or public right-of-way in the town and a distance 
of at least 25 feet from the noise source; and/or at the common property line of 
the property on which the noise source is located and the adjacent property.  

4. No use in the light industrial zone districts may generate noise that tends to have 
an annoying or disruptive effect upon uses outside the immediate space occupied 
by the use if that use is one of several located on the lot or uses located on 
adjacent lots.  

5. The table above establishes the maximum permissible noise levels for the I-1 and 
the I-2 Zone Districts. Measurements shall be taken at the boundary line of the lot 
where a particular use is located, and, as indicated, the maximum permissible 
noise levels vary according to the zoning of the lot adjacent to the lot on which 
subject use is located.  

k. Odor.  
1. For purposes of this Section, the "odor threshold" is defined as the minimum 

concentration in a year of a gas, paper or particulate matter that can be detected 
by the olfactory systems of a healthy observer.  

2. No use in the I-1 or I-2 Districts may generate any odor that reaches the odor 
threshold measured at the outside boundary of the immediate space occupied by 
the enterprise generating the odor (if there is more than one enterprise in the 
structure) or the lot line (if the enterprise generating the odor is the only enterprise 
located on a lot).  

l. Off-site Impacts. Off-site impacts that directly result from the proposed use shall be 
abated. The Town of Ridgway reserves the right to require an independent evaluation 
of off-site impacts including recommendations about mitigation measures.  

m. Radioactivity. No operation shall be permitted which causes radioactivity in violation 
any applicable Federal, State or local regulation.  

n. Smoke. For purposes of determining the density of equivalent opacity of smoke, 
Ringlemann Chart, as adopted and published by the United States Department of 
Interior, Bureau of Mines Information Circular 8333 May 1967, shall be used. The 
Ringlemann number referred to in this Section refers to the number of the area of the 
Ringlemann Chart that coincides most nearly with the visual density of equivalent 
opacity of the omission of smoke observed. For example, a reading of Ringlemann No. 
1 indicates a 20-percent density of the smoke observed. No smoke shall be permitted 
in such quantity as to become a nuisance, nor shall it be detectable at any property 
boundaries. All measurements shall be taken at the point of emission of the smoke. In 
the I-2 District, no use may emit from a tent, stack, chimney or combustion process 
any smoke that exceeds a density or equivalent capacity of Ringlemann No. 2, except 
that and emission that does not exceed a density or equivalent capacity of Ringlemann 
No. 2 is permissible for a duration of not more than four minutes during any eight-



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 39 of 79 

hour period if the source of such emission is not located within 500 feet of a residential 
district.  

o. Vehicular Traffic. Traffic to and from the site shall not overload or damage street 
systems to or from the site. Verification of this provision shall be a confirmed by an 
independent traffic analysis conducted by properly qualified individuals.  

p. Vibration. No inherent and recurrently generated vibration shall be perceptible, without 
instruments, at any point along in the boundary line of the property on which the use 
is located. Where more than one use is located on a property, then this standard shall 
also be measured along any wall of any other building on the property.  

q. Waste Disposal. Liquid and solid waste disposal and water service shall comply with all 
pertinent Federal, State and local regulations.  

r. Observations shall be made as described in the applicable subsection above. In the 
event that the point of measurement is not defined or if there is more than one use 
on the property, measurements shall be taken at the property line of the lot on which 
the use is located if it is the only use on the lot, or at the exterior of the building in 
which the use is located is more than one use exist on the same site.  

(N) Uncompahgre River Overlay District  
(a) Purpose and Intent: The purpose of the Uncompahgre River Overlay District (UROD) is to 

promote the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the Town of Ridgway. The 
Town shall use the UROD to implement goals, policies and action items in the Town of 
Ridgway's Land Use Plan; preserve, improve and protect the river corridor as a Town amenity; 
regulate buildings and structures to maximize access to the Uncompahgre River and view 
corridors along the Uncompahgre River; utilize design and development techniques that avoid, 
minimize and mitigate impacts to the natural environment; and ensure aesthetic and ecological 
qualities of the river corridor continue to be a community asset.  

(b) Applicability: The provisions and regulations of this Subsection XXX shall apply to all land within 
the Town of Ridgway Official Zoning Map included as part of the UROD; and as defined within 
these regulations. The provisions of this Subsection XXX shall apply in addition to the applicable 
requirements of the underlying zoning district, the Flood Plain Management Regulations in 
Ridgway Municipal Code Chapter XXX, and other regulations of the Town. When the standards 
of this UROD conflict with any other provision of the Ridgway Municipal Code, the more 
stringent limitation or requirement shall apply. Within the UROD, all land use activity, 
development, redevelopment, renovation, and/or change in use requiring a building, 
development, or other land use permit (for the purposes of this Section of the Ridgway 
Municipal Code shall be defined as "Development") are subject to the provisions of this 
Subsection XXX.  

(c) Uses by Right: Uses permitted by the underlying zoning district are allowed unless specifically 
prohibited, provided that the use complies with this Subsection XXX, and provided any 
development complies with this Subsection XXX.  

(d) Conditional Uses: All conditional uses allowed within the underlying zoning district may be 
permitted upon approval in accordance with Subsection XXX, and provided any development 
complies with this Subsection XXX. 

(e) Development between 25 and 75 feet:  
(i) Development between 25 and 75 feet from the High-Water-Mark shall be reviewed in 

accordance with Subsection XXX, as a conditional use. In addition to the review criteria 
under Subsection XXX, the following shall also apply:  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 40 of 79 

a. All of this Subsection XXX.  
b. The applicant shall provide an Ecological Characterization Study in accordance with 

subsection XXX which concludes that any adverse impacts to the river environment 
with the proposed Development can be mitigated, and the applicant shall incorporate 
the mitigation into the development plan and construct the mitigation with the 
Development.  

c. Special consideration for development shall be given so as to not deprive reasonable 
use of any land within the UROD. 

(f) Performance Standards:  
(i) Setback: All development must be setback a minimum of 75 feet from the High-Water-

Mark, unless approved as a Conditional Use as further set forth under subsection 7-3-14(D) 
and (E).  

(ii) Public Access:  
a. If any proposed or existing trail, path or public access area as described in the Town's 

Land Use Plan or Parks and Trails Map, as amended from time to time and including 
the Uncompahgre RiverWay Trail, traverses a parcel proposed for development, the 
Town may require as a condition of development approval, dedication of a 
bicycle/pedestrian trail easement and/or public access easement benefiting the Town 
of Ridgway. The preferred dedication is for a ten-foot-wide bicycle/pedestrian public 
access trail easement. However, in reviewing the proposed site plan, the Town shall 
evaluate the nature and extent of the proposal and the proportionality between the 
proposal and the dedication and may determine that the ten-foot dedication is 
appropriate or may reduce the dedication based on the proportionality assessment. 
The Town may also take into consideration whether and to what extent there are 
existing easements over the subject property, which provide the same functions of the 
required public access trail easements. Any trail easements shall be located at, or 
above, the High-Water Mark or abutting a public right-of-way. In lieu of a trail 
dedication, other trail locations that provide for connectivity to existing or future trails, 
and are made accessible to the public through a dedicated public access easement, 
may be approved by the Town.  

b. As a condition of development approval, if any proposed or existing trail, path or public 
access area as described in the Town's Land Use Plan or Parks and Trails Map, as 
amended from time to time and including the Uncompahgre RiverWay Trail, does not 
traverse a parcel proposed for development, the Town shall not seek a dedication of 
bicycle/pedestrian trail easement and/or public access easement benefiting the Town 
of Ridgway. However, parcels within the UROD are encouraged to provide public 
access to the Uncompahgre River including clearly defined access points to public trail 
segments. "Access" refers to the provision of access from a public right-of-way to a 
publicly accessible trail or path and/or to the water's edge of the Uncompahgre River.  

(iii) Design Guidelines and Standards:  
a. These Design Guidelines and Standards under this subsection 7-3-14(D)(3) shall apply 

to all development within the UROD, with the exception of single-family and duplex 
residential buildings.  

b. Site Planning:  
1. Existing or historic drainage ways shall be accommodated with the development 

plan.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 41 of 79 

2. Discharge of stormwater directly into the river is prohibited. Use of 
landscaped/grassed catchment areas and similar design features shall be used for 
managing, controlling and filtering parking lot and site drainage.  

3. Outdoor common areas, seating and/or dining is recommended on the river side 
of the building.  

4. A visible and accessible public entrance from the side of the property facing the 
Uncompahgre River is encouraged for commercial properties that are open to the 
public.  

c. Parking and Loading:  
1. Parking and loading shall be sited to provide the least visual impact from public 

rights-of-way, including the Uncompahgre River corridor. 
2. Trees shall be incorporated to provide parking lot shading. Bollard and/or street 

lighting shall be used to provide lighting at critical access points.  
3. Site parking shall include bike racks and areas for parking strollers and other non-

motorized vehicles near the main entrance to the primary building(s) and should 
have a logical connection to on-site non-motorized access routes.  

d. Mass, Scale, Architectural Design and Materials:  
1. Total building façade length shall be less than 50 feet in length parallel to the river.  
2. Buildings shall avoid monolithic shapes and surfaces by incorporating solids and 

voids, changes in color, pattern, texture and materials at minimum along the 
primary façade and the façade along the linear frontage of the river.  

3. Use of naturally derived materials, such as stone, wood and innovative materials 
such as metal, or high-quality environmentally friendly wood-alternative decking 
and siding, shall be required.  

e. Screening and Buffers: All parking areas, outside trash receptacles, large utility boxes, 
mechanical systems and other unattractive views shall be screened with landscaping 
from public rights-of-way, including the Uncompahgre River corridor. Screening is not 
required where access is necessary but shall be screened with a gate where feasible. 
The purpose of screening and buffers is to promote the public health safety and welfare 
to conserve views along the Uncompahgre River corridor, and to improve the visual 
appearance along the river.  

f. Exceptions to these Design Guidelines and Standards may be pursued through the 
variance process pursuant to Subsection XXX.  

(g) Submittal Requirements: These submittal requirements are in addition to the underlying zoning 
district submittal requirements for the type of land use activity or development proposed. The 
following information must be completed and included in all applications for development or 
land use activity:  
(i) A development plan showing compliance with the Performance Standards listed in 

subsection X-XX.  
(ii) Survey map including property boundaries, the location of the High-Water-Mark and 75 

foot setback. In the event the identification or location of the High-Water-Mark is disputed 
by the Town, the Town may hire a professional experienced in the identification of a High-
Water Mark, to survey the High-Water Mark, and charge the cost of each survey to the 
Property owner.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 42 of 79 

(iii) In addition to the above, development applicants seeking a Conditional Use in accordance 
with subsection X-XX are required to submit an Ecological Characterization Study 
completed by a professional qualified in the areas of ecology, wildlife biology or other 
relevant discipline. The Ecological Characterization Study shall describe, without limitation, 
the following:  
a. The boundary of wetlands and riparian areas and a description of the ecological 

functions and characteristics provided by those wetlands and riparian areas;  
b. The pattern, species and location of any significant native trees and other native site 

vegetation;  
c. The pattern, species and location of any significant non-native trees and non-native 

site vegetation that contribute to the site's ecological, shade, canopy, aesthetic and 
cooling value;  

d. The top of bank, the 25-foot setback and High-Water-Mark of any perennial stream or 
body of water on the site;  

e. The wildlife use of the area showing the species of wildlife using the area, the times 
or seasons that the area is used by those species and the "value" (meaning feeding, 
watering, cover, nesting, roosting, perching) that the area provides for such wildlife 
species;  

f. Special habitat features;  
g. Wildlife movement corridors;  
h. The general ecological functions provided by the site and its features;  
i. Any issues regarding the timing of development related activities stemming from the 

ecological character of the area; and  
j. Any measures needed to mitigate the projected adverse impacts of the development 

project on natural habitats and features along the Uncompahgre River corridor.  
(h) Exempt Uses and Activities: The following uses and activities are exempt from these 

regulations, including the Performance Standards of subsection X-XX and the submittal 
requirements of subsection X-XX, provided plans and specifications are approved by the Town, 
and all local, state and federal permitting is approved.  
(i) Public improvements essential for public health and safety, installed by, and/or approved 

by the Town, including, but not limited to, public utility buildings, facilities, systems and 
accessory structures;  

(ii) Public improvements such as pedestrian and automobile bridges, trails and recreational 
amenities installed by, and/or approved by the Town;  

(iii) Irrigation, drainage, flood control or water diversion structures installed by, and/or 
approved by the Town; and  

(iv) Bank stabilization, river restoration and planting of native vegetation installed by, and/or 
approved by the Town.  

(v) Notwithstanding Subsection X-XX of the Code, any development (as defined in subsection 
X-XX related to any structure within the UROD that was legally conforming prior to the 
date of adoption of this Section, so long as such development does not expand the building 
footprint of the structure and is in compliance with all other Town regulations. 
 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 43 of 79 

(O) Land Use Table.  
Table XXX, Table of Land Uses, identifies allowed land uses within each of the established zone 
districts. Table XXX also identifies uses that may be allowed when accessory to a principal use. The 
Town Manager or designee shall determine whether any use that is not specifically listed is allowed 
in a corresponding zone district and the level of review required, based upon the listed use which 
is most similar to the use not specifically listed.  
(1) Table of Land Uses Interpretation and Process 

(a) Site Plan Approval. Nonresidential and multi-family uses identified in Table XXX must 
receive approval of a site plan in accordance with Section XXX, Site Plan, prior to 
commencing any development activity regardless of whether such use is allowed by right 
or requires an administrative approval or conditional use permit. 

(b) Administrative Approvals. Any use identified as requiring Administrative Approval in Table 
XXX is subject to site plan review in accordance with Section XXX, Site Plan, prior to 
commencing any development activity.  

(c) Conditional Uses. Any use identified as requiring a Conditional Use in Table XXX shall 
receive a Conditional Use Permit in accordance with Section XXX, Conditional Use Permit. 

(d) Uses not Allowed. If a particular use does not have a letter corresponding to a zone district, 
that use is prohibited in the respective zone district. 

Table XXX – Land Use Table 
Use Category  R HR MR FD HB DS GC I-1 I-2 

R – Allowed by Right   A – Administrative Approval Required  C – Conditional Use Permit Required 
Agricultural Uses Agriculture    R      

Feed Storage and Sales       C   
Animal Services Veterinary Clinic       C  R 

Kennel, Boarding Facility         R 
Childcare 
Facilities 

Day Care Facility C C C   C C   

Community and 
Cultural Facilities 

Libraries     R  R   
Museums     R  R   
Community Center  C   R C R   
Churches C C   R C R   

Educational 
Facilities 

Schools C C C  R C R R R 

Food and 
Beverage 

Restaurants and Taverns   C  R  R   

Group Living Group Homes C C R  R C    
Household Living Dwelling, Co-Housing Development   C R       

Dwellings, Duplex R R R   R    
Dwelling, Fourplex C R R  R R C   
Dwelling, Multiple-Family C C R  R C R   
Dwelling, Live-Work   C  R R R   
Dwelling, Single-Family R R R R  R    
Dwelling, Townhouse. No more than 2 units R  R  R R C   
Dwelling, Townhouse. More than 2 units. C  R  R R C   
Dwelling, Townhouse. No more than 4 units.  R R  R R C   
Dwelling, Townhouse. More than 4 units.  C R  R R C   
Dwelling, Triplex C R R  R R C   



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 44 of 79 

Dwellings, Cluster Development R  R       
Employee Housing       R   
Manufactured Homes  R        
Manufactured Homes Park       C   

Lodging Facilities Bed & Breakfast C C C   C    
Nursing Homes   C       
Hotels, Motels, Lodges     R  R   
Travel Homes Park       R   
Campgrounds       C   

Manufacturing & 
Production 

Gravel Extraction    C   C   
Manufacturing, Light     C   C R 
Machine and Welding Shop       C  R 
Manufacturing and Industrial Use       C   
Manufacturing Processing and Assembly        R C 

Parks & Open 
Space 

All Park and Open Space Uses R R R  R R R   

Personal Services 
& Office 

Professional Office     R C R R  
Service Establishment     R C R R  
Funeral Homes     R  R   

Public Utilities & 
Facilities 

Public Utility Service Facilities R R R R R R R R R 
Government Buildings & Facilities R R R  R R R R R 
Libraries     R  R   
Depots     R  R   

Recreation Recreation Facilities R R R  R R    
Indoor Theaters     R  R   
Arts and Craft Studio     R     

Retail Retail, Limited       C    
Retail Stores   C R R  R   
Building Materials Business       C   
Farm Implement, Manufactured Home, Auto 
sales 

      C   

Retail, Wholesale Use        C C 
Vehicles & 
Equipment 

Automobile Body Shops       C  R 
Commercial Garages     R  R   
Parking Facilities     R  R   
Gas Station       C   
Truck Repair Shop         R 
Carwash         R 

Warehousing & 
Freight 

Warehouse or Storage Facility       C R  
Motor or Railroad Freight Depots         R 

Accessory Uses Outdoor Storage     C    R 
Accessory 
Uses 

R R R R   R R R 

Dwelling, Accessory  R R R R R R    
Home Occupation R R R R R R R   

Temporary 
Structures & Uses 

          

Miscellaneous Buildings with a gross floor area greater than 
10,000 sq. ft. 

  C       



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 45 of 79 

Buildings with a gross floor area greater than 
7,500 sq. ft. 

    C     

Buildings 27’ to 35 ‘ in height or containing 
more than 10,000 sq. ft. of gross floor area 

      C   

Developments with more than 20 parking 
spaces 

      C   

Private and Fraternal Clubs     R  R   
 

(P) Zone District Dimensional Standards 
(1) Dimensional Standard Requirements 

Dimensional standards for lot size, setbacks, and maximum height are summarized for each 
zone district in Table XXX, Dimensional Standard Requirements, below. 

Table X-XX - Dimensional Standard Requirements: 

Di
st

ric
t Min. Lot  Max. Lot 

Coverage 
(%)  

Min. Setbacks (ft)  Structure 
Height (ft) 

Use Width 
(ft) 

Size 
(sf) Front Rear Side 

Side on 
Corner 

Lot 

R 
Single-Family 
and Duplex 50 6,000 50 15 8 5 7.5 27 

All others 50 10,000 40 15 8 8 7.5 27 

HR 

Single Family 
and Duplex 25 3,000 60 15 8 3 7.5 27 

Residential uses 
with three or 
four dwelling 

units 
35 5,000 60 15 8 3 7.5 35 

All others 70 10,000 50 15 8 5 7.5 35 

MR 

Single Family 
and Duplex 25 3,000 60 10 8 3 7.5 35 

Residential uses 
with three or 
four dwelling 

units 
35 4,000 60 10 8 3 7.5 35 

All other 
residential and 

mixed uses 
50 5,000 60 10 8 5 7.5 35 

Nonresidential 
uses N/A N/A 70 15 8 5 7.5 35 

HB All 25 NA NA  8   35 
GC All 30 5,000 60 15 8 8 7.5 27 
FD All 50 35 ac. NA 15 8 8 7.5 27 
I-1 All 50 6,000 50 15 8 8 8 30 
I-2 All 50 6,000 50 15 8 8 8 30 
DS All 50 5,000 50 15 8 8 7.5 27 

 

   



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 46 of 79 

(2) Additional Dimensional Standards and Exceptions [created this subsection off of existing footnotes. 
Extensive footnotes that are generally applicable should be minimized.]  
(a) When the rear or side lot line abuts an alley, the setback shall be a minimum of two feet.  
(b) In the General Commercial District, a 35 feet height may be allowed if approved as a 

conditional use.  
(c) HB Setbacks shall be determined as follows:  

(i) The setback shall be eight feet, unless snow and drainage from the roof is effectively 
directed away from the abutting property, in which case the setback can be as little as 
four feet.  

(ii) In those instances where snow and drainage is effectively directed away from the 
abutting property, and the foundation and wall of the structure are constructed so that 
a wall and foundation of a building on an abutting lot can be built up to, or abutting 
the property line, the setback can be eliminated.  

(d) 3rd story Buildings: In buildings with three stories above ground, the third story shall be 
subject to a 15-foot front setback, and an eight-foot side setback for those sides facing a 
public street, in addition to other applicable setbacks as provided above. The third story 
setbacks may be reduced or eliminated where design of the third story provides 
architectural features that are aesthetically attractive to provide visual relief and contrast 
as an alternative to monolithic three-story facade surfaces. For purposes of this provision, 
such features include, but are not limited to, integration of third stories into roof lines, 
multiple roof lines and angles, windows, doors and balconies, and fenestration and facade 
designs that make a distinction between upper and lower floors, such as horizontal banding 
and varied building materials.  

(e) Any reduction of the setbacks as specifically provided in these paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) 
shall be determined by the Town Planning Commission, pursuant to consideration of the 
criteria as set forth herein and in accordance with the review procedures as set forth in 
Subsection XXX.  

(f) Within the I-2 District, commercial telecommunication antennae or towers that are located 
on Town owned property and that are in compliance with subsection XXX may have a 
structure height of up to 40 feet.  

(g) If a single-family or duplex dwelling is five feet or less from the side property line, a fire 
suppression system is required. Fire suppression systems are required in all other buildings 
per the Building Regulations, see Ridgway Municipal Code Section XXX If any structure is 
less than five feet from the side property line, a site-specific geotechnical report is required 
as well as snow guards, brakes or other devices to prevent snow and ice shedding onto 
adjacent properties.  

(h) Proper dimensional requirements for conditional uses shall be determined in accordance 
with Subsection XXX. Provided, that as a general rule, they shall be no less strict than the 
dimensional requirements specified for uses by right in the district concerned or as 
specified for the use concerned in a zone in which it is a use by right whichever is more 
restrictive.  

   



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 47 of 79 

7-4-5 SUPPLEMENTAL REGULATIONS 

(A) Home Occupations [Brought from 7-3-18(A)] 
Home Occupations may be conducted within a residential premises or accessory structure related 
thereto in any district as an accessory use only if the following criteria are met:  

(1) Town and State Sales Tax Licenses must be obtained if sales taxable by the Town or State 
sales taxes are to be made.  

(2) Only the residents of the dwelling unit may be engaged in the home occupation.  
(3) No unreasonable noise, glare, smoke, dust, vibration or odor shall be observable off the 

premises.  
(4) The home occupation activity shall not utilize or occupy more than 750 square feet in total, 

nor more than 400 square feet in a garage or other structures outside of the residence. 
Provided, however, accessory day care facilities shall be limited to eight or fewer children 
in lieu of these area limitations.  

(5) No business activity or storage of property involved in the business may take place outside 
of enclosed structures, except for horticultural activities.  

(6) The short-term rental of rooms, such as bed and breakfast operations, does not qualify as 
an accessory use pursuant to this Subsection.  

(B) Offensive Businesses [Brought from 7-3-18(B)] 
It shall be unlawful to maintain, own or operate any offensive or unwholesome business or 
establishment within the Town, including, but not limited to, rendering plants, tanneries, pig sties, 
feed lots, dairy farms, manufacture and storage of explosives, sugar beet pulp storage facilities, 
foundries, or petroleum product refineries, unless such business was lawfully in existence at the 
effective date of this Section, or at the effective date of annexation subsequent to the effective 
date of this Section. In either event, such business or establishment shall be subject to the 
Nonconforming Use Regulations of Subsection XXX of these regulations, and all other applicable 
regulations of the Town.  

(C) Use and Location of Travel Homes [Brought from 7-3-18(D)] 
(1) Travel homes may be occupied only in the following circumstances:  

(a) Within a licensed travel home park for a maximum period of six months in any one 365-
day period.  

(b) Upon private property for temporary occupancy by out-of-town guests for a period not to 
exceed 30 days in any year for any tract of property.  

(c) Upon property for which a permit has been issued by the Town, pursuant to subsection 
XXX. 

(2) Travel homes may be parked, if unoccupied, upon private property if in compliance with zoning 
setbacks, or temporarily upon public streets, if registered under State law and lawfully parked. 
Provided, however, they may not be parked in a manner which creates a traffic hazard.  

(D) Garage and Yard Sales [Brought from 7-3-18(E)] 
(1) Notwithstanding restrictions of Town Zoning Regulations, or junk, litter or nuisance ordinances, 

garage and yard sales may be conducted within the Town consistent with the conditions set 
out herein.  

(2) No premises shall be used for a garage or yard sale for more than 48 hours at one time or for 
more than two such sales in any calendar year.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 48 of 79 

(3) The sale shall be conducted so that no traffic hazards or nuisances are created. 
(E) Bed and Breakfast Operations [Brought from 7-3-18(F)] 

(1) Residents of a dwelling unit in the "R" and "HR" Districts may rent rooms on a short-term basis 
(and may provide meals to such boarders) if a Conditional Use Permit is approved by the 
Planning Commission pursuant to Sections XXX and XXX, and the operation will comply with 
the criteria of this Subsection.  

(2) The application shall not be granted unless the Planning Commission determines that the 
following criteria are met:  
(a) There is at least one additional off-street parking space for each room to be rented in 

addition to the off-street parking required for the residential dwelling unit.  
(b) No more than three rooms shall be rented in any dwelling unit. Such rooms shall be an 

integral part of the dwelling unit.  
(c) The meals to be served shall be served from the kitchen which is part of the dwelling unit 

itself.  
(d) The operation will not create a public or private nuisance.  
(e) Only the permanent residents of the dwelling unit shall be employed in the operation.  
(f) The Permittee will obtain a sales tax license and remit sales tax and lodging occupation 

tax.  
(3) The Town Council may revoke any permit if it determines following a hearing with reasonable 

notice to the holder of the permit that the above criteria or limits of any permit are not being 
met. 

(F) Accessory Dwelling Units [Brought from 7-3-18(G)] 
(1) The creation of Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU) is generally encouraged as an effective means 

to improve housing affordability, provided that each ADU complies with the following 
standards. 

(2) ADUs are only allowed as accessory to a single-family detached dwelling. Only one ADU per 
single-family detached dwelling unit is permitted.  

(3) The accessory dwelling unit must be constructed in accordance with applicable requirements 
of Town Building Codes. It may be attached or detached to the principal residential unit. 
Applicable dimensional requirements for a single-family dwelling as set out in subsection 7-3-
15(A) must be met for the premises.  

(4) One off-street parking space shall be provided for the accessory dwelling unit in addition to 
any other required off-street parking.  

(5) The accessory dwelling unit may not exceed 800 square feet of gross floor area.  
(6) One of the dwelling units on the property must be, and remain, owner occupied.  
(7) A minimum of a 90-day rental period shall be required by written lease, except as described in 

subsection (12) below.  
(8) The accessory dwelling unit must be owned together with the principal residential unit, and 

the lot or parcel upon which they are located, in undivided ownership.  
(9) The accessory dwelling unit may be served off of the water or sewer tap for the principal 

residence, in which case it shall not be subject to additional tap fees.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 49 of 79 

(10) The burden shall be upon the owner of any accessory dwelling unit to provide adequate 
proof to the Town that the criteria of this Section are met. In the event that the Town 
determines that the criteria have not been shown to be satisfied the unit may not be occupied 
as a residence.  

(11) A dwelling unit constructed before a principal single-family home, which meets these 
criteria, may be converted to an accessory dwelling unit following construction of a new 
principal dwelling unit.  

(12) An accessory dwelling unit, as defined in Section XXX either attached or detached to the 
primary dwelling, may be utilized as a short-term rental only under the following circumstances: 

(a) Tap fees are paid at 30 percent pursuant to Ridgway Municipal Code subsection 9-1-
9(c)(2); and  

(b) One hundred percent of monthly water, sewer, trash and recycling services are paid 
on a monthly basis pursuant to Ridgway Municipal Code Chapter 9; and  

(c) The lot size upon which both dwelling units are sited is a minimum of 6,000 square 
feet. 

(G) Telecommunication Antenna and Tower Regulations [Brought from 7-3-18(H)] 
(1) Telecommunication towers and antennae shall be located, and comply with the following 

provisions:  
(a) Noncommercial television and telecommunications receivers and amateur radio antennae, 

which qualify as an accessory use to the main use on the premises, may be located on 
such premises.  

(b) Antennae for "personal wireless services" as defined in 97 USC 332(c)(2) shall be limited 
to the GC Zoning District, or upon Town owned property in other zoning districts pursuant 
to leases or permits with the Town, with terms and conditions adequate to ensure safety 
and reasonable compatibility with the neighborhood in which they are located, including 
requirements for camouflaging where appropriate.  

(c) Commercial radio, television and other telecommunications transmitters and receivers shall 
be restricted to the GC Zoning District.  

(d) Additional receivers or transmitters may be installed on existing telecommunication towers 
regardless of the zoning district.  

(2) All telecommunication antennas and towers shall be limited to the maximum structure heights 
set out in Section XXX, unless a variance is obtained pursuant to Section XXX, or allowed in 
accordance with the following exceptions:  
(a) Telecommunication antennas, receivers and transmitters may be located on lawfully 

existing towers and structures, as long as they are not above the tower structure.  
(b) A variance to the height limitations otherwise applicable may be obtained for an amateur 

radio antenna for noncommercial use pursuant to the review procedure of Section XXX if 
the Planning Commission determines that the following criteria are met:  
(i) A higher tower is necessary to be reasonably adequate for the domestic 

communications purposes;  
(ii) No reasonable alternative exists;  
(iii) No adverse impacts will be created with respect to other property in the area.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 50 of 79 

(c) A variance to the height limitations otherwise applicable may be obtained for personal 
wireless service antennae if the Planning Commission determines pursuant to the review 
procedure of Subsection XXX that the following criteria are met:  
(i) Space is not available at a commercially reasonable price on an existing tower or 

structure located in a technically feasible location, and no other location is available 
which will provide reasonably adequate service in compliance with the height 
limitations set out above, and 

(ii) No adverse effect on property values in the area will be caused, and no safety hazard 
will be created.  

(iii) The design and color of the tower and appurtenances shall be reasonably compatible 
with the site and surrounding area.  

(d) Commercial telecommunication antennae or towers up to 40 feet in height may be installed 
upon Town owned property within the "I-2" Light Industrial 2 Zoning District.  

(3) A final decision to deny a variance shall be in writing and supported by a substantial written 
record.  

(4) All towers and structures shall be subject to the building setback requirements of Subsection 
XXX and applicable provisions of Town building codes and other ordinances and regulations. 

(H) Short-Term Rental Regulations [Brought from 7-3-18(I)] 
(1) Intent and Purpose: Establish standards and procedures by which residential short-term rentals 

can be provided in a manner that protects both the quality of experience and the character of 
the Town. It is the Town's intent to establish short-term rental regulations to promote a mix 
of lodging options, support the local economy, while also upholding the integrity of the Town. 

(2) Short-term rentals shall comply with the provisions of this subsection (I) and shall be licensed 
per Chapter 8, Section 5 of the Municipal Code.  

(3) Permitted Use of Short-Term Rentals:  
(a) For short-term rentals not in the "HB" Historic Business or "GC" General Commercial 

Districts, the structure involved: 
(i) Shall be a single-family dwelling structure; or  
(ii) Shall be a single residential unit in structures with mixed uses; or  
(iii) Shall be a property with two dwelling structures owned by the same owner, in which 

one of the dwelling structures may be used as a short-term rental as long as the second 
dwelling unit is owner occupied.  

(iv) Shall not be a multiple family dwelling or structure as short-term rentals are prohibited 
in multiple family structures. 

(b) In the HB and GC Districts, a maximum of five short-term rentals are allowed per building 
or structure.  

(4) Performance Standards for Short-Term Rentals:  
(a) The unit being rented shall be a dwelling unit, as defined pursuant to Section XXX shall not 

have more than five bedrooms, nor be leased or used to any group containing more than 
ten people over the age of 18. 

(b) The unit shall have a minimum of two off street parking spaces available and any additional 
spaces necessary to accommodate the tenant's vehicles off street.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 51 of 79 

(c) There shall be an owner's agent available to be at the unit within 20 minutes, who is on 
call full time to manage the property during any period the unit is rented. The name, 
address and phone number of the agent must be kept current on file with the Town, and 
posted in the short-term rental.  

(d) Adequate animal resistant trash and recycle containers shall be provided, and information 
on placement for collection shall be provided, in the short-term rental as stated in Ridgway 
Municipal Code Section 9-2.  

(e) The unit shall be maintained in compliance with applicable Town ordinances and 
regulations. The rental of residential units as provided herein shall not unreasonably annoy 
or interfere with the use or enjoyment of public or private property or which constitutes a 
health or safety hazard.  

(f) The owner must have current State and Town sales tax licenses, a Town business license 
at such time the Town has business licensing, and collect and remit sales taxes and lodging 
taxes. 

(I) Marijuana [Brought from 7-3-18(J)] 
(1) The cultivation, manufacture, distribution, storage, or sale of marijuana shall not be a lawful 

use by right, accessory use (including as a home occupation), conditional use, or lawful 
nonconforming use in any zoning district of the Town of Ridgway, except as provided in this 
subsection (J).  

(2) A Medical Marijuana Center, Medical Marijuana Optional Premises Cultivation Operation, and 
Medical Marijuana-Infused Products Manufacturing Facility, licensed under Article 43.3 of Title 
12 CRS, a Primary Care Giver registered under C.R.S. 25-1.5-106, and a Marijuana Cultivation 
Facility, a Marijuana Testing Facility, a Marijuana Product Manufacturing Facility or a Retail 
Marijuana Store licensed by the State of Colorado pursuant to Article XVIII, Section 16 of the 
Colorado Constitution and Article 43.4 of the Title 12, CRS, may be located within the I-1 and 
I-2 Zoning Districts and the General Commercial Zoning District east of Liddell Drive extended, 
as a use by right if they meet the following provisions:  
(a) They must be operated lawfully under applicable provisions of State Law.  
(b) They must comply with the performance standards of the I-1 and I-2 Zoning Districts, or 

General Commercial Zoning Districts, as applicable.  
(c) They must have valid State and Town sales tax licenses and collect and remit sales tax on 

sales of Marijuana in accordance with State Law and Town ordinances.  
(d) A Certificate of Occupancy for each building must be obtained prior to establishment of the 

use therein.  
(e) The cultivation, manufacturing, storage, distribution and sale of Marijuana, must be 

confined to an enclosed building.  
(f) They must be located in structures with commercial and industrial uses only, and are not 

allowed in buildings with residential uses.  
(g) No storage facilities are permitted off the licensed premises.  
(h) The building in which the licensed activities take place may not be located within 1,000 

feet of a school, an alcohol or drug treatment facility, the principal campus of a college, 
university or seminary, or a residential childcare facility. The distance referred to shall be 
measured from the nearest property line of the land use for the above listed uses to the 
nearest portion of the building in which licensed activity takes place, using a route of direct 
pedestrian access. This restriction shall not affect the renewal or reissuance of a license 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 52 of 79 

once granted, or apply to a license in effect actively doing business before any of the above 
uses was constructed.  

(3) Cultivation.  
(a) A patient, validly registered under State Law, may cultivate Medical Marijuana at the 

patient's residence for the Patient's own use only, if in compliance with the limitations of 
State Law and if the plants cannot be seen or smelled off the premises.  

(b) An individual may cultivate Marijuana at the individual's residence, only if in compliance 
with the limitations of Subsection (16)(3)(b) of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution 
and other applicable state law, including the requirement that the growing take place in 
an enclosed locked place, is not conducted publicly or openly and is not made available for 
sale.  

(c) The use of a compressed flammable gas as a solvent in the extraction of THC or other 
cannabinoids in a residential setting is prohibited.  

(d) Co-op or collective grow operations are not allowed without a state license.  
(4) Delivery of Marijuana, or Medical Marijuana by a licensed Medical Marijuana business, licensed 

Marijuana establishment, Primary Care Giver, or any other person, from a location outside of 
Town, to a location within Town, is allowed, only if lawful under, and in full compliance with 
State Law, and the delivering person has a Town sales tax license if taxable sales may occur, 
and collects and remits Town sales taxes on the sale of the delivered Marijuana and Medical 
Marijuana.  

(5) The below listed terms shall be defined as indicated for purposes of this subsection (J):  
(a) "Medical Marijuana", "Medical Marijuana Center", "Optional Premises Cultivation 

Operation", and "Medical Marijuana-Infused Products, Manufacturing", shall have 
meanings as defined in CRS, Title 12, Article 43.3.  

(b) "Primary Care Giver" shall have the meaning as defined in C.R.S. 25-1.5-106.  
(c) "Patient" shall have the meaning as defined in Section 14(1) of Article XVIII of the Colorado 

Constitution.  
(d) "State Law" shall include, but not be limited to, Section 16 and Section 14(1) of Article 

XVIII of the Colorado Constitution, C.R.S. 25-1.5-106, Article 43.3 and 43.4, Title 12, CRS; 
and any rules or regulations promulgated pursuant thereto.  

(e) "Marijuana", "Marijuana Cultivation Facility", "Marijuana Testing Facility", "Marijuana 
Product Manufacturing Facility" or a "Retail Marijuana Store" shall have the meaning 
defined in Article XVIII, Section 16 of the Colorado Constitution, and Article 43.4, Title 12, 
CRS.  

(6) Storage of Marijuana off of the licensed premises is not permitted in the Town.  
(7) Marijuana clubs, businesses or other places of assembly where customers, members, or the 

like, are regularly invited for the purpose of using or consuming marijuana or marijuana 
products on site, are prohibited in the Town.  

(J) Manufactured Homes [Brought from 7-3-18(K)] 
(1) Manufactured homes, as defined in Subsection 7-3-2, that have more than 500 square feet of 

living area, are only permitted on the following described property:  
(a) All of Blocks 4, 9 and 29;  
(b) Block 28, Lots 11 through 20;  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 53 of 79 

(c) Block 32, Lots 1 through 18;  
(d) Block 33, Lots 6 through 10; and  
(e) Lot 1 of Mitchell Subdivision No. 2.  

(2) The limitations of this subsection shall not apply to any manufactured home that was placed 
on a property not referenced in subsection (K)(1) above prior to June 9, 1993 in Ordinance 02-
1993 that met all applicable building at safety codes at time of installation.  

(3) Manufactured Homes are subject to the provisions of Section 6-3, Regulations for Manufactured 
Homes, Travel Homes, and Other Factory-Built Housing.  

(4) Manufactured Home Parks are subject to the provisions of Section 8-1, Manufactured Home 
Park and Travel Home Park Regulations.  

(K) Employee Housing [Brought from 7-3-18(L)] 
The creation of employee housing is generally encouraged as an effective means to improve 
housing affordability and to support the viability and retention of employment generating uses, 
provided that each complies with the following standards.  
(1) Employee housing units are only allowed as accessory to a nonresidential use.  
(2) One employee housing unit is allowed for the first 2,500 square feet of gross floor area in the 

structure. Structures that exceed 2,500 square feet of gross floor area are allowed one 
additional unit per 2,500 square feet, up to a maximum of three units per nonresidential use.  

(3) The employee housing unit must be constructed in accordance with all applicable building and 
safety codes.  

(4) The employee housing unit must be owned together with the structure occupied by the 
nonresidential use, and the lot or parcel upon which they are located, in undivided ownership.  

(5) The employee housing unit must be served off of the water or sewer tap for the principal 
structure, in which case it shall not be subject to additional tap fees.  

(6) If the employee housing unit has been offered to current and prospective employees of the 
nonresidential use for 45 days after the prior tenant vacates and the unit remains vacant, the 
unit can then be offered to other households where at least one of the occupants is employed 
at an establishment located within Ouray County.  

(7) Short-term rental of employee housing is not permitted.  
(8) The burden shall be upon the owner of any employee housing unit to provide adequate proof 

to the Town that the criteria of this Section are met. In the event that the Town determines 
that the criteria have not been shown to be satisfied the unit may not be occupied as a 
residence.  

(L) Parking Standards [Brought from 7-3-15] 
(1) Off-Street Parking Requirements. The following off street parking requirements shall apply 

unless otherwise indicated in all districts, except the Historic Business District. The 
requirements for the Historic Business District are specified in subsection X-XX:  

Use  Required parking spaces  
(a) Residences  Single-Family and Duplex: 2 spaces per dwelling unit. 

All Other Residential: 1 space per dwelling unit  
(b) Medical offices and clinics  3 spaces per examination room  
(c) Hospitals  1 space for each 3 beds  
(d) Pharmacies  1 space per 200 sq. ft. of customer floor space  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 54 of 79 

(e) Bus stations  1 space per 400 sq. ft. gross floor area  
(f) Funeral homes and mortuaries  1 space for each 6 seats in main chapel  
(g) Restaurants and Lounges  1 space per 100 sq. ft. customer floor area  
(h) Hotels and Motels  1 space per guest room  
(i) Walk-up restaurants  1 space per 50 sq. ft. customer floor area  
(j) Bowling alleys  3 spaces per lane  
(k) Gas stations  4 spaces, plus 2 spaces for each enclosed auto space  
(l) Beauty shops  2 spaces for each chair  

(m) Industrial uses  1 space for every 2 employees on shift plus adequate 
visitor parking  

(n) Churches  1 space for each 6 seats in main chapel  
(o) Nursing homes  1 space for each 3 beds  
(p) Professional office space  1 space per 300 sq. ft. gross floor area  
(q) Retail establishments  1 space per 250 sq. ft. gross floor area  
(r) Studio residence  1 space per unit (600 sq. ft. total living area)  
(s) Day care facilities not qualifying 
as an accessory use  

1 space for each 10 children plus 1 drop off space, 
plus one space per staff person  

(t) All other uses  1 space per 350 sq. ft. gross floor area  
 

(2) Parking spaces shall be sized and designed in accordance with standard Town specifications 
and shall be a minimum of eight feet by 20 feet in size.  

(3) Maneuvering Area: Off-street parking shall provide sufficient off-street space to allow an 
automobile to enter, maneuver, and exit without backing onto any public street. Backing onto 
alleyways is permissible except where otherwise prohibited by plat note.  

(4) For purposes of this Subsection, "gross floor area" is the heated square footage of a building 
measured along the outside enclosing walls, excluding interior parking areas and outdoor 
common areas; "customer floor area" is the aggregate amount of internal floor area generally 
used by the public, or 15 percent of the total floor area, whichever is greater.  

(M) Fence, Hedge, and Wall Regulations [Brought from 6-4-1] 
(1) No fence, rail or freestanding wall shall exceed six feet in height within the Town, except for 

those located within the I-1 and I-2 Light Industrial Districts which may not exceed eight feet 
in height.  

(2) In the Residential and Historic Residential Zoning Districts, fences, rails or freestanding walls 
located within the area between the property line and the front set back line may not exceed 
four feet in height, except for fences designed and intended to exclude deer may be up to six 
feet high if they are substantially transparent at sight angles up to 45 degrees from 
perpendicular to the faces of the fence, and are constructed out of a:  
(a) Mesh;  
(b) Woven wire;  
(c) Rails and pickets or similar components which have a width no greater than their depth.  

(3) No fence, freestanding wall or hedge or other plantings shall be constructed or maintained on 
corner lots in a place or at a height which unreasonably creates a traffic hazard by obstructing 
vision from vehicles on abutting streets.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 55 of 79 

(4) Electrically charged fences are not allowed within the Town unless their location is made 
inaccessible to persons who would not know that the fence is electrified by virtue of another 
fence or structure.  

(5) Barbed wire fences may be allowed only I-1 and I-2 Light Industrial Districts, and only if the 
barbed wire is a minimum of six feet above the ground. No barbed wire fence may be 
maintained in other districts unless necessary to confine livestock lawfully kept within the 
Town.  

(6) All fences shall be maintained in good and safe condition. 
(7) Enforcement 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any provision of this Section.  
(b) Any violation of the provision of this Section is hereby declared to be a nuisance and may 

be abated in accordance with law.  
(c) In addition to any of the remedies the Town may have, it may maintain an action in a court 

of competent jurisdiction to enjoin any violation of, or compel compliance with, any of the 
provisions of this Section. 

(N) Outdoor Lighting Regulations [Brought from Ch. 6, Sec. 5] 
(1) General Provisions 

(a) All non-exempt outdoor light fixtures and illuminating devices permanently or temporarily 
installed outdoors, including, but not limited to, devices to illuminate signs, shall meet the 
following requirements:  
(i) They shall be shielded so no light rays are emitted at angles which will allow the light 

to pass directly off of the premises appurtenant to the fixture.  
(ii) They shall be shielded so that no light rays are emitted by the installed fixture at angles 

below the horizontal plane.  
(iii) All fixtures designed to illuminate signs or structures shall be mounted above the area 

of the sign or structure to be illuminated.  
(iv) Blinking, flashing, rotating or moving lights are prohibited.  
(v) Correlated color temperature (CCT) is limited to 3,000 kelvin per fixture.  
(vi) The following lumen limits are established to prevent over lighting and are not intended 

to be achieved. Each site should use the lowest amount of lumens needed for the site 
to provide safety and functionality.  
a. Single-Family Residential Sites shall be limited to 5,100 lumens. Single Family 

Residential Sites that include an accessory dwelling unit shall be limited to 6,500 
lumens. Each lighting fixture shall be limited to 850 lumens.  

b. Multifamily Residential Sites, Mixed Use Sites and Nonresidential Sites shall be 
limited to 25,000 lumens per net acre plus 2,000 lumens per unit beyond the first. 
Each lighting fixture shall be limited to 1,500 lumens.  

(vii)  Lighting for all nonresidential uses shall be extinguished one hour after close of 
business unless there is a public safety hazard that is best mitigated by the use of 
lighting. Lighting intended for security purposes shall use Adaptive Controls.  

(viii) If any of the above are in conflict with the Town building codes adopted pursuant 
to Municipal Code Section 6-1, the regulations of the adopted building code shall apply.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 56 of 79 

(b) The following are exempt from the provisions of subsection (1).  
(i) Lights used to illuminate athletic fields of other community special event areas. Such 

lights shall be turned off one hour after the conclusion of the event and should be 
designed or placed to minimize light falling beyond the area in use.  

(ii) Signs which are illuminated by interior light sources, such as neon signs, provided such 
signs are lit only during the property owner's business hours.  

(iii) Official traffic control devices and lights owned and operated by or pursuant to proper 
authority of the United States of America, the state of Colorado or any of their 
agencies, and such other lights as are specifically required by federal or state law.  

(iv) Official traffic control lights owned and operated by the Town of Ridgway.  
(v) Repealed by Ordinance 16-2006.  
(vi) Lawful vehicle lights.  
(vii) Repealed by Ordinance 10-2007.  
(viii) Holiday lights. Holiday lights should only be in use from November 15 to January 

31.   
(ix) Artwork that is outdoors and on public property. Such artwork shall receive a permit 

by the Town of Ridgway prior to installation. Such artwork shall be public and 
accessible to all people and may be illuminated, pursuant to the following:  
a. Artwork shall not contain lighting that exceeds 500 lumens within the entire 

structure, nor more than 2,500 degrees kelvin.  
b. All public art that is illuminated shall include a dimmer and timer to aid the 

compliance with the Dark Skies Association's Outdoor Lighting Requirements, and 
shall have the ability to be automatically turned off. In any event such lighting 
shall be automatically turned off by 10:00 p.m. nightly.  

c. No structure may contain lighting that is cast upward or outward, but may be 
diffused in a way such that the lighting emits a soft glow.  

d. All structures shall be lit internally.  
e. All illuminated public art is subject to review and approval by Town staff for 

compliance with these regulations.  
(c) Public Outdoor Lighting.  

(i) New public lighting owned and operated by the Town of Ridgway, including street 
lights, walkway lights, external building lights, holiday lights and other lights to ensure 
safety, shall be allowed as recommended by the Town Manager in situations where a 
public health hazard exists which can only be mitigated by artificial light at night and 
shall be in compliance with subsection (A).  

(ii) Adaptive controls or curfews shall be employed in all new public outdoor lighting 
installations.  

(iii) All Town owned lighting shall comply with the requirements of Section 6-5 within five 
years from the effective date of this Section.  

(2) Noncompliant Lights 
(a) Lights which were lawfully existing and in use at the time they became nonconforming 

with the requirements of this Section X-X by virtue of the initial adoption of this Section, 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 57 of 79 

subsequent amendment to this Section or by annexation into the Town, may continue to 
be used and operated subject to the limitations of this Section.  

(b) The right to operate a lawful nonconforming light shall terminate upon any of the following:  
(i) Replacement of the light fixture.  
(ii) Non-use of the light fixture for a period of six months.  
(iii) Damage to the light fixture so that the cost of repair is 50 percent or more of the cost 

to replace it with a conforming fixture.  
(c) The right to exceed the lumen limits established in Subsection X-X-X as a lawful 

nonconforming site shall terminate upon any of the following:  
(i) Replacement of 50 percent or more of the light fixtures on the site.  
(ii) Damage to the light fixtures so that the cost of repair is 50 percent or more of the cost 

to replace them with conforming fixtures.  
(d) No alteration may be made to lighting on a site which would increase the amount or degree 

of the nonconformity.  
(3) Administration and Enforcement 

(a) The provisions of this Section shall be administered by the building official or other 
authorized Town officer or employee.  

(b) It shall be unlawful to violate any provision of this Section.  
(c) Any continuing violation of this Section is hereby declared to be nuisance, which may be 

abated by the Town in any lawful manner, or enjoined by a court of competent jurisdiction.  
(d) No building permit or occupancy permit shall be issued for work which has noncomplying 

light fixtures. 
 
7-4-6 SIGN REGULATIONS  

(A) Compliance Required 
It shall be unlawful to erect or maintain any sign except in conformity with the requirements of this 
Subsection. Signs not in conformity with the provisions of this Subsection are hereby declared to 
be a nuisance which may be abated by the Town in any lawful manner.  

(B) Signs Allowed Without a Permit 
The following may be erected, maintained and used without a sign permit as long as they are 
properly maintained in accordance with the requirements of this paragraph (B) and paragraph (F) 
and with other applicable requirements of this Subsection, State law and Town ordinances and 
regulations, and are not prohibited by paragraphs (C) or (D) 
(1) Official traffic control devices, signs, and notices erected, owned and maintained by the United 

States, the state of Colorado, the Town of Ridgway or any of their political subdivisions for 
official governmental purposes.  

(2) Any pennant, motto, or insignia of any nation, state, political subdivisions, religious, civic, or 
fraternal organization, or school except devices which are used to promote business activity.  

(3) Works of art unless they are used to promote business activity.  
(4) Temporary decorations, displays and banners which are customarily displayed and associated 

with holidays or celebrations and banners associated with Town endorsed civic events.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 58 of 79 

(5) Scoreboards, unless used to advertise business activity.  
(6) Public utility warning signs, construction warning signs, and signs warning of other hazards, 

with no sign face larger than ten square feet in area.  
(7) Identification signs incidental to the use of vehicles attached to the vehicle.  
(8) Traffic control devices with no sign face larger than three square feet.  
(9) One or more temporary signs with an aggregate sign face area of no more than four square 

feet in the Residential and Historic Residential Zoning Districts and 16 square feet in all other 
zoning districts, for the premises upon which they are located. Signs identifying a project and 
contractors involved therein shall only be allowed during the construction period. All "for sale" 
signs shall be taken down when the sale of the premises is closed.  

(10) One bulletin board per street frontage not over 20 square feet in area for the purpose of 
announcing events of civic interest, which is owned and maintained by a charitable or religious 
institution.  

(11) Memorial signs and tablets, or cornerstone signs identifying the building and its date of 
construction. Such signs shall be cut into masonry surface, inlaid so as to be part of the building 
or constructed of incombustible materials.  

(12) Signs upon vending machines, gasoline pumps, or packages of goods which relate to the 
contents thereof.  

(13) Temporary signs advertising Town approved civic events during the period of the event. 
All such signs may be erected only with the approval of the Town Council except for those 
displayed in Town Parks which may be approved by Town Administrative Staff.  

(14) Signs within buildings which are located no closer than six inches to any window or which 
are not legible from distances of five feet or more.   

(15) Temporary signs on the Ridgway School Ball Field fence, provided they do not face 
Highway 62, that they are only up during baseball season, and that all such signs be controlled 
and administered by the Ridgway School Administration.  

(16) Signs devoted to noncommercial speech which do not exceed ten square feet in area. 
(C) Prohibited Signs and Devices 

The following are hereby prohibited within the Town:  
(1) Animated or flashing signs visible outside any building.  
(2) Balloons, or pennants, or other wind-powered devices designed to attract attention, except 

they may be used for civic events up to a maximum of seven days.   
(3) The operation of search lights to promote business activities.  

(D) Off-Premises Signs Restricted 
A sign may identify or advertise only that activity or use conducted upon or related to the premises 
upon which the sign is located except in the following circumstances:  
(1) Directional signs owned by the Town. The expense of construction and maintenance shall be 

charged to the businesses or organizations advertised.  
(2) Signs authorized pursuant to subsection X-XX.  
(3) Signs allowed by paragraphs (B)(1), (4), (10), and (13).  
(4) Signs with a message devoted solely to non-commercial speech.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 59 of 79 

(5) Tourist oriented directional signs owned and erected by the Colorado Department of 
Transportation pursuant to C.R.S. 43-1-420(3), which meet conditions set out in Town 
resolutions as in effect from time to time.  

(E) Permits 
(1) Except for the signs specified in paragraph (B), no sign may be erected and maintained until a 

Sign Permit has been issued by the building official. Applications for a standard sign permit 
issued pursuant to this subsection X-XX shall be submitted to the Town on forms supplied by 
the Town accompanied by an application fee of $35.00. Applications for permits issued 
pursuant to subsection X-XX, for signs erected over Town-owned streets and alley rights-of-
way pursuant to a revocable right-of-way permit, shall be submitted to the Town on forms 
supplied by the Town accompanied by an application fee of $75.00.  

(2) The Building Inspector shall grant a permit only for signs which will be in compliance with the 
requirements of this Subsection.  

(3) The total sign face area of signs required to have a permit per property, other than those 
restricted by subsection (6), shall not exceed the lesser of one square foot per foot of lineal 
street frontage of the property abutting Town streets or 150 square feet. When more than one 
building/and or business is on the property, the property street frontage shall be allocated 
among the buildings and/or businesses accordingly, unless otherwise approved through a 
Master Sign Plan. Total sign face area in excess of 150 square feet shall not be allowed for any 
property unless approved through a Master Sign Plan applicable to that property.  

(4) A Building Permit is also required for any sign with a cost or value over $1,000.00  
(5) No permit for a sign shall be allowed in the Residential Districts.  
(6) The total sign face area of signs required to have a permit for businesses within the Downtown 

Services Zoning District shall not exceed 12 square feet per business. All signs within said 
District shall be non-illuminated and attached to the building structures, no higher than the 
roof line.  

(F) Performance Criteria 
All signs shall meet the requirements of this paragraph (F) whether a permit is required or not.  
(1) All signs shall be maintained in good, legible and safe condition.  
(2) No sign shall be erected or maintained which creates a traffic or other safety hazard.  
(3) All signs shall be constructed and maintained in accordance with any applicable provisions of 

the Town's building codes.  
(4) All signs shall be erected and maintained in accordance with applicable requirements of State 

law.  
(5) No part of any sign shall be above the roof or parapet of the highest building on the property 

and no higher than 35 feet. No part of any freestanding sign shall be higher than 20 feet above 
finished grade.  

(6) No sign may be erected or maintained which creates a public or private nuisance, or which 
unreasonably interferes with the reasonable enjoyment of the adjacent property by reason of 
unreasonable light, shade or other effects.  

(7) No sign shall be larger than 32 square feet in area, except a freestanding sign with more than 
one business advertised may have a sign face up to 56 square feet, unless approved through 
a Master Sign Plan applicable to the building. No sign shall have more than two sign faces.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 60 of 79 

(8) Signs may be erected only on property which the sign owner has a legal right to erect such 
sign.  

(9) All temporary signs must comply with the size restrictions set forth in subsection X-XX. Portable 
or wheeled signs displayed outside of buildings must be located so as to not impede with 
vehicular or pedestrian traffic, or create a traffic hazard or safety hazard or other nuisance, 
and must be removed at times when the advertised use or activity is not open for business.  

(10) No more than 50 percent of any sign face may be internally illuminated.  
(11) Materials. Signs lit with a dark-skies compliant external source are recommended over 

internally lit signs. A "halo" type sign, which uses solid letters with a light source behind them, 
illuminating the wall around the letters, are acceptable. If internally illuminated signs must be 
used, illumination of letters and graphics is allowed; however, illumination of the background 
is prohibited.  

(G) Signs in Public Rights-of-Way 
Signs, other than signs belonging to the Town or sponsored by the Town, conforming to size limits 
of this Subsection 7-3-17, may be erected over Town-owned streets and alley rights-of-way 
pursuant to a revocable right-of-way permit issued pursuant to either paragraph (1) or (2) of this 
subsection only on the following conditions, in addition to other applicable requirements of this 
Subsection:  
(1) Projecting signs:  

(a) The sign must be supported and attached to a building.  
(b) The sign may extend no more than five feet from the building. If the sign is printed on a 

retractable awning, the awning may extend no more than ten feet from the building. A 
sign may extend no more than five feet across Town owned right-of-way. If the sign is 
printed on a retractable awning, the awning may extend no more than ten feet across 
Town owned right-of-way.  

(c) No part of the sign may be less than ten feet above the ground over Town right-of-way, 
except for a sign printed on an awning, the awning shall be at least seven feet above the 
ground.  

(d) That portion of any sign face located over the Town right-of-way shall be no larger than 
20 square feet in area.  

(e) No more than one sign per business may extend over the Town right-of-way.  
(f) No sign with its face parallel to the wall of the building to which it is attached, except for 

those printed on an awning, may extend more than 12 inches from the building, nor more 
than 12 inches over public property.  

(g) Plans for signs over Town rights-of-way must be submitted with applicable fee, reviewed 
and approved by the Town Administrative Staff.  

(h) The revocable permit may be revoked by the Town at any time for any reasonable reason.  
(i) Proof of insurance shall be provided to the Town.  
(j) The sign may identify or advertise only that activity or use conducted upon or related to 

the abutting premises.  
(2) Portable signs:  

(a) The sign may identify or advertise only that activity or use conducted upon or related to 
the abutting premises.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 61 of 79 

(b) No more than one sign per business may be placed on Town right-of-way.  
(c) The proposal for a portable sign on Town right-of-way must be submitted with applicable 

fee, reviewed and approved by the Town Administrative Staff.  
(d) The revocable permit shall specify the authorized location, and may be revoked by the 

Town at any time for any reasonable reason.  
(e) Proof of insurance shall be provided to the Town.  
(f) The sign must be located so that it does not interfere with Town use, impede vehicular or 

pedestrian traffic, or create a traffic or safety hazard or other nuisance.  
(g) The sign must be removed at times when the advertised use or activity is not open for 

business.  
(H) General Provisions 

(1) The area of a sign face shall include the surface area of a sign, including non-structural trim 
and decoration, but excluding supports or uprights. The face area of a sign painted or hung on 
a wall of a building, or on an awning, shall include all the area within a perimeter surrounding 
all words, symbols, designs and coloring, distinctive from the wall upon which it is painted. 
Only one side of double-faced signs that convey the same message on both faces shall be 
included for purposes of this calculation.  

(2) As used in this Subsection, "sign" means and includes any object, device, or message which is 
used to advertise, identify, display, direct, attract attention, or convey any message concerning 
any object, person, institution, organization, business, products, service, event, or location by 
any means, including words, letters, figures, designs, symbols, fixtures, colors, motion, 
illumination, or projection, and anything else commonly known as a "sign".  

(I) Nonconforming Signs 
(1) All signs shall at all times be maintained in strict conformity with the performance criteria of 

paragraphs (F)(1), (2), (3), (4), (6) or (8). All Master Sign Plans previously approved by the 
Town under subsection 7-3-12(J) prior to April 15, 2019 shall be maintained in strict conformity 
with such Town approval. Any signs not in compliance with these specific performance criteria 
and/or Master Sign Plans approved prior to April 15, 2019 shall be removed.  

(2) All signs shall at all times be maintained in strict conformity with the performance criteria of 
paragraph (F). Any sign not in compliance with paragraph (F) shall be removed.  

(3) The right to maintain a nonconforming sign shall be terminated and the sign removed or 
brought into full compliance with this Subsection under the following conditions: 
(a) Abandonment of the sign, abandonment or termination of the related business, an 

interruption in continuance of the business for six months.  
(b) A violation of any of the performance criteria of paragraph (F)(1), (2), (3), (4), (6) or (8).  
(c) The destruction of the sign, removal of the sign or damage of the sign, such that the cost 

of replacement or repair is greater than 50 percent of the replacement cost of the original 
sign.  

(d) The creation of any additional violation of or nonconformity with these regulations.  
(4) A list of nonconforming signs shall be developed and maintained by the building inspector with 

owners notified and given a copy of paragraph (I).  
   



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 62 of 79 

(J) Master Sign Plans 
(1) Purpose: To provide flexibility for the amount of signage and size of signs for multi-tenant 

buildings and developments to ensure signage is available for business and facility wayfinding 
and identification. To protect the health, safety and welfare of the community while preserving 
Town aesthetics.  

(2) Applicability:  
(a) A Master Sign Plan shall be encouraged for all properties with multi-tenant buildings and/or 

multiple buildings in which three or more nonresidential tenants or businesses are present.  
(b) Any property with multiple-tenant buildings or multiple buildings in which three or more 

nonresidential tenants existing at the time of adoption of this Section that does not have 
a Master Sign Plan is encouraged to apply for a Master Sign Plan at the time of application 
for a new sign at the site.  

(c) Any property owner with multi-tenant and/or multiple buildings in which two or more 
nonresidential tenants or businesses are present, may apply for a Master Sign Plan.  

(3) General Regulations:  
(a) All signs subject to a Master Sign Plan shall apply for and receive a sign permit before any 

sign may be installed.  
(b) All signs on the site shall conform at all times to the approved Master Sign Plan and other 

applicable sign regulations.  
(c) Master Sign Plan shall run with the property for which it was issued and not with individual 

tenants or businesses.  
(d) Applications for a Master Sign Plan shall be submitted to the Town on forms supplied by 

the Town accompanied by the fee per Subsection X-XX. At a minimum the applicant shall 
submit the following information to the Town:  
(i) Identification of the property for which the Master Sign Plan application shall apply; 
(ii) Proof of property ownership, or partial ownership, and signatures from all property 

owners included in the proposed Master Sign Plan;  
(iii) Total sign area allowed per Subsection X-XX and the total sign area requested with the 

Master Sign Plan;  
(iv) Site plan showing location of all existing and proposed signs on property, with distance 

from property lines;  
(v) Building elevations/pictures showing location of all existing and proposed signs on 

property, with height of all signs from the ground;  
(vi) Dimensions and type of all existing and proposed signs, including the unit 

number/address for each;  
(vii) Any proposed lighting for the signs, including location, type, kelvin and lumens for 

each fixture;  
(viii) Proof that the criteria for approval have been met.  

(e) Through these Master Sign Plan regulations the following deviations from the specified 
dimensional requirements may be considered.  
(i) A free-standing sign may be up to 30 percent larger than the 56 square feet limitation 

of subsection X-XX.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 63 of 79 

(ii) Up to 30 percent more than the allocated square footage per subsection X-XX of sign 
area may be allowed.  

Deviations shall not be considered for any other sign regulations in the Ridgway Municipal 
Code.  

(4) Criteria for Approval of the proposed Master Sign Plan:  
(a) Will not be contrary to the public health, safety or welfare;  
(b) Will not create traffic hazards;  
(c) Provides for adequate assurances of safety from natural conditions such as wind, snow 

and ice as it relates to the proposed signs;  
(d) Will not unreasonably interfere with neighboring commercial businesses or properties;  
(e) Provides for signs that are reasonably necessary to operate the business or businesses on 

the property;  
(f) The burden shall be on the applicate to show that these criteria have been met.  

(5) Review Procedure:  
(a) Within 14 days of receipt of a completed application accompanied by the applicable fee for 

a Master Sign Plan, or a minor change to an existing Master Sign Plan, the Town will 
administratively approve or deny the application according to the Criteria for Approval. It 
shall not be necessary for the Town to provide written findings or conclusions, except upon 
request of the applicant.  
(i) To the extent an application for a Master Sign Plan or minor change is denied in whole 

or in part, the requesting party may appeal to the Planning Commission as set forth in 
paragraph (5)(b) of this subsection. Such appeal shall be in writing and submitted 
within seven days of the Towns decision and review shall be de novo. 

(b) Within 14 days of receipt of a completed application accompanied by the applicable fee for 
a major change to a Master Sign Plan, or an appeal of a denial of a Master Sign Plan, or 
minor change to a Master Sign Plan, the Planning Commission will set a hearing:  
(i) The hearing shall be heard at the next regularly scheduled Planning Commission 

meeting for which proper notice of the hearing can be made, and no later than 40 
days after receipt of a completed application accompanied by the applicable fee for a 
major change to a Master Sign Plan, or an appeal of a denial of a Master Sign Plan, or 
minor change of a Master Sign Plan. A hearing that must be continued due to time 
constraints or other delays, may be continued for an additional seven days beyond the 
40-day deadline, assuming the hearing was commenced within the 40-day deadline. 
By mutual agreement, the applicant and the Planning Commission may also extend 
the 40-day and seven-day deadlines set forth in this subsection.  

(ii) At the scheduled hearing, the applicant and other interested parties may appear and 
present such evidence and testimony as they may desire. Anyone presenting evidence 
or testimony shall be subject to cross-examination by other interested parties, although 
the Planning Commission may limit testimony, evidence and cross-examination which 
is merely cumulative and is not required to follow any set procedure during the hearing, 
nor strictly follow the Rules of Evidence as applied by the Court. The hearing should 
be tape recorded or otherwise electronically recorded. The application, or other 
interested party may, if so desires, have the hearing recorded by a court reporter, at 
the applicant's sole expense. The burden is upon the applicant in all cases to establish 
that the applicable criteria for any action are met.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 64 of 79 

(iii) Notice of the hearing shall be posted at Town Hall at least ten days before the hearing, 
and posted visibly for each street frontage abutting the property for at least ten days 
prior to the hearing, in addition to any other notice required by Town regulations.  

(iv) The Planning Commission shall announce its decision according to the Criteria for 
Approval within 14 days of completion of the hearing. It shall not be necessary for the 
Planning Commission to provide written findings or conclusions, except upon request 
of the applicant, or other party appearing or participating in the in the hearing. The 
decision of the Planning Commission with respect to an application for major change 
of to a Master Sign Plan, or an appeal of a denial of a Master Sign Plan or minor change 
to a Master Sign Plan shall be final, subject only to review under Rule 106 of the 
Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure. Upon the filing of an appeal under Rule 106, the 
Town shall cause a transcript of any tape recording of the hearing to be made and 
certified to the court, and the party filings such appeal or such review, shall pay the 
Town the reasonable cost incurred in producing such transcript, unless such party has 
a transcript produced by a court reporter at the applicant's expense.  

(v) The Planning Commission may approve the requested action only upon finding that all 
applicable criteria and requirements of these Master Sign Plan regulations or other 
Town ordinances have been met. If it determines such criteria have not been met, the 
application shall be denied. The application may be granted upon conditions or 
limitations which the Planning Commission determines are necessary in order to ensure 
that the applicable criteria are met. Such conditions or limitations shall be provided to 
the applicant and interested parties in writing as part of the decision, subject only to 
review under Rule 106 of the Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure.  

(6) Amendments to Approve Master Sign Plans:  
(a) Minor Changes: Minor changes are those changes that do not alter the overall 

characteristics of the existing Master Sign Plan and that create no adverse impacts on 
adjacent uses, infrastructure, or public safety. Examples of what may be considered a 
minor change include, but are not limited to:  
(i) Changes in the location of a sign;  
(ii) Replacement of existing signs that are the same size or smaller than the existing sign; 

and  
(iii) Changes in the number of signs, as long as the aggregate square footage remains the 

same.  
(b) Major Changes: Major changes are those that can alter the overall character of the Master 

Sign Plan and which could create adverse impacts on adjacent uses or public infrastructure. 
Examples of what may be considered a major change include, but are not limited to:  
(i) Changes in the total square footage of the Master Sign Plan; and  
(ii) Requests for deviations per subsection X-XX. 

 
7-4-7 LANDSCAPE REGULATIONS  

(A) Intent 
(1) The purpose of this Section is to provide clear landscaping requirements that will contribute to 

high quality development and sustainable, water-saving practices. Landscaping is an important 
element of the character of the Town of Ridgway that is both functional and aesthetic and the 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 65 of 79 

Town's top objective is to prioritize low-water use and regionally appropriate design for 
materials and vegetation. These landscaping regulations will endeavor to achieve the following: 
(a) Preserve and enhance a well-maintained landscape that preserves the overall quality and 

character of the community. 
(b) Conserve water resources. 
(c) Provide visual buffers and screening. 
(d) Provide separation between pedestrian and vehicular uses. 
(e) Mitigate adverse effects of drainage and weeds. 
(f) Allow residents creativity and flexibility and landscape design. 

(2) Drought-tolerant, water-wise plants are to be used whenever possible and appropriate. Water 
wise is a term used throughout this chapter to describe the method of planting which works to 
promote water conservation by minimizing the amount of native vegetation removed, limiting 
new vegetation to native and drought tolerant species, limiting the amount and type of 
irrigation, and other related measures to conserve water and create a native landscape. 

(3) Landscaping should be used to promote the visual aesthetic of the development from main 
travel corridors, as well as the pedestrian experience within, through shade trees, plantings, 
context-appropriate public art and seating. Buffers and medians facilitate drainage during 
storm events and provide valuable areas for snow storage during the winter. Landscaping that 
is sustainable, visually appealing, and regionally appropriate is required for all new 
development. 

(B) Applicability 
(1) This chapter establishes minimum landscaping standards which apply to all residential and 

nonresidential properties within the Town of Ridgway. 
(2) The following projects shall comply with the landscaping standards set forth in this chapter: 

(a) Projects which require a site plan review; 
(b) New commercial, residential, or mixed use construction; 
(c) New landscape projects and rehabilitation projects that exceed 25 percent of the lot size; 
(d) Change of use; or 
(e) Public rights-of-way improvements. 

(3) A building permit for new construction or landscape improvements shall not be issued until a 
conforming Landscape Plan is approved by the Town. A permanent Certificate of Occupancy 
will not be issued until the Town determines that the landscaping contemplated by the 
approved plan has been properly installed. A temporary Certificate of Occupancy may be issued 
if completion of landscaping improvements is delayed by winter weather. 

(4) All standards and policies adopted within the Town of Ridgway Water Conservation and 
Management Plan, Master Plan, and Commercial Design Guidelines should be implemented 
with the landscape regulations of this chapter. 

(C) Site and Landscape Plan Development 
(1) Landscape Plan Requirements. 

(a) A landscape plan, as set forth in this Section, shall be required for all projects identified in 
subsection X-XX and shall be submitted to the Town for approval. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 66 of 79 

(b) The landscape plan shall be drawn to scale of one inch equals 40 feet, or larger, and may 
be included on the Site Plan. The landscape plan shall include the following information: 
(i) Property lines and dimensions; 
(ii) Building footprint, driveways, and vehicle circulation; 
(iii) Existing and finished grade; 
(iv) North arrow and scale; 
(v) Name of applicant and landscape consultant or architect (if applicable); 
(vi) Legend indicating all proposed plant materials with common and botanical names, 

indication of drought tolerant plants, sizes, maximum spacing, caliper size, and 
quantities; 

(vii) Method of establishing and maintaining plant materials; 
(viii) Surface drainage characteristics and any proposed structures, including, but not 

limited to, inlets, retention/detention ponds, swales, permeable surfaces, down spouts; 
(ix) Location of all plant material, other natural features, including, but not limited to, 

wetlands, water bodies, rock outcroppings, detention areas, retaining walls, and 
buildings and paved areas (existing and proposed); 

(x) Plantings should be shown as they would be at full maturity; 
(xi) Identification and percentage of ground surfaces and materials by types, such as 

paving, sod, mulch, edger, seed mixes, shrubs, and flower beds; 
(xii) Clearly labeled locations and calculations for amounts of required landscaping, 

including the square footage and percentage of required landscape area, living 
materials, and non-living materials as well as required and provided number of trees, 
drought tolerant plantings, and any required landscaping, including islands and trees, 
within parking areas; 

(xiii) Identify any existing trees, shrubs, or live groundcover that will remain on the 
property and how they will be protected from damage during construction; 

(xiv) The location and square footage of all areas; 
(xv) Identify construction debris storage and staging areas; and 
(xvi) Additional information as may be required by the Town. 

(D) Water Conservation 
(1) Water Conservation Planting: All landscaping should be designed to incorporate water 

conservation materials and techniques through application of water wise landscape principles. 
In general, water wise landscaping and drip irrigation are required while large irrigated areas 
requiring spray heads are strongly discouraged. 

(2) Regionally Appropriate: All landscaping should be regionally appropriate and materials shall be 
suitable for local soil conditions and climate. To help guide plant selection, a list of 
recommended and prohibited species is included in Subsection X-XX, Species List. 

(E) Landscaping Required 
(1) Purpose: The purpose of this section is to establish minimum landscaping requirements for 

residential, non-residential and mixed uses. 
(a) All areas on a lot must be treated with landscaping. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 67 of 79 

(b) Landscaped area may include a combination of trees, shrubs, groundcovers (live and non-
live), decorative landscape stone or rock, or other landscaping material that does not 
conflict with other provisions of this Chapter. 
(i) Live ground cover is considered to be material such as native grasses wildflowers, turf 

and planting beds. 
(ii) Non-live ground cover is considered to be material such as bark mulch, flagstone, rock, 

gravel, artificial turf or the like. 
(iii) The minimum live and non-live ground cover percentages, as seen in the landscaping 

requirements table, count as part of the overall minimum landscaped area, not in 
addition to. 

(2) At least 25 percent of the required landscape area shall be provided in the front yard of the 
property. The landscaping requirements table below demonstrates the required landscape area 
for all parcels in all zoning districts. 
 

Landscaping Requirements 

Zoning 
District 

Min. 
Required 
Landscaped 
Area 2 

Min % of 
Required 
Landscaped 
Area Live 
Ground Cover 

Min. % of 
Required 
Landscaped 
Area Non-Live 
Ground Cover 

Min. # of 
Trees for 
Required 
Landscaped 
Area 3 

Min. # of 
Shrubs for 
Required 
Landscaped 
Area 4 

Residential Uses 

R 50% 20% 30% 1 for every 
2,000 sq. ft. 

2 for every 
3,000 sq. ft. 

HR 40% 20% 20% 1 for every 
2,000 sq. ft. 

2 for every 
3,000 sq. ft. 

MR 30% 20% 20% 1 for every 
2,000 sq. ft. 

2 for every 
3,000 sq. ft. 

FD¹ 50% 20% 30% 1 for every 
2,000 sq. ft. 

2 for every 
3,000 sq. ft. 

DS 50% 20% 30% 1 for every 
2,000 sq. ft. 

2 for every 
3,000 sq. ft. 

Non-Residential or Mixed Uses 

HB See X-XX(C) Below 

GC 30% 10% 20% 1 for every 
2,000 sq. ft. 

2 for every 
3,500 sq. ft. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 68 of 79 

Landscaping Requirements 

Zoning 
District 

Min. 
Required 
Landscaped 
Area 2 

Min % of 
Required 
Landscaped 
Area Live 
Ground Cover 

Min. % of 
Required 
Landscaped 
Area Non-Live 
Ground Cover 

Min. # of 
Trees for 
Required 
Landscaped 
Area 3 

Min. # of 
Shrubs for 
Required 
Landscaped 
Area 4 

I-1 30% 5% 15% 1 for every 
2,500 sq. ft. 

2 for every 
4,000 sq. ft. 

I-2 30% 5% 15% 1 for every 
2,500 sq. ft. 

2 for every 
4,000 sq. ft. 

1 See subsection X-XX (B) for exemptions for uses that are non-residential in the FD zoning 
district. 
2 For all residential uses that are single-family and duplex dwellings, a maximum of one acre 
of area shall be used to calculate the minimum required landscape area. 
3 The minimum number of trees are a sum total of all required trees. Any additional tree 
requirements (such as street trees) shall be counted as part of this minimum number of 
required trees. 
4 Four shrubs can be counted for one required tree. A minimum of one tree is always required 
per lot. 

(3) Historic Business (HB) District: This district is intended to provide for zero lot lines and full lot 
coverage. Therefore, there is no minimum required landscaped area as defined in this chapter. 
However, the following shall apply: 
(a) Right-of-way landscaping shall be required pursuant to Subsection X-XX. 
(b) If a parking lot is provided on-site, parking lot landscaping shall be required pursuant to 

Subsection X-XX. 
(c) Required landscaped area for properties zoned HB is required for any area not used for a 

building or parking lot. 
(F) General Landscape Standards 

(1) Trees: Trees shall have a minimum caliper of one and one-half inches for deciduous trees and 
a five-foot minimum height for evergreens. In the case of fractional requirements for the 
number of trees, the number required shall be rounded up to the next whole number. Existing 
trees that are in good health, as determined by the Town Manager, shall be counted as one 
and one-half trees for the minimum tree requirement. 

(2) Shrubs: Shrubs shall be a minimum five-gallon size. Decorative grasses are to be counted as 
shrubs. In the case of fractional requirements for the number of shrubs, the number required 
shall be rounded up to the next whole number. 

(3) Groundcover: Area can be made up of vegetative materials, organic or inorganic mulch, 
flowerbeds, or other acceptable landscape material. Groundcover must be adequate to ensure 
that dust cannot blow from the property and that the soil is stabilized to ensure that erosion is 
kept to a minimum, it must also remain free of noxious weeds as defined as Ouray County 
Weed Manager. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 69 of 79 

(4) Turf: No more than 1,500 square feet or ten percent of the required landscaped area, 
whichever is less, can be high water turf. High water turf should only be used in areas of high 
use. Native, non-irrigated grass may be used in area of low use, low visibility areas. 

(5) Species Diversity: To prevent uniformity and insect or disease susceptibility, species diversity 
is required, and extensive monocultures of trees are prohibited. Species diversity does not 
apply to existing trees. The following requirements shall be met: 

Number of required 
trees on site 

Maximum percentage 
of any one species 

1—5 No diversity 

6—19 33% 

20 or more 25% 

 
(6) Irrigation: To ensure best practices for water conservation, all new landscaping shall comply 

with the following irrigation standards: 
(a) Irrigation should be limited to between the hours of 6:00 P.M. and 9:00 A.M. 
(b) All irrigation systems shall be automatic and have moisture sensors installed. 
(c) Where possible, non-potable irrigation systems should be used to irrigate landscape. 

(7) Screening and Buffering: 
(a) Screening and landscape buffers soften the less desirable impacts of development and can 

provide a certain element of safety in commercial areas where significant pedestrian 
interactions are more likely to occur. Buffers should be constructed to mitigate the view, 
light pollution (including light trespass and glare), noise, heat, and odor impacts of vehicles, 
pavement, and higher intensity uses, and other potential negative effects of development. 

(b) Buffering shall be provided when a non-residential use is adjacent to a residential use. It 
shall be the responsibility of the non-residential use to provide the adequate buffer from 
the residential use in a manner consistent with these regulations. The buffer should include 
a mix of trees, fencing, landscape berms, and other materials appropriate to mitigate 
visual, audible, and other impact the non-residential use may have on the residences. 

(c) Mechanical Equipment: Ground mounted or rooftop equipment, shall be screened from 
public rights-of-way on all sides to its full height. Ground level mechanical equipment shall 
be screened with landscaping, berms, fences, or architectural walls. Rooftop units shall be 
screened with materials and colors to match the building. 

(d) Storage Areas: All open storage areas shall be screened from public rights-of-way and 
adjacent property by use of landscaping, berms, fencing, or a combination of landscaping 
and other structural elements to a height of six feet. 

(e) Fencing can be used as a method for screening and buffering, provided the fencing meets 
the requirements of Section X-X. 

(f) Additional landscape screening above the minimum requirements of this Section may be 
required when it is determined by the Town Manager, Town Manager's designee, Planning 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 70 of 79 

and Zoning Commission, or Town Council to be in the best interest of the affected 
properties. 

(8) Sight Triangles: All plant material, walls, fences, berms and/or structures shall not exceed 24 
inches in height when located on any corner within a triangular area formed by the curb lines 
and a line connecting them at points 15 feet from the intersection of the curb lines. 

(9) Existing Plantings: Existing trees, shrubs, and live groundcover that are in good health should 
be retained and not destroyed during the construction process. The health of the trees shall 
be determined by the Town Manager. These plants will be counted towards the required 
landscaping. 

(10) Revegetation: Development activities should only disturb, clear, or grade the area 
necessary for construction. All areas disturbed by grading or construction, not being formally 
landscaped, shall be revegetated with native seeding and/or other approved plant materials in 
a method acceptable to the Town. 

(11) Slopes: Removal of existing vegetation, including ground cover and trees, is strongly 
discouraged on slopes greater than 30 percent. Development on slopes greater than 15 percent 
shall maintain the maximum vegetative cover possible to protect soils, prevent land slippage, 
and retain wildlife habitat and open space resources. A minimum of 50 percent of vegetation 
on slopes greater than 15 percent shall not be disturbed during development. 

(G) Parking Lot Landscape Standards 
(1) Islands or Rain Gardens: A landscape island and/or rain garden shall be provided in parking 

lots along the ends of the parking rows. Islands for parking lots in residential uses shall be 
used to separate rows of six or more parking spaces and shall include a minimum of one tree. 
For nonresidential uses, islands shall be used to separate rows of 12 or more parking spaces 
and shall include a minimum of two trees. Islands shall be a minimum of six feet wide and as 
long as the adjacent parking space(s). 

(2) Trees shall be incorporated with parking lot design as to provide parking lot shading. 
(3) Catchment areas: Landscaped or grassed catchments areas and similar designs should be used 

for managing, controlling and filtering parking lot and site drainage and should be included as 
part of an overall site drainage plan. 

(H) Right-of-Way Landscape Standards 
(1) Street trees: A landscape area shall be established along the public right-of-way for all non- 

residential uses and shall be a minimum of five feet wide. Such trees shall be placed in the 
center of the landscape area, not within the site triangle, and 20 feet away from any streetlight. 
A minimum of one tree per 50 linear feet of right-of-way is required. Street trees shall have a 
minimum caliper of two and one-half inches for deciduous trees and a six-foot minimum height 
for evergreens. 

(I) Exceptions or Deviations 
(1) Affordable Housing: Landscaping requirements for affordable housing projects may be 

reduced, based on the determination of the Town Manager. Whenever possible, deviations 
from these standards for the purpose of preserving affordable housing or deed restricted 
housing should be identified and provided for in the appropriate document establishing the 
affordability and/or deed restricted provisions for the projects. 

(2) Non-Residential Uses on Properties Zoned FD: If the proposed use in the FD zone district is 
intended to be permanent, these landscape standards shall apply. If, however, an existing use 
is intended to be redeveloped, the Town Manager may waive these requirements until such 
time the property redevelops. Such decision is the sole discretion of the Town Manager. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 71 of 79 

(3) High-Water Turf: High-water turf may be allowed in areas of high-water use such as drainages, 
swales, or downspout locations. 

(4) Administrative approval for deviations from a required standard: Deviations from the landscape 
requirements for up to ten percent may be considered for administrative approval by the Town. 
To request a deviation, a letter explaining the unique situation or hardship preventing the 
project from meeting the minimum landscape requirements shall submitted to the Town Clerk 
and will be at the sole discretion of the Town Manager for approval. 

(J) Species List 
(1) Preferred Species: A list of recommended species for use in Colorado is available from the 

Ouray Country Weed Manager and the Colorado State University Extension Service. The lists 
are not all inclusive but do recommend a variety of plants known to do well in our region of 
Colorado. In general, plants that are not recognized as hardy or suited to the local climate 
should be kept to a minimum. Water wise, drought-tolerant plants are to be used whenever 
possible and appropriate and regionally appropriate species are preferred. 

(2) Prohibited Species. 
(a) Siberian elm and Chinese elm (Ulmus); Cottonwoods that bear cotton (Populus); Purple 

Loosestrife (Lythrum slaicaria); Russian Olive (Elaeagnus angustifolia); and Kentucky Blue 
Grass (Poa pratensis) are prohibited. 

(b) The Town Manager is authorized to prohibit additional species with similar nuisance 
properties. 

(K) Installation Standards 
(1) Living materials shall be adequately watered and maintained to become established. Once 

established watering requirements should be minimized. 
(2) Trees should also be installed in such a way that they will not infringe on solar access, views 

from the adjoining properties, or block a sight distance triangle. 
(3) Easements shall remain clear of all obstacles which may prevent such easement from operating 

within its intended purpose. 
(a) Retaining walls are prohibited from being located in any established easement. 
(b) Trees may only be permitted in utility easements upon written approval of the easement 

holder. 
(L) Maintenance Requirements 

(1) Following completion of the landscaping, the owner or occupant of the property shall maintain 
it in good condition thereafter. Failure to so maintain the landscaping is unlawful and is hereby 
declared to create a nuisance. 

(2) Where approved trees, shrubs, or other landscaping materials die or are removed, it shall be 
the responsibility of the property owner to replace them with materials of a comparable nature 
and size to those originally approved. This continuing obligation shall continue until the 
property is redeveloped at which time the redeveloper shall comply with the requirements of 
this Chapter as they apply to the proposed development at that time. 

(M) Enforcement  
(1) Any violation of this Chapter shall be a violation of the Ridgway Municipal Code and shall be 

enforced pursuant to Chapter 2, Section 4, Administrative Enforcement of the Ridgway 
Municipal Code. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 72 of 79 

 
7-4-8 RESIDENTIAL DESIGN STANDARDS 

(A) Legislative Declaration 
Ridgway is defined in part by architecture and neighborhoods that vary in age and character. A 
goal of the Town's Master Plan is to create a well-integrated community that meets the needs of 
residents of various income levels, ages and stages of family life cycles. One way of achieving this 
is to encourage a mix of housing types and densities, rather than segregating them into separate 
districts. In accomplishing this, it is acknowledged that the visual appearance of a property affects 
more than just the property involved. New and altered structures impact the surrounding 
neighborhood both in character and property value. These standards have been adopted to 
encourage a mix of housing types, while helping to ensure that this will not be detrimental to the 
character of the neighborhoods or to property values in general.  

(B) Applicability 
(1) Unless otherwise excepted, the regulations set out in this Section 6-6 shall apply to:  

(a) Construction of any residential building, including without limitation construction of Single-
Family, Duplex, Townhouse, Triplex, Fourplex, Cluster Housing, Co-Housing, Multiple-
Family structures, and Accessory Dwelling Units;  

(b) New residential subdivisions;  
(c) Major additions or renovations to an existing residential structure;  
(d) Structures that contain only residential uses that are included as part of a mixed-use 

development.  
(2) Once subjected to these requirements, all residential development and appurtenant sites shall 

thereafter be maintained in conformity with these requirements.  
(C) Exceptions 

These regulations shall not be applicable to manufactured homes, as defined in Subsection X-XX 
and subject to supplemental standards in subsection X-XX.  

(D) Development Standards 
(1) Foundations:  

(a) The foundation must enclose the space beneath the perimeter of the structure. 
Foundations may be constructed of masonry or concrete.  

(b) Perimeter foundations and all supports under the structure must meet the frost depth as 
required in Section 6-1.  

(c) All foundations and interior supports shall be poured on undisturbed or compacted soil.  
(d) All portions of foundations that are above the adjacent finished grade by more than six 

inches shall be finished using the same siding materials as the dwelling or complementary 
materials such as stucco, stone or brick. Cosmetically equivalent split faced block or other 
block with design finish or other materials may be allowed with prior approval of the Town.  

(e) Unfinished masonry blocks, plywood, other materials or earth backfill that exceeds a grade 
of two-foot horizontal for each one foot of raise are not permitted.  

(f) Exceptions to the above standards may be allowed where foundations must be stepped to 
address a slope in the natural grade of the site. However, such deviations to these 
standards shall be kept to the minimum required to address the specific site condition.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 73 of 79 

(2) Exterior Siding:  
(a) Exterior siding shall be made of non-reflective metal or vinyl lap, wood, simulated wood 

grain products, painted or colored stucco, brick, stone, or any combination of these 
materials, or other cosmetically equivalent materials with prior approval of the Town. 

(b) Materials intended to be painted or finished in any manner, such as wood products or 
stucco, shall not be accepted until painted or finished.  

(3) Roof Structure:  
(a) Provide varied roof forms or roof forms that are compatible with those used on adjacent 

homes.  
(b) Sloped roofs must have an overhang at the eaves and gable ends of not less than 12 inches 

excluding rain gutters measured from the vertical side of the dwelling. This required 
overhang shall not apply to areas over porches, alcoves and other appendages, which 
together do not exceed 25 percent of the length of the façade on which they are located. 
Flatter roofs are permitted only if any equipment on the roof is screened from view from 
each street on which the lot fronts, and from abutting lots, provided, however, that 
screening that would interfere with the efficient operation of rooftop solar equipment shall 
not be required.  

(c) A-frame designs are not permitted.  
(d) Mansard roofs are only permitted if the base of the roof is above the second story of the 

structure.  
(4) Sidewalks: Sidewalks shall be installed in accordance with Town specifications along the 

adjoining street frontages prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy unless the Town 
allows execution of a recordable covenant to participate in an assessment district, in cases 
where immediate construction is not practical.  

(5) Mechanical Equipment:  
(a) Propane storage tanks shall not be placed in the front or street side yard unless placed 

underground. Propane tank placement must also meet applicable code requirements, 
which in most cases require that the tank be no less than ten feet from any property line 
and ten feet from any building.  

(b) Swamp coolers, AC units, heat pumps and other mechanical equipment shall not be placed 
in the front yard. When placed in the street side yard, mechanical equipment should be 
screened from view from the street using landscaping, walls or fences which are 
complimentary to the building design.  

(6) Street Address Number: Each residence shall display the street address number in a location 
that is easily visible from the street with each character not less than four inches nor more 
than eight inches in height.  

(7) A landscaping plan pursuant to RMC X-X, shall be submitted for all new residential plans as 
required by Subsection X-X.  

(8) Additions to Existing or New Homes: Any additions or exterior remodeling shall respect the 
architectural character, detailing, lines and proportions of the existing structure. Additions shall 
be so integrated into the existing structure that they are difficult to identify as being added 
and shall appear to have been a part of the original design of the structure. A "face lift" on the 
existing building may be used in accomplishing this result. Attached or detached garages, 
carports, patio covers or walls should be designed in the same architectural style as the main 
structure and be built of similar or compatible materials.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 74 of 79 

(E) Architectural Standards 
(1) The design of all new residential development and major additions shall meet each of the 

following architectural design objectives. Corner lots shall meet these objectives on both the 
front and side street elevations.  
(a) Provide relief and contrast to the building's front and side street elevations incorporating 

solids and voids to break up plain wall surfaces.  
(b) Provide variation of building mass and height, responding to the existing development 

context and adjacent zoning districts.  
(c) Garage doors shall not dominate the front elevation.  
(d) No two detached Single-family dwellings, Duplex dwelling structures, Townhome, Triplex 

dwelling structures, or Fourplex dwelling structures of substantially similar elevations shall 
be located adjacent to each other.  

(2) The Town Manager or his/her designee shall promulgate design guidelines to provide 
assistance in meeting these requirements.  

(F) Deviations 
(1) The Planning and Zoning Commission may approve deviations from one or more of the 

requirements of this Section 6-6 on the basis of finding that:  
(a) The proposed structure will be compatible and harmonious with structures in the 

immediate vicinity; and either  
(b) The proposed architecture or construction standards provide compensating features that 

meet the intent and objectives of these standards; or  
(c) The proposed structure(s) support(s) the expansion of workforce housing options within 

the Town of Ridgway.  
(2) Requests for deviations shall be reviewed pursuant to the procedures of Subsection 7-3-23, 

subject to the fees set in Subsection 7-3-25.  
(G) Enforcement and Administration 

(1) The Town Manager or his/her designee shall be responsible for the interpretation, 
administration and enforcement of the provisions of these regulations, as amended, and of any 
decisions entered by the Planning and Zoning Commission, Board of Adjustment or Town 
Council, pursuant to such section.  

(2) No building permit, occupancy permit, or other permit or license shall be issued, nor shall any 
other action of approval be taken or allowed by the Town for any property which is not in 
compliance with the provisions of these regulations and any decision issued pursuant hereto.  

(3) Whenever necessary to make an inspection to enforce any of the provisions of these 
regulations or any provision of a decision entered, pursuant to this Subsection, or whenever 
there is reasonable cause to believe that a violation of any provision of these regulations or of 
any decision issued pursuant to this Subsection exists, the Marshal, Town Manager, or their 
authorized representative shall have the right to enter upon such building or premises at all 
reasonable times for purposes of inspection or to perform any other duty imposed by this 
Subsection. Prior to entry, he shall identify himself and request permission to enter from the 
occupant or person in charge of the premise if they can be found by reasonable efforts. If 
entry is refused, he shall have recourse to any remedy provided by law to secure entry.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 75 of 79 

(4) The Town may maintain an action in a court of competent jurisdiction to enjoin any violation 
of these regulations or of the terms of any decision entered pursuant to this Subsection. In the 
alternative, the Town may issue an administrative citation under Section 2-4.  

(5) It shall be unlawful to violate any of the provisions of these regulations, or the terms of any 
decision entered pursuant to this Subsection. Any person convicted of such a violation may be 
punished by a fine of up to $300.00. Each day any violations continues shall constitute a 
separate violation.  

(6) Continuing violations of this Subsection, or the terms of any decision issued pursuant to this 
Subsection, are hereby declared to be a nuisance and may be abated in any lawful manner.  

(7) In addition to the fees contained in this Chapter 6, the applicant shall reimburse the Town for 
all out-of-pocket costs incurred during the review including legal fees, postage, notice and 
publishing costs, map costs, engineering fees, etc., together with wages and associated payroll 
costs for contract employees, plus ten percent to cover overhead and administration. The Town 
shall bill the applicant periodically as such costs are incurred. Payment is due within 30 days. 
Bills not paid by the due date shall accrue interest at the rate of one and one-half percent per 
month or part thereof. No plat shall be recorded, improvement accepted, lien released, building 
permit issued, tap approved or other final approval action taken until all fees then due are paid 
to the Town. Such fees may be certified to the County Treasurer for collection as delinquent 
charges against the property concerned.  

 
7-4-9 REGULATIONS FOR MANUFACTURED HOMES, TRAVEL HOMES, AND OTHER FACTORY-
BUILT HOUSING. [Brought in from Ch. 6, Sec. 3 and Ch. 8, Sec. 1] 

(A) Manufactured Home Park Design Requirements. 
(1) Manufactured home parks may be located only where allowed by Town Zoning Regulations, 

and shall be a minimum of two acres. 
(2) All manufactured home parks shall, as a minimum, comply with the regulations for 

manufactured home parks issued by the State of Colorado and the requirements of this Section. 
In the event of any conflict between the State regulations and the requirements of this Section 
or other ordinances and regulations of the Town, those regulations which are more stringent 
shall apply. 

(3) Each manufactured home space may have only one manufactured home located on it and shall 
comply with the dimensional requirements of this Subsection. All spaces shall be adequately 
identified by a number or letter. 
(a) Minimum Lot area: 2,500 square feet. 
(b) Minimum Setbacks: 

(i) Front: Ten feet. 
(ii) Rear: Eight feet. 
(iii) Side on Corner Space: Seven and one-half feet. 
(iv) Side: Five feet. 

(c) Accessory structures which are not attached to the manufactured home are not subject to 
the rear and side yard setbacks, but shall be set back a minimum of two feet. 

(4) The manufactured home park developer shall provide the following improvements: 
(a) A Town water system to serve each lot, including fire hydrants and fire mains. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 76 of 79 

(b) A sanitary sewer system. 
(c) Fifty-foot wide streets with a minimum paved width of 30 feet. 
(d) A storm drainage system. 
(e) Street signs, streetlights. 
(f) Concrete valley pans four feet in width, or curbs, gutters and four-foot wide sidewalks shall 

be installed on each side of each street. 
(g) A park or playground occupying at least five percent of the area of the manufactured home 

park to be maintained by the manufactured home park owner. 
(5) Arrangements to provide public utilities, including, if available, gas, electricity, telephone and 

cable television, shall be made with the utility companies for service to each space. 
(B) Travel Home Park Design Requirements 

(1) Size and Location: Travel home parks may be located only where allowed by Town Zoning 
Regulations and shall be a minimum of two acres in area. 

(2) All travel home parks shall, as a minimum, comply with applicable State of Colorado Regulations 
for campgrounds and recreation areas and the requirements of this Subsection. In the event 
of any conflict between State Regulations and the requirements of this Section or other Town 
ordinances or regulations, those regulations which are more stringent shall apply. 

(3) Dimensional Requirements: 
(a) All travel homes and any accessory structures shall be at least ten feet from any other 

travel home and accessory structure. 
(b) The number of travel homes in the park shall not exceed 25 travel homes per acre. 

(4) Eight percent of the gross area of the travel home park, or 2,500 square feet, whichever is 
greater, shall be developed and maintained as a park or playground by the park owner. 

(5) The travel home park developer shall provide the following improvements: 
(a) A water system, including fire hydrants and fire mains. 
(b) A sanitary sewer system. 
(c) Paved streets with a minimum paved width as follows: 

(i) One-way/no parking: 11 feet 
(ii) One-way/parking on one side: 18 feet; 
(iii) Two-way/no parking: 24 feet; 
(iv) Two-way/parking on one side: 27 feet; 
(v) Two-way/parking on both sides: 34 feet. 

(d) A storm drainage system. 
(e) Street signs and security lights. 
(f) A service building meeting the requirements of applicable State and Town regulations. 

(6) Plans for all improvements shall be submitted with the site plan and shall be approved by the 
Town prior to the approval of any licenses by the Town Council. All required improvements 
shall comply with Town design and construction standards and specifications. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 77 of 79 

(7) Easements: The Town may require reasonable utility easements to be dedicated to the public 
for the purpose of public and Town utilities. 

(C) Maintenance of Manufactured Homes and Travel Home Parks 
(1) All manufactured home parks and travel home parks shall be maintained in accordance with 

the requirements of this Section, applicable State of Colorado Department of Public Health and 
Environment Regulations, and other applicable regulations of the Town or State. 

(2) The Town Manager or designee, shall have the right to enter upon any manufactured home 
park or travel home park at any reasonable time for the purpose of inspecting the premises to 
determine compliance with this Section or other applicable ordinances and Town and State 
regulations. 

(D) Nonconforming Manufactured Home Parks and Travel Home Parks 
(1) Any manufactured home park or travel home park which at the effective date of this Section, 

or at the time of annexation, if annexed subsequent to the effective date of this Section, which 
was lawfully existing and maintained in accordance with previously applicable County or Town 
regulations and ordinances, but which does not conform or comply with all of the regulations 
provided for in this Section, may be continued to be maintained and used only in compliance 
with the provisions and limitations imposed by this Subsection in addition to the limitations of 
Sections 6-3 and 7-X. Manufactured home parks, or travel home parks which were unlawful or 
illegal and not in compliance with previously applicable regulations shall remain unlawful and 
illegal and subject to abatement or other enforcement action. All manufactured home parks 
and travel home parks shall comply with applicable State regulations immediately. 

(2) If the manufactured home park or travel home park is nonconforming with respect to 
dimensional requirements or other general requirements of the design standards of this 
Section, the following provisions shall apply: 
(a) If the nonconformity is abandoned, removed or corrected for any length of time, such 

nonconformity may not be reestablished. 
(b) No alteration may be made which would increase the amount or degree of the non-

conforming feature. Changes may be made which would decrease the degree or amount 
of deviation from the requirements of this Section. 

(c) If any existing manufactured home is removed from a site or space within or without a 
manufactured home park, no manufactured home may be moved onto such site or space 
which would have the effect of increasing the degree or amount of the nonconformity with 
this Section. 

(E) Administration and Enforcement 
(1) The Town Manager or designee shall administer and enforce this Section. 
(2) It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any provision of this Section. 
(3) Any person convicted of a violation of any of the provisions of this Section shall be punished 

by a fine of not more than $300.00. Each day during which any violation is committed or 
permitted to continue shall be considered to constitute a separate offense. 

(4) Any violation of the provisions of this Section is hereby declared to be a nuisance and may be 
abated in accordance with law. 

(5) In addition to any other remedies the Town may have, it may maintain an action in a court of 
competent jurisdiction to enjoin any violation of or compel compliance with any provision of 
this Section. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 78 of 79 

(6) The Town may refuse to issue any permits required by Town ordinance or grant water or sewer 
taps if the applicant is in violation of any of the provisions of this Section. 
 

7-4-10. NONCONFORMING USES [Brought in from Sec. 7-3-20] 

(A) Any use, building or structure which at the effective date of this Section or at the time of 
annexation, if annexed subsequent to the effective date of this Section, was lawfully existing and 
maintained in accordance with the previously applicable County or Town Regulations and 
Ordinances but which does not conform or comply with all of the regulations provided for in these 
Zoning Regulations, may continue to be maintained and used as a lawful nonconforming use only 
in compliance with the provisions and limitations imposed by this Subsection. Uses, structures or 
buildings which were unlawful or illegal and not in compliance with previously applicable 
Regulations shall remain unlawful, illegal, and subject to abatement or other enforcement action.  

(B) If a use, building or structure is lawfully nonconforming in that it is not a "Use By Right", or a 
"Conditional Use" which has been approved pursuant to the review provisions of Subsection X-XX, 
the following shall apply:  
(1) If the building, manufactured home or structure involved in the use is removed or if it is 

destroyed or damaged so that repair, replacement or reconstruction will cost more than 50 
percent of the fair market value of the building, manufactured home or structure after repair, 
it shall no longer be lawful to use the building, manufactured home or premises except in 
compliance with the Use Regulations for the District within which it is located.  

(2) If the nonconforming use is abandoned or discontinued for a period of six months, then the 
premises may only be used in compliance with the Use Regulations for the District within which 
it is located.  

(3) The use may be continued only substantially as it existed at the effective date of this Section 
or of annexation, and no material change in the type of use shall be allowed, unless the 
Planning Commission determines, following the hearing procedure provided in Subsection X-
XX, that the criteria set out in Subsection X-XX will be met, and that the new use is a more 
restrictive use than the existing nonconforming use. Any change in use allowed pursuant to 
this provision shall not affect the future status of the use as a nonconforming use for all 
purposes of this Subsection.  

(4) The extent or area of the premises utilized for or by the nonconforming use, building or 
structure, may not be materially extended or enlarged, or substantially structurally altered, 
unless the Planning Commission determines, following the review procedure of Subsection X-
XX, that the criteria set out in Subsection X-XX will be met.  

(C) If the use, building or structure is nonconforming with respect to dimensional requirements, design 
and performance standards, or other provisions not related to "use", the following provision shall 
apply:  
(1) If the nonconformity of the building, use, or structure is abandoned, removed, or corrected, 

such nonconformity may not be reestablished. 
(2) If the building, manufactured home or structure is damaged so that the cost of replacing or 

restoring it is greater than 50 percent of its fair market value after replacement, the building, 
manufactured home or structure may be repaired or replaced only in compliance with these 
Zoning Regulations.  

(3) If the building or structure is damaged in such a way as to remove the nonconformity, the 
nonconforming feature may not be reestablished by any repair or reconstruction, unless it is 
unfeasible to repair the building without reestablishing the nonconforming feature.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 4 Zoning Regulations 
November 23,2022 

 

Page 79 of 79 

(4) No alteration may be made to the use, building, or structure which would increase the amount 
or degree of the nonconforming feature. Changes in the use, building, or structure may be 
made which will decrease the degree or amount of deviation from the requirements of this 
Section.  

(D) This Subsection shall not apply to signs. Nonconforming signs shall be governed by the provisions 
of Subsection X-XX.  

(E) Manufactured Homes and Factory-Built Housing:  
(1) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section, a lawful nonconforming manufactured 

home owned and occupied by the owner of the land upon which it sits may be replaced by 
another manufactured home to be owned and occupied by said owner if the Planning 
Commission determines following the review procedure of Section 7-3-23 that the criteria set 
out in Section 7-3-19 will be met, and that the replacement manufactured home will comply 
with all other applicable Town regulations including the provisions of Chapter 6-3.  

(2) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions of this Subsection 7-3-20 any Factory-Built 
Housing, which is nonconforming as to restrictions on use or design and performance 
standards, which for a period of six months is either unoccupied or does not have any 
authorized use of Town supplied water occur on the premises, shall be removed from the 
premises unless the structure has previously been issued a permit pursuant to Subsection 6-3 
and it is erected on a permanent foundation complying with the requirements of the Town 
Building Code. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 1 of 28 

Chapter 7: Land Development Regulations 
SECTION 5 – SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 
 
7-5-1. GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

(A) These Regulations shall be known and may be cited as the Town's "Subdivision Regulations".  
(B) These Regulations shall apply within the corporate limits of the Town.  
(C) The purposes of these Regulations are to:  

(1) Promote and protect the public health, safety and welfare.  
(2) To insure that new development bears its fair share of the cost of providing improvements and 

services resulting from the development of subdivisions.  
(3) To set forth uniform procedures and standards for the handling of subdivisions. 
(4) To insure adequate and safe public services such as water, sewer, fire protection, streets and 

storm drainage.  
(5) To implement the Town's Master Plan and Development Regulations.  
(6) To encourage development which limits hazards due to erosion, flood, soil conditions, and 

excessive slopes.  
(7) To obtain land for parks, schools, and other public purposes.  
(8) To protect the quality of the water, air and environment.  
(9) To encourage energy conservation, use of solar energy, clustered development, and infilling. 
(10) To encourage development which will not adversely affect adjacent property, or historical 

or recreational values.  
(11) To discourage development inconsistent with existing services and infrastructures.  
(12) To provide for safe and efficient flow of vehicles.  

(D) These Regulations shall not create any liability on the part of the Town or any officer or employee 
thereof arising from reliance upon these regulations or any administrative act or failure to act 
pursuant to these regulations.  

(E) Interpretation 
(1) In interpreting and applying provisions of these Subdivision Regulations they shall be regarded 

as a minimum required for the protection of the public health, safety and welfare. They shall 
be liberally construed to further the purposes specified in Subsection X-XX above.  

(2) Whenever a provision of these Regulations and any other provision found in another Town 
ordinance or applicable law contains any restrictions or regulations covering the same subject 
matter, the restriction or regulation which is more restrictive or imposes a higher standard or 
requirement shall govern. 

(F) Enforcement 
(1) Whoever, being the owner or agent of the owner of any land located within a subdivision 

transfers or sells, agrees to sell, or negotiates to sell any land by reference to or exhibition of, 
or by use of a plat of a subdivision before such plat has been approved by the Planning 
Commission and recorded or filed in the office of the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder, shall 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 2 of 28 

pay a penalty of $100.00 to the Town of Ridgway for each lot or parcel so transferred or sold, 
or agreed or negotiated to be sold. The description of such lot or parcel by metes and bounds 
in the instrument of transfer or other document used in the process of selling or transferring 
shall not exempt the transaction from such penalties, or from the remedies provided in this 
Subsection. The Town may enjoin such transfer or sale or agreement by action for injunction 
brought in any court of competent jurisdiction and may recover the penalty by civil action in 
any court of competent jurisdiction.  

(2) It shall be unlawful to erect, construct, reconstruct, use, or alter any building or structure, or 
to use any land in violation of any of these Subdivision Regulations or to otherwise violate any 
provision of these Subdivision Regulations or any provision of a Subdivision Improvements 
Agreement approved pursuant to these Regulations. Any person convicted of such a violation 
may be sentenced to a term of imprisonment not to exceed 90 days, or fined an amount not 
to exceed $300.00, or be sentenced to both such fine and imprisonment; provided, however, 
no person under the age of 18 years shall be subject to any term of imprisonment, except for 
contempt of court. A separate offense shall be deemed committed during each day during 
which any violation continues.  

(3) No septic tank permit, building permit or occupancy permit shall be issued for the development 
of property with respect to which a violation of these Subdivision Regulations or a Subdivision 
Improvements Agreement approved pursuant to these Regulations has occurred until the 
violation has been remedied satisfactorily to the Town.  

(4) The Town may bring an action in a court of competent jurisdiction to enjoin or abate any 
violation of these Subdivision Regulations or of a Subdivision Improvements Agreement 
entered into pursuant to these Subdivision Regulations. 
 

7-5-2 SUBDIVISION APPLICATIONS AND REVIEW PROCEDURES 
This Section outlines the review procedures that are common to all applications regulated within Section 5, 
Subdivision Regulations, unless otherwise stated in these Land Development Regulations. Table XXX 
identifies the various application types and associated review procedures regulated by this article. The 
submittal requirements, review procedures, and approval criteria for each application type are laid out in 
subsequent sections of this article as identified in Table XXX. All documents and materials identified in this 
Section, and the particular application type section shall be required. 

(A) Table XXX – Subdivision Application Types and Processes 
Table XXX, Subdivision Application Types and Processes 

 
Pre- 
Application 
Meeting 
(§X.XX) 

Completeness 
Review 
(§X.XX) 

Referrals 
(§X.XX) 

Notice of 
Hearing 
(§X.XX) 

Town 
Manager or 
their 
designee 

Planning 
Commission 
(§X.XX) 

Town 
Council 
(§X.XX) 

R=Required;  O=Optional;  PH=Required Public Hearing;  Rec=Recommendation;  D=Decision 
Minor 
Subdivision 
Plat 
(§7-5-XX) 

R R R R 
Posting Rec R 

PH / Rec 
R 
PH / D 

Major Subdivision (Section 7-5-XX) 

Sketch Plan 
(§7-5-XX) R R R R 

Posting  R 
PH / D  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 3 of 28 

Preliminary 
Plat 
(§7-5-XX) 

R R R R 
Posting Rec R 

PH / Rec 
R 
PH / D 

Final Plat 
(§7-5-XX) O R R R 

Posting Rec R 
PH / Rec 

R 
PH / D 

Resubdivisions 

Plat 
Amendments 
(§7-5-XX) 

R R R 
R 
Posting Rec R 

PH / Rec 
R 
PH / D 

Lot Splits 
(§7-5-XX) R R R 

R 
Posting Rec R 

PH / Rec 
R 
PH / D 

Boundary or 
Lot Line 
Adjustment 
(§7-5-XX) 

O R R 
R 
Posting Rec R 

PH / D  

Townhome 
(§7-5-XX) O R R 

R 
Posting Rec R 

PH / D  

Building 
Footprint 
(§7-5-XX) 

O R R 
R 
Posting Rec R 

PH / D  

Condominium 
(§7-5-XX) O R R 

R 
Posting Rec R 

PH / D  

Exempt 
Division of 
Land 
(§7-5-XX) 

O R R 
R 
Posting 

Rec 
R 
PH / D  

Lot 
Consolidation 
(§7-5-XX) 

O R R 
R 
Posting 

Rec R 
PH / D  

Replat 
(§7-5-XX) O R R 

R 
Posting 

Rec  R 
PH / D 

Right-of-Way 
Vacation 
(§7-5-XX) 
 

O R R 
R 
Posting 

Rec  
R 
PH / D 

 

(B) General Application Review Procedures 
The following procedures shall apply to all classifications of development applications which are 
required under this Chapter.  
(1) Pre-Application Meeting. 

If the applicant or Town Manager or their designee, requests a pre-application meeting, the 
following process shall be followed:  
(a) Prior to the formal submission of the application, the applicant shall contact the Town 

Manager or designee to schedule and request an informal pre-application meeting. 
Following receipt of a request, the pre-application meeting should be set for a date within 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 4 of 28 

ten (10) days of the date of the applicant’s request. The Town Manager or their designee 
shall advise the applicant of the date and time of the pre-application meeting.  

(b) The applicant shall be prepared to discuss the proposed application with the Town Manager 
or their designee. The applicant is encouraged to present such plats, plans, diagrams, or 
other preliminary information sufficient to permit the conceptual review of the proposed 
application.  

(c) The purpose of the pre-application meeting is to assist the applicant in understanding the 
town’s application review processes and to permit the Town Manager or their designee to 
determine the applicable process(es) and regulations for the proposed application.  

(2) Application Submittal Requirements. 
All of the following information and materials shall be submitted to the Town of Ridgway in a 
form acceptable to the Town Manager or their designee. Additional information and materials 
required to be submitted for specific application types identified in Table XXX are specified in 
subsequent sections of this Section and shall also be submitted in order to receive a 
determination of completeness. 
(a) Basic Application Materials. 

The following materials are required for all applications regulated by Chapter 7, Section 6, 
Subdivision Regulations, unless waived by the Town Manager or designee.  
(i) Application Form. An application form for the request shall be obtained from the 

Town of Ridgway. Completed application forms and accompanying materials shall 
be submitted to the Town by the owner or applicant.  
a. Authorized Agent. If the applicant is not the owner of the land based on Ouray 

County Assessor records, the applicant shall submit a letter signed by the 
owner consenting to the submission of the application. 

b. Applicant is Not the Sole Owner. If the applicant is not the sole owner of the 
land, the applicant shall submit a letter signed by all owners or an association 
representing all the owners, by which all owners consent to or join in the 
application.  

(ii) Fees. All application fees shall be in compliance with Section 7-1-6, Fees and Costs. 
(iii) Proof of Ownership. Proof of Ownership in the form of a copy of the property deed 

or a title commitment which has been issued within sixty (60) days of the 
application submittal along with copes of all documents listed in the exceptions. 

(iv) Legal Description. Legal description of the property subject to the development 
application.  

(v) Mineral Interest Owners. List of all mineral interest owners with interests severed 
from the subject property.  

(vi) Vicinity Map. A map locating the project limits, parcel(s), and property within 
Ridgway. The vicinity map shall clearly show the boundaries of the subject property 
and all property within a three-mile radius of the subject property.  

(vii) General Written Narrative. A general written narrative identifying the development 
team, existing conditions of the property, proposed uses, density, lot layout, end 
users, financing, public dedications (including rights-of-way, parks, open space, 
infrastructure), and describing the purpose of the project, how the request meets 
the applicable approval criteria, furthers the goals and objectives specified in the 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 5 of 28 

Master Plan, and identifying any potential impacts on adjacent properties and 
public infrastructure and how those impacts are proposed to be mitigated.  

(3) Completeness Review. 
When a completeness determination is required pursuant to Table X-X.X, the following shall 
apply: 
(a) Within ten (10) days following receipt of an application, the Town Manager or their 

designee shall administratively review the application and determine whether it includes 
all the application content requirements of the Ridgway Municipal Code for the requested 
application type.  

(b) All plans, reports, maps and other information required for the application must be 
complete and legible A failure of the application to meet the requirements of the zoning 
regulations and this Ridgway Municipal Code may delay the processing of the application 
until the application is sufficient and complete.  

(c) When the Town Manager or their designee determines that the application is complete as 
submitted, the Town Manager or their designee shall schedule the application for review 
in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Section 5 Subdivision Regulations. 

(d) In the event the Town Manager or their designee determines that the application is 
incomplete, the Town Manager or their designee shall inform the applicant in writing of 
the deficiencies in the application. No further processing of the incomplete application shall 
be undertaken until the Town Manager or their designee determines that the applicant has 
remedied the application’s deficiencies.  

(4) Referral Agencies.  
In accordance with Table X-X.X, applications shall be referred to any of the below referral 
agencies the Town Manager or their designee determines is necessary to the complete and 
comprehensive review of the request. Referral of applications to other agencies shall be for a 
minimum time frame of fourteen (14) days. However, the time frame for review and comment 
may be extended if the application presents technical issues which require additional review, 
additional information is provided by the applicant, or the application is modified. Referral 
agencies include, but are not limited to, the following: 
(a) Bureau of Land Management (BLM) 
(b) Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) 
(c) Colorado Division of Reclamation, Mining & Safety 
(d) Colorado Division of Water Resources 
(e) Colorado Parks and Wildlife 
(f) Colorado State Forest Service 
(g) Ditch companies 
(h) Fire Protection District(s) or department(s) 
(i) Ouray County Departments (Assessor, Clerk & Recorder, Attorney, Health Department, 

Building Department, Road & Bridge, Sheriff Office, etc.) as appropriate  
(j) Town of Ridgway Departments (Town Clerk, Town Attorney, Engineering Department, 

Building Department, Public Works Department, Police Department, etc.) as appropriate  
(k) Water Conservation District(s) 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 6 of 28 

(l) San Miguel Power Authority 
(m) School district(s) 
(n) Soil Conservation District  
(o) Utility service providers and districts 
(p) US Army Corp of Engineers 
(q) US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
(r) US Forest Service 
(s) Xcel Energy / Public Service of Colorado 
(t) Any other entity or agency deemed necessary by the Town Manager or their designee 

(5) Staff Report. 
The Town Manager or their designee shall review the application to determine if the proposal 
satisfies the applicable standards. The Town Manager or their designee shall prepare a staff 
report discussing whether the applicable standards of the Ridgway Municipal Code have been 
satisfied. The staff report should identify issues raised through staff and referral agency review, 
potential mitigation requirements, any recommended conditions for approval, and any 
additional information pertinent to the review of the application.  

(6) Notice Requirements. 
All public notices of hearings required by these Subdivision Regulations shall include the date, 
time, place, and purpose of the hearing, a general description of the property affected, and 
any other information deemed appropriate to apprise the public of the general nature of the 
action proposed. Errors or inaccuracies in the notice shall not be deemed sufficient cause to 
postpone or invalidate a hearing except where such errors are substantive in material and are 
found to have reasonably mislead or misinformed the public.  
(a) Notice by Posting 

When notice by posting is required for a public hearing by Table X-X.X, notice of the 
hearing shall be posted at Town Hall ten (10) days before the hearing and posted, visible 
from each street frontage abutting the property, for at least ten (10) days prior to the 
hearing in addition to any other notice required by Town regulations. 
(i) Mineral Estates Notice. Per 24-65.5-103, C.R.S. if the surface estate and mineral estate 

are severed, the owners of severed mineral estates shall be entitled to notification of 
not less than thirty (30) days before the date scheduled for the public hearing for the 
application. A copy of the notice shall be given to the Town along with the applicant’s 
certification of compliance with said notification requirements. Provided this notice is 
not required if notice was previously sent and such certification previously provided 
with respect to the same surface development, or the application is only platting an 
additional single lot, unless a mineral estate owner has requested notice pursuant to 
24-6-402(7), C.R.S. 

(7) Public Hearings.  
When an application requires a public hearing before the Planning Commission or the Town 
Council, in accordance with Table X-X.X, the following shall apply:  
(a) The Town shall set the date and time of a public hearing. Notice of the public hearing shall 

be issued in accordance with Table X-X.X and Section XXX.XX, Notice Requirements.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 7 of 28 

(b) At the public hearing, the reviewing body shall review the application for conformance with 
the applicable review standards and approval criteria for the request.  

(c) Any public hearing or other action of the body may be continued or postponed at any time 
to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional information for 
further review by the reviewing body.  

(d) When required, the Planning Commission recommendation shall be forwarded to the Town 
Council. Following a public hearing, the Town Council shall approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the application or continue the matter to a date certain.  

(e) The applicant shall bear the burden of presenting sufficient competent evidence at the 
public hearing to support the standards for approval set forth by this Ridgway Municipal 
Code. Any decision by the reviewing body to recommend, or to act to, approve, 
conditionally approve, or deny an application shall be based upon a consideration of all 
evidence presented during the public hearing. Where evidence presented is contradictory, 
the reviewing body shall weigh such evidence and judge the credibility and sufficiency of 
the evidence prior to rendering a decision.  

(8) Post Approval. 
(a) Review. Prior to recording of the approved documents, the applicant shall submit all final 

documents reflecting any conditions of approval to the Town Manager or their designee 
for final review and acknowledgement.  

(b) Recording. Any documents required to be recorded with the Ouray County Clerk and 
Recorder shall be fully executed by the applicant and filed for execution by the town and 
recorded. Recording of all documents shall be completed within a reasonable period of 
time from the date of approval by the approving body.  

(c) Approval of Subdivision Improvement Agreement. A final plat shall not be filed for 
recording until the Board has approved an Improvement Agreement pursuant to this 
article. 

(d) Effective Upon Recording. A plat does not become effective until it is properly filed for 
recording with the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder. 

(e) Public Sale of Lots. A division of land becomes complete and eligible for public sale of lots 
and development only after the plat and associated approved documents have been 
properly recorded with the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder. 

(C) Major Subdivision 
(1) General Provisions.  

Division of land applications which are defined as a major subdivision in Chapter 7-X-X, 
Definitions, shall be reviewed in compliance with the provisions of this Section X.XX(2), Review 
Procedures. Major subdivisions require three separate stages of approval: 
(a) Sketch Plan Review. The process for sketch plan review is set forth in Section X.XX, Sketch 

Plan Review.  
(b) Preliminary Plat. The process for preliminary plat review is set forth in Section X-XX, 

Preliminary Plat Review.  
(c) Final Plat. The process for final plat review is set forth in Section X-XX, Final Plat Review. 

(2) Review Procedures 
(a) Sketch plan Review. The sketch plan review process is intended to review at a conceptual 

level the feasibility and design characteristics of the proposed subdivision based on the 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 8 of 28 

applicable standards set forth in this Section 5, Subdivision Regulations, and Section 4, 
Zoning Regulations. The sketch plan review process is set forth in Section X-XX, Sketch 
Plan Review, and requires the following: 
(i) Review Flowchart. Figure X, Sketch Plan Flowchart, depicts the sketch plan application 

review process described in greater detail in this section.  
Figure X, Sketch Plan Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 

(ii) Pre-Application Meeting. A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the 
provisions set forth in Section X-XX, Pre-Application Meeting. 

(iii) Application Submittal Requirements. The following are the application materials 
required to be submitted for a sketch plan request. The Town Manager or designee 
may waive or alter any of the submittal requirements if they are determined to be 
inappropriate or unnecessary to determining if the application satisfies applicable 
standards. 
a. Basic Application Materials. All materials set forth in Section X-XX, Basic Application 

Materials. 
b. Sketch Plan. The applicant shall submit a copy of the sketch plan map at a size 

and scale legible and suitable for non-technical review of the proposal. The sketch 
plan map shall include the following information and supplemental materials. The 
Town Manager or designee may require, or the applicant may wish to submit, a 
more detailed version of all or part of the sketch plan map. 
1) A title clearly identifying the plat as a “Sketch Plan”;  
2) Standard certificate blocks as provided by the town; 
3) Legal description of the property; 
4) North arrow, scale, and legend; 
5) A vicinity map at a suitable scale; 
6) Boundary lines, corner pins, and dimensions of the subject property, including 

land survey data to identify the parcel with section corners, distance and 
bearing to corners, quarter corners, township and range; 

7) Existing and proposed topographic contours at vertical intervals sufficient to 
show the topography affecting the development and storm drainage; 

8) Significant on-site features including: natural and artificial drainage ways, 
streams, ponds, waterways, wetland areas, irrigation ditches, hydrologic 
features and aquatic habitat; geologic features and hazards including slopes, 
alluvial fans, areas of subsidence, rock outcrops and rockfall areas, radiological 
and seismic hazard areas, soil types and landslide areas; vegetative cover; 
dams, reservoirs, excavations, and mines; and any other on-site and off-site 
features that influence the development; 

9) Existing and proposed parking areas, driveways, emergency turn-outs and 
emergency turnarounds, sidewalks, and paths and their dimensions;  

10) Existing and proposed roads, railroad tracks, irrigation ditches, fences and 
utility lines on or adjacent to the parcel and their dimensions; 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 9 of 28 

11) Uses and grantees of all existing and proposed easements and rights-ofway 
on or adjacent to the property and their dimensions; and 

12) Schematic and narrative representation of the proposed land use(s) including: 
a) Existing and proposed zoning of land to be subdivided; 
b) Total proposed subdivision area in acres and a percentage breakdown of 

areas devoted to specific land uses, with acreage and square footage, 
(e.g. percentage and area of residential development and/or 
nonresidential development; percentage and area of open space; 
percentage and area of parking and driveways, and so forth); 

c) Approximate lot sizes;  
d) Total number, size, general location, and type of proposed dwelling units; 
e) Location, size, and use of major improvements;  
f) Total number of square feet of proposed nonresidential floor space;  
g) Off-street parking areas and anticipated number of spaces;  
h) Recreation areas and open space; 
i) School sites;  
j) Approximate location of wastewater treatment system, including location 

and size of leach field, service lines, and treatment facilities to serve the 
proposed use;  

k) Source and capacity of the water supply, including approximate location 
and size of well(s) and/or water lines to serve the proposed use;  

l) Location and size of existing and proposed utilities and service facilities; 
and  

13) Current and proposed grading and drainage patterns including:  
a) Drainage arrows depicting surface flow;  
b) Drainage facilities and improvements; and  
c) A grading plan depicting existing and proposed site contours at two-foot 

intervals. 
c. Land Suitability Analysis. The land suitability analysis is a written analysis of 

conditions on-site and off-site which have an influence on the proposed use of the 
land. The land suitability analysis shall include the following information: 
1) A description of site features such as streams, areas subject to flooding, lakes, 

high ground water areas, vegetative cover, climatology, and other significant 
natural and man-made features; 

2) A description of the existing drainages and impoundments, natural and 
manmade; 

3) A description of soil characteristics of the site;  
4) A description of the geologic characteristics of the area including any potential 

natural or man-made hazards; 
5) A description of the topography and the slope determination; 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 10 of 28 

6) A description of the source of water supply, the existing and future domestic 
and agricultural requirements, and the capacity of the source of water supply 
to meet existing and future requirements. The description shall include detail 
of historic irrigation, tailwater issues, and water demands; 

7) A description of the relationship of the subject parcel to floodplains, the nature 
of soils and subsoils and their ability to adequately support waste disposal, the 
slope of the land, the effect of sewage effluents, and the pollution of surface 
runoff, stream flow and groundwater; 

8) A description of the Floodplain and Flood Fringe designations affecting the 
subject property; 

9) A description of the existing environmental conditions: 
a) Existing flora and fauna habitat, wetlands, migration routes; 
b) Significant archaeological, cultural, paleontological, and historic resource 

areas; and 
c) Potential radiation hazard that may have been identified by the state or 

the Ouray County Public Health Department. 
10) A description of the existing and historic use of adjacent property and 

neighboring properties within a 300’ radius;  
11) A description of all easements defining, limiting or allowing use types and 

access; 
12) Access: 

a) A description of historic public access to or through the site; and 
b) A description of access to adjoining roads and sight distance and intersection 

constraints. 
d. Conceptual Landscape Plan. The landscape plan shall comply with all requirements 

in Section 7-4-7, Landscape Regulations. 
e. Supplemental Materials. The following items are required to be submitted to the 

Town of Ridgway: 
1) Conceptual drainage plan or study calculating historic and proposed surface 

and stormwater flows and how such flows will be managed. 
2) Conceptual traffic statement or study identifying current and proposed traffic 

counts and proposed trip generation along with any needed or anticipated 
improvements to mitigate the projects use on the public transportation 
network and infrastructure. 

3) Proof of minimum guaranteed water supply appropriate for the requested use. 
a. Additional Requirements 

f. Any additional information that may be reasonably requested by the Town 
Manager or designee and determined to be necessary to enable an adequate and 
comprehensive evaluation of the application. 

(iv) Completeness Review.  
The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in 
accordance with the provisions of Section X.XX, Completeness Review. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 11 of 28 

(v) Evaluation by Staff and Review Agencies.  
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section X.XX, Referral 
Agencies and review the application for conformance with the requirements and 
standards of this Municipal Code. 

(vi) Staff Report.  
A staff report shall be prepared and provided to the reviewing body in accordance with 
Section X.XX, Staff Report. 

(vii) Review and Action by the Planning Commission.  
The Planning Commission shall review the sketch plan application in a manner 
consistent with Table XXX to evaluate compliance with applicable standards. The final 
decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a conditional use permit shall be 
made by the Planning Commission in a manner consistent with Table XXX and be based 
upon the criteria set forth in Section XXX, Approval Criteria. 
a. The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the 

public hearing to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of 
additional information for further review by the Planning Commission prior to 
making a final decision.  

(b) Preliminary Plat Review. The preliminary plat review process will consider the feasibility 
and design characteristics of the proposed subdivision based on the applicable standards 
set forth in Article 7-5-XX, Design Standards. The preliminary plat process will also evaluate 
preliminary engineering documents. 
(i) Review Flowchart. Figure X, Preliminary Plat Flowchart, depicts the preliminary plat 

application review process described in greater detail in this section.  
Figure X, Preliminary Plat Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 

(ii) Pre-Application Meeting. A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the 
provisions set forth in Section X-XX, Pre-Application Meeting. 

(iii) Application Submittal Requirements. The following are the application materials 
required to be submitted for a preliminary plat request. The Town Manager or designee 
may waive or alter any of the submittal requirements if they are determined to be 
inappropriate or unnecessary to determining if the application satisfies applicable 
standards. 
a. Basic Application Materials. All materials set forth in Section X-XX, Basic Application 

Materials. 
b. Preliminary Subdivision Plat. The preliminary subdivision plat shall contain the 

following information submitted to the Town of Ridgway on 24” x 36” sheets at a 
scale suitable for technical review of the application.  
1) A title clearly identifying the plat as a “Preliminary Subdivision Plat”; 
2) Standard certificate blocks as provided by the town; 
3) Legal description of the property; 
4) North arrow, scale, and legend; 
5) A vicinity map at a suitable scale;  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 12 of 28 

6) The name and address of the owner(s) of record of the land being platted and 
the same information for the applicant(s), if other than the owners; 

7) The name, address, and seal of the certifying registered land surveyor and the 
other individuals preparing the preliminary plat; 

8) The township, range, section and quarter section(s);  
9) Location and full description of all monuments as required by this article and 

by Title 38, Article 51, C.R.S.: 
a) Permanent monuments shall be set on the external boundary of the 

subdivision pursuant to §38- 51-101, C.R.S. and  
b) Block and lot monuments shall be set pursuant to §38-51-101, C.R.S. 

10) Information adequate to locate all monuments shall be noted on the plat; 
11) The location, layout, dimensions, areas, and uses of all lots and blocks 

numbered consecutive. 
12) The location, layout, dimensions, areas and uses of all outlots and tracts 

labeled consecutively by letters and include a table identifying ownership and 
maintenance responsibilities. 

13) Site data in chart form presenting:  
a) Total area of the proposed subdivision; total area of the developed 

buildings, driveways and parking areas; total area of non-residential floor 
space; 

b) Total number of proposed lots; breakdown of the lot total by number of 
lots per use (i.e. residential use, business or commercial and industrial 
use, and other public and nonpublic uses); 

c) Total number of proposed off-street parking spaces; 
d) Total number of dwelling units; total number of dwelling units per 

structure proposed; and 
e) Total gross density proposed. 

14) Boundary lines, corner pins, and dimensions of the subject property, including 
land survey data to identify the parcel with section corners, distance and 
bearing to corners, quarter corners, township and range; 

15) Topography at the following minimum contour intervals:  
a) Subdivision with one or more lots less than two (2) acres in size, 

topography shown at two (2) foot contour intervals. 
b) Subdivision with all lots two (2) acres or greater in size, topography shown 

at five (5) foot contour intervals. 
c) Areas having slopes thirty (30) percent or more, or other significant 

topographic conditions, topography shown at five (5) foot contour 
intervals. 

16) Significant on-site features including: natural and artificial drainage ways, 
streams, ponds, waterways, wetland areas, irrigation ditches, hydrologic 
features and aquatic habitat; geologic features and hazards including slopes, 
alluvial fans, areas of subsidence, rock outcrops and rockfall areas, radiological 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 13 of 28 

and seismic hazard areas, soil types and landslide areas; vegetative cover; 
dams, reservoirs, excavations, and mines; and any other on-site and off-site 
features that influence the development; 

17) Known, identified or designated one hundred (100) year flood plains and 
localized areas subject to periodic flooding. The distance between the mean 
identifiable high water mark of any creeks, streams or rivers and the nearest 
proposed development within the site shall also be shown; 

18) Existing and proposed parking areas, driveways, emergency turn-outs and 
emergency turnarounds, sidewalks, and paths and their dimensions;  

19) Public Access to the site, and internal circulation. Location, dimension, 
alignment and names of all existing and proposed streets, drives, alleys and 
roads on or adjoining the property. The general location and right-of-way 
width for all arterials and collectors shall be shown; 

20) The location of any preliminary engineering for any existing or proposed 
wastewater systems, water mains, culverts, storm drains, sidewalks, gutters, 
fire hydrants along with the width and depth of pavement or subgrading to be 
provided, the depth of burial of all underground lines, pipes and tubing and 
typical cross sections of the proposed grading of roadways and sidewalks; 

21) Uses and grantees of all existing and proposed easements and rights-of-way 
on or adjacent to the property and their dimensions; and 

22) The location, use and gross square footage of proposed structures within the 
subdivision; 
a) Anticipated number of employees for proposed commercial or industrial 

uses. 
23) Building envelopes in hazardous areas to protect trees and other natural 

resources, if deemed appropriate by planning staff;  
24) Location and layout of lots and blocks, with lots and blocks numbered 

consecutively, and the dimensions and acreage of each lot;  
25) Areas for landscaping, and delineation of the type and extent of vegetative 

cover on the site;  
26) Zoning districts on the site and any zoning changes to be requested;  
27) Existing land uses and zoning on adjoining properties; 
28) Public or private sources of utility services and facilities; and  
29) Location and dimension of land to be held in common, open space devoted to 

community use, and land to be dedicated to town. 
c. Preliminary Landscape Plan. The landscape plan shall comply with all 

requirements in Section 7-4-7, Landscape Regulations. 
d. Land Suitability Analysis. If updates, amendments, or modifications are needed 

pursuant on the review and approval of a sketch plan, an updated land suitability 
analysis may be required. The components which shall be included in such an 
analysis are set forth in Section X-XX, Land Suitability Analysis. 

e. Preliminary Engineering Reports and Plans. The following items are required to be 
submitted to the Town of Ridgway: 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 14 of 28 

1) Preliminary plan and profile design of all proposed streets, sidewalks, trails, 
walkways, and bikeways; Conceptual traffic statement or study identifying 
current and proposed traffic counts and proposed trip generation along with 
any needed or anticipated improvements to mitigate the projects use on the 
public transportation network and infrastructure. 

2) Preliminary plan and profile design of all surface drainage and storm sewer 
conveyance facilities including, but not limited to, inlet locations, size and 
location of pipes, retention or detention facilities, and required water quality 
and erosion control measures; 

3) Preliminary engineering design of any bridges, culverts, or other drainage 
structures to be constructed;  

4) Mitigation of any geologic hazard(s) impacting the project site; 
5) Preliminary plan and profile design of all wastewater collection and water 

supply and distribution system improvements necessary; and 
6) Preliminary cost estimates for all public improvements. 

f. Land located within the Uncompahgre River Overlay District. For all parcels located 
in the Uncompahgre River Overlay District, excluding subdivisions of existing 
structures that do not include any additional site development, an Ecological 
Characterization Study completed by a professional qualified in the areas of 
ecology, wildlife biology or other relevant discipline. The ecological 
characterization study shall describe, without limitation, the following: 
1) The boundary of wetlands and riparian areas and a description of the 

ecological functions and characteristics provided by those wetlands and 
riparian areas; 

2) The pattern, species and location of any significant native trees and other 
native site vegetation; 

3) The pattern, species and location of any significant non-native trees and non-
native site vegetation that contribute to the site's ecological, shade, canopy, 
aesthetic and cooling value; 

4) The top of bank and High-Water Mark of any perennial stream or body of 
water on the site; 

5) The wildlife use of the area showing the species of wildlife using the area, the 
times or seasons that the area is used by those species and the "value" 
(meaning feeding, watering, cover, nesting, roosting, perching) that the area 
provides for such wildlife species; 

6) Special habitat features; 
7) Wildlife movement corridors; 
8) The general ecological functions provided by the site and its features; 
9) Any issues regarding the timing of development-related activities stemming 

from the ecological character of the area; 
10) Any measures needed to mitigate the projected adverse impacts of the 

development project on natural habitats and features along the Uncompahgre 
River corridor; and 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 15 of 28 

11) Twenty-five-foot and 75-foot development setback area from the High-Water 
Mark. 

g. Supplemental Materials. 
1) Draft improvement agreement meeting all standards and requirements set 

forth in Section X.XX, Subdivision Improvements Agreement. 
2) Preliminary drainage plan or study calculating historic and proposed surface 

and stormwater flows and how such flows will be managed. 
3) Preliminary traffic statement or study identifying current and proposed traffic 

counts and proposed trip generation along with any needed or anticipated 
improvements to mitigate the projects use on the public transportation 
network and infrastructure. 

4) Draft covenants, restrictions, and by-laws, if applicable. 
5) Proof of minimum guaranteed water supply appropriate for the requested use. 

h. Additional Requirements.  
Any additional information that may be reasonably requested by the Town 
Manager or designee and determined to be necessary to enable an adequate and 
comprehensive evaluation of the application.  

(iv) Completeness Review.  
The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in 
accordance with the provisions of Section X.XX, Completeness Review. 

(v) Evaluation by Staff and Review Agencies.  
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section X.XX, Referral 
Agencies and review the application for conformance with the requirements and 
standards of this Municipal Code. 

(vi) Staff Report.  
A staff report shall be prepared and provided to the reviewing body in accordance with 
Section X.XX, Staff Report. 

(vii) Review and Recommendation by Planning Commission. The Planning Commission shall 
review the preliminary plat application in a manner consistent with Table X-XX to 
evaluate compliance with applicable standards. Following its review of the application, 
the Planning Commission shall provide a recommendation to approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the application to the Town Council based on the review criteria 
set forth in Section X.XX, Approval Criteria. 
a. The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the 

meeting to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional 
information for further review by the Planning Commission prior to making a final 
decision.  

(viii) Review and Action by Town Council. The final decision to approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny a Preliminary Plat shall be made by the Town Council in a manner 
consistent with Table X-XX based upon the review criteria set forth in Section X-XX, 
Approval Criteria. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 16 of 28 

a. The Town Council may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the meeting to 
a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional information 
for further review by the Planning Commission prior to making a final decision.  

(c) Final Plat Review. Unless otherwise provided by this Ridgway Municipal Code, the applicant 
must receive preliminary plat approval before beginning the final plat process. The final 
plat review process will evaluate the final plat to be recorded, final engineering documents, 
reports, and studies. 

(i) Review Flowchart. Figure X, Final Plat Flowchart, depicts the final plat application 
review process described in greater detail in this section.  
Figure X, Final Plat Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 

(ii) Pre-Application Meeting. A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with 
the provisions set forth in Section X-XX, Pre-Application Meeting. 

(iii) Application Submittal Requirements. The following are the application materials 
required to be submitted for a final plat request. The Town Manager or designee 
may waive or alter any of the submittal requirements if they are determined to be 
inappropriate or unnecessary to determining if the application satisfies applicable 
standards. 
a. Basic Application Materials. All materials set forth in Section X-XX, Basic 

Application Materials. 
b. Final Subdivision Plat. The final subdivision plat shall contain the following 

information submitted to the Town of Ridgway, in a format prescribed by the 
Town. The final plat shall be prepared in a clear and legible manner measuring 
24” x 36” with clear margins of two (2) inches on the left-hand side and one-
half(1/2) inch on the remaining sides at a scale suitable for technical review 
of the application.  
1) A title clearly identifying the plat as a “Final Subdivision Plat”; 
2) Legal description of the property; 
3) North arrow, scale, and legend; 
4) A vicinity map at a suitable scale;  
5) Scaled at one (1) inch to two-hundred (200) feet; 
6) The name and address of the owner(s) of record of the land being platted 

and the same information for the applicant(s), if other than the owners; 
7) The name, address, and seal of the certifying registered land surveyor and 

the other individuals preparing the final plat; 
8) The township, range, section and quarter section(s);  
9) Location and full description of all monuments as required by this article 

and by Title 38, Article 51, C.R.S.: 
a) Permanent monuments shall be set on the external boundary of the 

subdivision pursuant to §38- 51-101, C.R.S. and  
b) Block and lot monuments shall be set pursuant to §38-51-101, C.R.S. 
10) Information adequate to locate all monuments shall be noted on the plat; 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 17 of 28 

11) Boundary lines, corner pins, and dimensions of the subject parcel(s), 
including land survey data to identify the subject parcel by section corners, 
distance and bearing to these corners, quarter corner and township and 
range; 

12) The lengths of all arcs, radii and tangents. Sufficient data shall be shown 
for all curved lines on the plat to enable reestablishment of the curves in 
the field; 

13) Lot location and layout;  
14) All lots and blocks shall be numbered consecutively;  
15) The dimensions of all lots and acreage of each lot shown to two decimal 

places;  
16) No ditto marks shall be used for dimensions; 
17) All unidentified angles will be presumed to equal ninety (90) degrees; 
18) Location and width of existing and proposed roadways, road rights-of-way 

and parking areas within the site; 
19) All street and road names shall be shown; 
20) If any road in the subdivision is a continuation or approximately a 

continuation of an existing public road, the conformity or the amount of 
conformity of the new road to the existing roads shall be accurately 
shown; 

21) Names and widths of all existing or recorded streets and roads intersecting 
the plat boundaries or paralleling them within two hundred (200) feet, the 
names and map numbers of all bordering subdivisions, and any municipal 
limits within two hundred (200) feet of the boundaries of the plat; 
Area of the site, area of individual parcels, and areas of all development 
including developed driveways, parking and buildings; 

22) The boundary lines and dimensions, shown accurately, of all easements, 
alleyways, sidewalks or paths, and similar features, including all other 
rights-of-way not otherwise or explicitly mentioned;  

23) The purpose and owner(s) of all easements and statements from all utility 
companies, as applicable, that the stated services will be provided to the 
proposed development after platting. A plat note may be necessary to 
provide complete information regarding the purpose of the easement; 

24) The boundary lines and dimensions, shown accurately, of all property to 
be reserved and dedicated, with the means of access to such property 
clearly shown and its intended uses noted; 

25) A legally acceptable land description and dedication block placed on the 
plat by the applicant dedicating streets, rights-of-way, utility easements, 
public sites and other such features. The transfer to the town of dedicated 
land shall take place by a legally acceptable instrument prior to or 
concurrent with Final Plat acceptance, but before recording of the final 
plat; 

26) The names of abutting subdivisions or, in the case of abutting unplatted 
property, the notation “unplatted” shall appear; 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 18 of 28 

27) Identification of lots with slope in excess of thirty (30) percent and any 
other lots where special studies are required prior to obtaining a 
development permit; 

28) Delineation of all known, identified or designated one hundred (100) year 
floodplains and localized areas subject to periodic inundation along the 
required stream setback lines, if any; 

29) All lands within the boundary of the subdivision shall be accounted for as 
a lot, tract, parcel, open space, street, right-of-way, alley and so forth, 
and all areas of such lands shall be shown on the plat to the nearest one 
hundredth of an acre;  

30) All plat notes required by the town under preliminary plan approval or as 
a condition of final plat approval;  

31) Standard certificate blocks as provided by the town; 
c. Final Landscape Plan. The landscape plan shall comply with all requirements 

in Section 7-4-7, Landscape Regulations. ‘ 
d. Final Engineering Reports and Plans. The following items are required to be 

submitted to the Town of Ridgway: 
1) Final plan and profile design of all proposed streets, sidewalks, trails, 

walkways, and bikeways;  
2) Final plan and profile design of all surface drainage and storm sewer 

conveyance facilities including, but not limited to, inlet locations, size and 
location of pipes, retention or detention facilities, and required water 
quality and erosion control measures; 

3) Final engineering design of any bridges, culverts, or other drainage 
structures to be constructed;  

4) Mitigation of any geologic hazard(s) impacting the project site; 
5) Final plan and profile design of all wastewater collection and water supply 

and distribution system improvements necessary; and 
6) Final cost estimates for all public improvements. 

e. Supplemental Materials. The following items are required to be submitted to 
the Town of Ridgway: 
1) Final improvement agreement meeting all standards and requirements set 

forth in Section X.XX, Improvement Agreement. 
2) Final drainage plan or study calculating historic and proposed surface and 

stormwater flows and how such flows will be managed. 
3) Final traffic statement or study identifying current and proposed traffic 

counts and proposed trip generation along with any needed or anticipated 
improvements to mitigate the projects use on the public transportation 
network and infrastructure. 

4) Covenants, restrictions, and by-laws, if applicable. 
5) Proof of minimum guaranteed water supply appropriate for the requested 

use. 
f. Additional Requirements.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 19 of 28 

Any additional information that may be reasonably requested by the Town 
Manager or designee and determined to be necessary to enable an adequate 
and comprehensive evaluation of the application.  

(iv) Completeness Review.  
The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in 
accordance with the provisions of Section X.XX, Completeness Review. 

(v) Evaluation by Staff and Review Agencies.  
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer 
the application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section X.XX, 
Referral Agencies and review the application for conformance with the 
requirements and standards of this Municipal Code. 

(vi) Staff Report.  
A staff report shall be prepared and provided to the reviewing body in accordance 
with Section X.XX, Staff Report. 

(vii) Review and Recommendation by Planning Commission. The Planning Commission 
shall review the final plat application in a manner consistent with Table X-XX to 
evaluate compliance with applicable standards. Following its review of the 
application, the Planning Commission shall provide a recommendation to approve, 
approve with conditions, or deny the application to the Town Council based on the 
review criteria set forth in Section X.XX, Approval Criteria. 
a. The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the 

meeting to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of 
additional information for further review by the Planning Commission prior to 
making a final decision. 

(viii) Review and Action by Town Council. The final decision to approve, 
approve with conditions, or deny a Final Plat shall be made by the Town Council 
in a manner consistent with Table X-XX based upon the review criteria set forth in 
Section X-XX, Approval Criteria. 
a. The Town Council may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the meeting 

to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional 
information for further review by the Planning Commission prior to making a 
final decision.  

(ix) Post Approval. The applicant shall follow the post approval procedures in 
accordance with Section X.XX, Post Approval, including recording the final plat with 
the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder. 

(3) Approval Criteria.  
The following criteria shall be found to be met by the application and submittal materials in 
order for the Planning Commission and/or Town Council to recommend approval or approve 
each stage of a major subdivision:  
(a) All of the required prior approvals for the subdivision and development were issued and 

remain valid and effective; 
(i)  For a sketch plan, no prior approval is required.  
(ii) For a preliminary plat, a finding must be made that a sketch plan was approved or 

conditionally approved by the Town Council not more than twelve (12) months prior 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 20 of 28 

to the date of submission of an application for preliminary plat approval or that the 
sketch plan is currently valid and effective as the result of the approval of an extension 
of the effective date of the sketch plan.  

(iii) For a final plat, a finding must be made that a preliminary plat for the subdivision was 
approved or conditionally approved by the Town Council not more than twelve (12) 
months prior to the date of submission of an application for final plat approval or that 
the preliminary plat is currently valid and effective as the result of the approval of an 
extension of the effective date of the preliminary plat. 

(b) The proposed subdivision complies with all applicable requirements for the zone district(s) 
in which the property is located; 

(c) The proposed subdivision substantially complies with all other applicable requirements of 
this code, regulations, standards, and resolutions; 

(d) Adequate capacity of water and wastewater utilities are currently available to serve the 
entire subdivision and development; 

(e) The proposed subdivision is consistent with the applicable portions of the Master Plan in 
the reasonable judgement of the approving body; and  

(f) The application: 
(i) For sketch plan approval, meets or satisfies all applicable requirements of the 

subdivision regulations; 
(ii) For preliminary plat approval, is in substantial conformance with the approved sketch 

plan and the preliminary plat meets or satisfies all applicable requirements of the 
subdivision regulations; or 

(iii) For final plat approval, is in substantial conformance with the approved preliminary 
plat and the final plat meets or satisfies all applicable requirements of the subdivision 
regulations 

(D) Minor Subdivision. 
(1) Applicability. Subdivisions which meet all of the following criteria may be processed in 

accordance with the procedures outlined in this Subsection: 
(a) All lots or tracts are adjacent to a dedicated, maintained and accepted public street. 
(b) The improvements required by Subsection X-XX of these regulations are already in 

existence and available to serve each lot. 
(c) Each lot will meet requirements of the Town Zoning Regulations without the necessity for 

any variance and no variance has been granted within the three previous years. 
(d) No part of the subdivision has been approved as part of a minor subdivision within three 

years prior to the date of submission of the minor subdivision plat. 
(e) A State Highway Access Permit has been obtained for any access to a State highway and 

Town driveway and access requirements will be met. 
(f) The subdivision meets the Design Standards of these Subdivision Regulations. 

(2) Procedures. [Review and approval procedures to be inserted] 
(E) Plat Amendments. 

(1) Applicability. Amended plats of subdivision plats previously approved by the Town, or parts of 
such plats, which do not make or require a material change in the extent, location, or type of 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 21 of 28 

public improvements and easements provided, and are consistent with the Design Standards 
of these Regulations may be submitted, approved and recorded in accordance with the 
provisions of this Subsection in lieu of other procedures provided for subdivision by these 
regulations, if all required improvements are in and available to serve each lot. 

(2) Procedures. [Review and approval procedures to be inserted] 
(F) Lot Splits. 

(1) Applicability. A lot previously created by a subdivision plat which has been approved and 
accepted by the Town and recorded in the Ouray County records, may be subdivided or split 
by deed or other instrument, if the criteria of this Subsection are met, the split has been 
approved by the Town, and an indication of Town approval is included upon the deed or other 
instrument prior to recording. 

(2)  Procedures. [Review and approval procedures to be inserted] 
(G) Boundary or Lot Line Adjustment.  

(1) Applicability. Boundary or lot line revisions are minor amendments to platted or unplatted 
property which do not result in any of the following: 
(a) The creation of any additional lot(s); 
(b) The consolidation of any lots; 
(c) The creation of an unbuildable lot; or 
(d) The creation of a lot that does not have legal access from a public right-of-way or perpetual 

easement. 
(2) Procedures. [Review and approval procedures to be inserted] 

(H) Townhome  
(1) Applicability. Any division of a single-unit or multi-unit structure or structures into two or more 

fee simple estates consisting of townhouses for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of 
sale or building development. 

(2) Procedures. [Review and approval procedures to be inserted] 
(I) Building Footprint 

(1) Applicability. means any division of a single-unit or multi-unit structure or structures into 
individually owned building footprint lots for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale 
or building development. 

(2) Procedures. [Review and approval procedures to be inserted] 
(J) Condominiumization. 

(1) Applicability.  The condominiumization of buildings shall require review and approval of a 
condominium subdivision in accordance with the provisions of this Section 7-5.XX, 
Condominium Subdivision. This section shall apply to all new condominium projects and 
conversions of existing buildings to condominiums. 

(2) Procedures. [Review and approval procedures to be inserted] 
(K) Exempt Division of Land. 

(1) Applicability. To provide procedures and standards by which an exempt division of land may 
be approved. An application for an exempt division of land typically involves the creation of not 
more than two (2) lots from a single parent parcel of land thirty-five (35) acres in size or larger. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 22 of 28 

Nothing in this Section 4.08, Exempt Division of Land, shall be interpreted or administered in 
a manner inconsistent with Colorado Senate Bill 35. 

(2) Procedures. [Review and approval procedures to be inserted] 
(L) Lot Consolidation. 

(1) Applicability. A lot consolidation is when two (2) or more lots, tracts, or parcels less than two 
(2) acres each are consolidated into one (1) lot deleting the common boundary line. The 
consolidation of lots two (2) acres and larger are not required to obtain approval under this 
Section 7-5-XX, Lot Consolidation, however, all other provisions of this Article and Land 
Development Code shall apply to any proposed development on the new parcel. The 
consolidation of lots less than two (2) acres in size are required to go through the lot 
consolidation process outlined herein. A lot consolidation shall not be allowed for any lot, tract, 
or parcel more than one time. Furthermore, a lot consolidation shall not result in any of the 
following: 
(a) The modification or alteration of any public right-of-way; 
(b) The creation of any additional lots; 
(c) The creation of an unbuildable lot; or 
(d) The creation of a lot that does not have legal access from a public right-of-way or perpetual 

easement. 
(2) Procedures. [Review and approval procedures to be inserted] 

(M) Replat. 
(1) Applicability. A replat is required for any request to amend or revise a recorded plat that would 

not be defined as another type of special land division. 
(2) Procedures. [Review and approval procedures to be inserted] 

(N) Right-of-Way Vacation. 
(1) Applicability. The vacation of interests in rights-of-way owned or otherwise held by the Town 

of Ridgway shall be in accordance with the provisions of this Section 7-5-XX, Right-of-Way 
Vacation, and Part 3 of Article 2 of Title 43, C.R.S. 

(2) Procedures. [Review and approval procedures to be inserted] 
 

7-5-3 Subdivision Required Improvements 

(A) The following improvements shall be constructed at the expense of the subdivider in accordance 
with the design standards provided by these Regulations:  
(1) Survey monuments.  
(2) A sewer collection system connected to the Town's sewage system shall be required and 

dedicated to the Town.  
(3) A domestic water distribution system connected to the Town's system and dedicated to the 

Town.  
(4) A fire prevention system.  
(5) Electricity, telephone and CATV.  
(6) Streets within and adjacent to the subdivision as necessary to provide access to each lot. 

Existing streets maintained by the Town for public use shall be improved by the subdivider to 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 23 of 28 

the extent necessary to provide access to abutting lots and to provide proper drainage, grade 
and sidewalk grade. Streets shall be paved in circumstances where required by Town street 
specifications. Streets shall be dedicated to the Town.  

(7) Street signs, stop signs or similar traffic central devices.  
(8) A storm drainage system.  
(9) Street lights.  
(10) Curb and gutter shall be provided along paved streets and where required by Town 

specifications. Concrete sidewalk shall be provided along all abutting streets except when the 
Planning Commission and Town Council determine that sidewalk is necessary on only one side 
of a local street because of the shortness of the street, unusual topographical factors or other 
circumstances which alleviate the need for such sidewalk. In those cases where the proper 
grade of the sidewalk cannot be determined, the Planning Commission and Town Council may 
authorize the execution and recording of an agreement on forms provided by the Town to join 
in an improvement district to install the sidewalk at such time as sidewalk construction becomes 
feasible instead of immediate construction.  

(11) Public trail easements shall be provided and constructed as described in the Town's Land 
Use Plan or Parks and Trails Map, as amended from time to time, and including the 
Uncompahgre RiverWay Trail. The Town may waive this requirement if the property at issue 
has existing trail easements dedicated to the Town of Ridgway. 

(B) Subdivision Improvements Agreement.  
(1) Applicability.  

All applicants granted subdivision approval, or approval of public improvements deemed 
necessary to comply with required adequate public improvements as set forth in these Land 
Development Regulations, shall timely, completely, and satisfactorily construct or install all 
required improvements and infrastructure as called for in these Land Development Regulations 
and/or as may have been specified as a condition of approval. All improvements and 
infrastructure intended for public use shall be dedicated and/or transferred to the town, or 
appropriate agency, free of all liens and encumbrances. 

(2) Agreement and Guarantee.  
No final division of land shall be executed by the town and no building permits shall be issued 
for any lot, parcel or property within a division of land as regulated by this Article 5, Subdivision 
Regulations involving or requiring the installation of public improvements unless and until an 
improvement agreement is prepared and executed pursuant to this Section X,XX, Subdivision 
Improvement Agreement. Such agreement shall be recorded simultaneously with the final 
division of land with the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder. 
(a) Contents of Agreement. Such agreement shall, at a minimum, set forth: 

(i) Construction specifications for required public and private improvements; 
(ii) A construction and completion schedule; 
(iii) Security and guarantees concerning the timely and satisfactory completion of the 

improvements; and 
(iv) The terms and conditions for the acceptance of the improvements by the town. 

(b) Timing of Agreement. The improvement agreement shall include a requirement that all 
improvements be maintained by the developer/subdivider at the cost of the 
developer/subdivider until such improvements have been fully accepted by the town. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 24 of 28 

(c) Agreement to Run with the Land. The improvement agreement shall run with the land and 
bind all successors, heirs, and assignees of the developer/subdivider. 

(d) Security. The improvement agreement shall include a requirement for the posting of 
adequate financial security to ensure the timely, complete, and satisfactory construction 
or installation of all improvements and infrastructure as called for in the agreement. 
(i) Amount of Security. Security shall be in an amount not less than one-hundred and 

fifteen (115) percent of the engineers cost estimate to complete all improvements or 
infrastructure and may be provided by letter of credit, cash escrow, or other financial 
instrument as approved by the Town Council within its sole discretion. 

(ii) Letter of Credit. If a developer/subdivider posts a letter of credit as security, it shall: 
a. Be irrevocable; 
b. Be for a term, inclusive of renewals, sufficient to cover the completion, 

maintenance, and warranty periods as required in Section 4.14.B.2, Timing of 
Agreement; and 

c. Require only that the town present the letter of credit on demand and an affidavit 
signed by the Town Manager attesting to the town’s right to draw funds under the 
letter of credit.  

(iii) Cash Escrow. If a developer/subdivider posts a cash escrow, the escrow instructions 
shall provide: 
a. That the developer/subdivider shall have no right to a return of any of the funds 

except as provided in Section 4.14.B.4.d, Reduction of Security; and 
b. That the escrow agent shall have a legal duty to deliver the funds to the town 

whenever the Town Manager presents an affidavit to the agent attesting to the 
town’s right to receive funds, whether or not the developer/subdivider protests 
that right. 

(iv) Reduction of Security 
c) Upon preliminary acceptance of a public improvement or public 

infrastructure, the town shall release all but fifteen (15) percent of the 
amount of financial security posted to secure the successful and timely 
completion of same, so long as the developer is not in default of any 
provision of the improvement agreement. 

d) The residual fifteen (15) percent retained by the town shall act as security 
for the developer’s/subdivider's guarantee that the public improvements and 
infrastructure remain free of defect during the applicable warranty period. 
The developer/subdivider may at any time during the preliminary acceptance 
or warranty period offer to provide a substitute or supplemental form of 
financial security to that security as originally posted with and/or retained 
by the town. The town may accept substitute or supplemental forms of 
security in its sole discretion. 

(v)  Temporary Improvements. The applicant shall build and pay for all costs of temporary 
improvements required by the town and shall maintain those temporary improvements 
for the period specified by the Town Council. Prior to construction of any temporary 
facility or improvement, the developer/subdivider shall file with the town a separate 
public improvements agreement and a letter of credit or cash escrow in the agreed 
upon amount for temporary facilities, which agreement and credit or escrow shall 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 25 of 28 

ensure that the temporary facilities will be property constructed, maintained, and 
removed. 

(vi) Special Districts  
a. Required public improvements shall be made by the developer/subdivider, at its 

expense, without reimbursement by the town or any improvement district except 
that, as may be allowed under state law, the developer/subdivider may form or 
cause to be formed a special district or districts to construct and finance the 
construction of required public improvements excluding lot improvements on 
individual lots. 

b. If the developer/subdivider does form or cause to be formed a special district for 
the purposes identified in this section, the town shall not release the 
developer/subdivider from its obligations under any public improvements 
agreement nor shall the town release any security, in whole or in part, until the 
special district has sold bonds or otherwise certifies to the town that it has an 
absolute right to raise revenues sufficient to construct, maintain, and warrant the 
quality of the required public improvements. 

(vii) Failure to Complete Improvements 
a. For developments/subdivisions without an executed agreement or security, 

improvements shall be completed within a period specified by the town, or the 
associated development/subdivision application approval shall be deemed to have 
expired. 

b. In those cases where a public improvements agreement has been executed and 
security has been posted and required public improvements have not been 
installed within the terms of the agreement, the town may: 
1) Declare the agreement to be in default and require that all the improvements 

be installed regardless of the extent of the building development at the time 
the agreement is declared to be in default; 

2) Suspend or revoke authorization for subdivision, including without limitation, 
suspension or revocation of previously issued building permits and suspend 
issuance of further building permits until the improvements are completed and 
record a document to that effect for the purpose of public notice; 

c. No certificate of occupancy shall be processed or issued by the town for any lot or 
building within a development prior to the complete and satisfactory installation of 
all development improvements or infrastructure required to serve such lot or 
building, and the payment of any and all development fees then due to the town 
by the developer/subdivider; 

d. Obtain funds under the security and complete improvements itself or through a 
third party; 

e. Assign its right to receive funds under the security to any third party, including a 
subsequent owner of the subdivision for which improvements were not 
constructed, in whole or in part, in exchange for that subsequent owner's promise 
to complete improvements in the subdivision; and/or 

f. Exercise any other rights available under the law. 

7-5-4 DESIGN STANDARDS. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 26 of 28 

(A) All subdivisions shall conform to the minimum design standards of, this Section. The Town Council 
may allow deviation from these standards if it determines that unusual topography or a hardship 
exists, or that alternative standards will more effectively protect the quality of the subdivision and 
the public welfare, or more effectively achieve the purposes of these Subdivision Regulations.  

(B) All subdivisions shall be developed in accordance with the Town's Master Plans, Zoning Regulations, 
Floodplain Regulations, and other applicable Town ordinances, regulations and specifications.  

(C) Streets, Alleys, Lots and Blocks:  
(1) All streets and alleys shall be constructed and designed in accordance with Town Street and 

Road Specifications.  
(2) All lots shall have access to a street connected to the public street system. In order to ensure 

access by emergency service responders, any new subdivision street system must be 
connected by at least two separate routes to the state highway system.  

(3) Access to any public highway under the jurisdiction of the State Department of Highways shall 
be subject to the provisions of the State Highway Access Code. 

(4) Driveways and street access shall be subject to subsection 14-5-15(B).  
(5) Streets shall be aligned to join with planned or existing streets and shall be designed to bear 

a logical relationship to the topography.  
(6) Intersections shall approximate right angles as closely as possible.  
(7) Cul-de-sacs shall be permitted, provided they are not more than 500 feet in length and have a 

turn-around diameter of at least 100 feet. Surface drainage shall be toward the intersecting 
street, or if this is not possible, a drainage easement shall be required through the cul-de-sac.  

(8) Dead-end streets, with the exception of cul-de-sacs, shall be prohibited unless they are 
designed to connect with future streets in adjacent land that has not been platted, in which 
cases a temporary turn-around easement of 80 feet shall be required.  

(9) Restriction of access shall be required when a subdivision or portion thereof adjoins an arterial 
highway. Marginal access streets, reverse frontage with screen planting contained in a non-
access reservation, deep lots or similar treatment shall be required to reduce the impact of the 
traffic on residential properties and to avoid interference with the movement of the traffic on 
thoroughfares.  

(10) Half streets shall be prohibited.  
(11) Reverse curves on major arterials shall be joined by a tangent at least 200 feet in length.  
(12) Reserve strips controlling access to streets, are permitted only if control of such strips is 

given to the Town.  
(13) Street, alley and easement right-of-way widths and grades shall not be less than the 

following:  

 Width Minimum 
Grade 

Maximum 
Grade 

Arterial Highways 120' 0.5 5% 
Major Streets 100' 0.5 5% 
Collector Streets 80' 0.5 7% 
Local Streets 60' 0.5 7% 
Marginal Access Streets 40' 0.5 7% 
Alleys (where permitted) 20'   
Easements 20'   



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 27 of 28 

 
(14) Alleys shall be provided in commercial and industrial areas, except that this requirement 

may be waived where other provisions are made and approved for service access.  
(15) Block lengths and widths shall be suitable for the uses contemplated and shall be adequate 

for requirements pertaining to minimum lot sizes and dimensions.  
(16) Lots with double frontage shall be avoided, except where essential to separation from 

major arterials or from incompatible land uses.  
(17) Side lot lines shall be substantially at right angles or radial to street lines.  
(18) The Town may require any street, sidewalk and related infrastructure, on a steep slope, 

or where there is any evidence to suspect problems due to instability, or other adverse soil 
conditions, to be owned and maintained by the lot owners or an owners' association, or may 
require an extended warranty of maintenance and repair from the subdivider. A slope easement 
shall be dedicated to the Town to accommodate the area of any cut or fill off of the right-of-
way and an additional ten feet beyond the cut or fill. Such easement shall allow the Town to 
maintain the slope, cut and fill, and street improvements. Additionally, such easements may 
be accompanied by a plat not holding the Town harmless on account of any sloughing or 
disturbance due to maintenance, the cut or the fill.  

(D) Public Utilities and Utility Easements:  
(1) Utility easements shall be a minimum of 20 feet centered on the rear or side lot lines, or where 

appropriate, ten feet on either side of a street.  
(2) All utilities shall be installed underground unless existing utilities are overhead and the existing 

poles can be used.  
(E) Water and Sewer Systems:  

Water, fire prevention and sewer systems shall be designed by a professional engineer, and 
constructed in accordance with good engineering practices to Town design and construction 
standards and specifications.  

(F) Curb, Gutter and Sidewalks:  
Curb, gutter and sidewalks shall be designed and constructed in accordance with Town design and 
construction standards and specifications and good engineering practices.  

(G) Monuments:  
Monuments shall be placed at the corners of all street intersections, at the intersections of the 
boundary of the subdivision with street right-of-way lines, at angle points and points of curve in 
each street, and at points of change and direction of the exterior of the subdivision and at other 
locations required by statute. The top of the monument shall have a metal cap set flush to identify 
the location. Lot corners shall be marked as required by law. Monuments shall be constructed as 
provided in Town street and road specifications.  

(H) Drainage Systems:  
Drainage systems shall be provided in accordance with the final plat as approved. Drainage 
easements shall generally direct the flow to the front of the lots or to natural drainage ways as 
such exist, utilizing a minimum 20-foot easement. Where water courses or ditches traverse the 
subdivision, lots and improvements shall be designed and provided to protect against flooding in 
accordance with the Town's Flood Plain Regulations. The drainage system shall be designed to 
avoid increasing the discharge to property outside the subdivision unless agreed to by the owner 
of any property affected.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 5 – Subdivision Regulations 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 28 of 28 

(I) Other Improvements:  
Any other improvements provided shall comply with any applicable Town standards and 
specifications and shall be designed and constructed in accordance with good engineering 
practices.  

(J) Plat Notes:  
(1) Plat notes and covenants may be required by the Town as appropriate to implement the 

provisions of these regulations, and to hold the Town harmless from risks associated with 
natural hazards and conditions or other risks, which should be borne by the subdivider. Plat 
notes shall be on Town approved forms, run with the land and bind all successors in interest 
thereto.  

(2) Any plat notes on prior Town Subdivision or PUD plats, or plats of survey which created new 
parcels, including those notes requiring release by the Town Council, shall not be enforceable 
by the Town, and are superseded unless reiterated on the plat. Plat notes which are intended 
to benefit lot owners within the subdivision will be reiterated unless such owners sign a 
document to indicate their concurrence with the proposed plat notes.  

(3) Plat notes on prior Town plats are superseded unless reiterated or incorporated by reference 
on the plat.  

(4) Plat notes may be required in the following circumstances.  
(a) To set out maintenance requirements of the lot owners, enforceable by the Town, for 

various improvements such as drainage, detention and retention facilities, commonly 
owned areas, private streets and other private improvements.  

(b) To require engineered foundations in areas of steep slopes or other questionable soil 
conditions together with provisions giving notice of, and holding the Town harmless from, 
potential problems due to slopes, cut and fill areas, adverse soil conditions or other natural 
hazards. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 1 of 18 

Chapter 7: Land Development Regulations 
SECTION 6 – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) 
 
7-6-1 GENERAL PROVISIONS [Essentially all new language, process, and standards except as otherwise 

noted.] 

(A) Authorization 

Planned Unit Developments (PUD) are authorized by state statute at Title 24, Article 67, C.R.S., 
Planned Unit Development Act of 1972. 

(B) General Provisions [Brought in from Sec. 7-3-16] 
(1) The intent of this Subsection is to encourage the development of unique projects and tracts 

of land in accordance with an overall development plan by providing flexibility with respect to 
dimensional and density requirements, and to promote the purposes of the Planned Unit 
Development Act of 1972. 

(2) An application for a PUD zoning is a type of rezoning. A PUD zoning application shall be 
accompanied by a PUD development plan and a PUD development guide. The review process 
for PUD zoning applications is set forth in Section X.XX, Review Procedures. Upon approval, 
the applicable zoning district standards shall be those established by the PUD development 
plan and the PUD development guide. 

(C) Intent 
These PUD regulations and standards are intended to: 
(1) Allow flexibility in the development of medium and large-scale sites with unique 

characteristics; 
(2) Permit development in a manner varying from standards and regulations set forth in this 

Land Development Regulations in exchange for innovative design and creative land use that 
might otherwise not be permitted by traditional zoning districts when narrowly construed; 

(3) Promote the unified and integrated development and use of land at its highest feasible 
economic and visual values while protecting the natural physical environment of the town; 

(4) Foster development that arranges various land uses in appropriate relationship to each other, 
to commonly shared open space, and to common facilities; 

(5) Provide a greater variety in type, design, and layout of buildings and open space; 
(6) Utilize land and public services more efficiently; and 
(7) Provide a range of housing options at market and affordable rates. 

(D) Application 
A PUD may be requested for land located in any zoning district. A land use application and all 
submittal requirements shall be submitted to the Ridgway Town Hall as set forth in this Section 
6, Planned Unit Development. 

(E) Eligibility  
A PUD should not be permitted on a project area of less than two (2) acres in area. Such area 
may include one (1) or more contiguous lots, tracts, parcels, or properties.  

(1) The project area may be reduced if the following applies:  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 2 of 18 

(a) Common and/or dedicated open space is provided commensurate with requested 
reduction; or  

(b) If the layout and design of land uses and amenities provided in the PUD warrant an 
increase in density or a reduction of project size.  

(2) The applicant may request a reduction in project area in conjunction with the PUD 
Zoning application and the request will be considered by the Planning Commission and 
Town Council as part of the overall request. 

(F) Permitted Uses 
(1) Any use that is allowed by right or by conditional use permit within the underlying zone 

district may be allowed in a PUD. 
(2) Uses that are consistent with the intent of applicable portions of the Master Plan in the 

reasonable judgment of the Town Council and compatible with the site’s physical and 
environmental characteristics may be allowed in a PUD. 

(G) Coordination with Subdivision and Zoning Regulations 
The PUD is a type of customized zoning district. All standards and regulations set forth in Section 
4, Zoning Regulations and Section 5, Subdivision Regulations, as applicable, apply to the PUD 
and such criteria shall be met in addition to all standards and criteria set forth in this Section, 
unless specifically permitted to be waived or varied by the Town Council. 
(1) It is the intent of these Land Use Regulations that subdivision hearings and review under 

Section 5, Subdivision Regulations may cover only a portion of the entire project when the 
development is built in stages or phases. 

(2) At the discretion of the applicant and subject to approval by the Town Council as a part of 
the PUD review, the applicant may choose to delay initiation of review of a subdivision 
application until final approval of PUD is obtained for the entire project area. 

(H) Modification of Requirements 
The Town Council may waive or modify specifications, standards, and requirements such as 
density, setbacks, height restrictions, land dedications, improvement standards, architectural 
design standards, use standards, and related requirements that would otherwise be applicable to 
a particular land use provided such waiver or modification is found to further the objectives of 
these PUD regulations and the community goals, policies, and objectives. 

 
7-6-2 PUD STANDARDS [New language. What additional standards should we include in exchange for allowing 
a PUD?] 

(A) General Provisions 
The following provisions apply to all PUD application requests: 
(1) Conformity with the Master Plan. 

The proposed PUD shall be consistent with the applicable portions of the Master Plan in the 
reasonable judgement of the approving body. 

(2) Relationship to Surrounding Area. 
The PUD will not have an adverse effect on the surrounding area. The PUD shall be 
compatible with the scale, intensity, and type of uses located on adjacent and nearby 
properties. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 3 of 18 

(B) Affordable Housing [New language intended to further to community goals to increase affordable housing 
options and development within Ridgway. These standards reflect a summary of discussions with developers, 
Planning Commission, Town Council. Any suggested changes, amendments, or additions are encouraged.] 
(1) The PUD development shall restrict the ownership, use, and occupancy of residential dwelling 

units in accordance with these standards. Such restrictions shall be in effect in perpetuity, 
shall not expire, and shall survive any foreclosure, unless the restrictions are otherwise 
released or modified with the written consent of the Town. A deed restriction shall be 
recorded on each unit to be restricted under these standards.  

(2) All PUD developments shall provide, at minimum, the following: 
(a) A minimum of 25% of housing units shall be restricted in accordance with these 

standards.  
(b) Any owner of a restricted unit shall maintain his/her sole residence and abode in Ouray 

County, Colorado, or provide written intent of his/her desire and intent to do so within 30 
days of purchasing the restricted unit.  

(c) At the time of purchase of a restricted unit, including the original property transfer and 
all subsequent resales and transfers of property, at least one person in the household 
shall earn the majority of their income in Ouray County, or from an employer based in 
Ouray County.  

(d) At the time of purchase, including the original property transfer and all subsequent 
resales and transfers of property, the household income will be 120% or less of the Area 
Median Income (AMI) for the unit, as the same are determined by the United States 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), as adjusted annually. Proof of 
this must be presented to the Town in advance of any transfer of a restricted unit. Proof 
shall include written documentation, such as income tax returns, verifying annual income 
for the prior year. HUD income limits are derived from the most recent data provided by 
HUD regarding AMI for Ouray County. 

(e) No short-term rentals shall be permitted for the restricted units.  
(C) Installation of Electric Vehicle Spaces 

(1) All new development within a PUD shall comply with Table X.XX, EVSE Installed and EV 
Capable Space Requirements with regards to minimum number of spaces required for the 
provision of Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment (EVSE) installed and Electric Vehicle (EV) 
Capable parking spaces. 
[These space requirements come from Ch. 65 of the Building Construction Standards and are 
consistent with Energy Code requirements.] 

Table X.XX, EVSE Installed and EV Capable Space Requirements. 

Total Number 
of Parking 

Spaces 

Minimum Number 
of EVSE Installed 

Spaces 

Minimum Number 
of EV Capable 

Spaces 
1-10 1 - 
11-15 2 3 
16-19 2 4 
20-25 2 5 

26+ 2 20% of total parking 
spaces 

 
  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 4 of 18 

7-6-3 GENERAL PUD REVIEW PROCEDURES.  [New language] 

This section outlines the review procedures that are common to all PUD applications. Table X-XX, PUD 
Application Types and Processes, identifies the various PUD application types and their associated review 
procedures regulated by this article. The submittal requirements, review procedures, and approval criteria 
for each application type is laid out in subsequent sections of this article as identified in Table X-XX. All 
documents and materials identified in Section X-XX, General PUD Review Procedures and the particular 
application type section shall be required.  

(A) Table of PUD Application Types and Processes 
PUD applications shall be processed in accordance with Table X-XX, PUD Application Types and 
Processes. 
Table X-XX, PUD Application Types and Processes 

 
Pre-

Application 
Meeting 

Completeness 
Review Referrals Notice of 

Hearing 
Planning 

Commission 
Town 

Council Recording 

R= Required; O-Optional; PH=Public Hearing; Rec = Recommendation; D= Decision 

PUD Zoning R R R R 
Posting 

R 
PH/Rec 

R 
PH/D R 

Major PUD 
Amendment R R R R 

Posting 
R 

PH/Rec 
R 

PH/D R 

Minor PUD 
Amendment O R  O R 

PH/Rec 
R 

PH/D R 

 
(B) Pre-Application Meeting  

If the applicant or Town Manager or their designee, requests a pre-application meeting, the 
following process shall be followed:  
(a) Prior to the formal submission of the application, the applicant shall contact the Town 

Manager or their designee to schedule and request a pre-application meeting. Following 
receipt of a request, the pre-application meeting should be set for a date within ten (10) 
business days of the date of the applicant’s request. The Town Manager or their designee 
shall advise the applicant of the date and time of the pre-application meeting. 

(b) The applicant shall be prepared to discuss the proposed application with the Town Manager 
or their designee. The applicant is encouraged to present such plats, plans, diagrams, or 
other preliminary information sufficient to allow a conceptual review of the proposed 
application. 

(c) The purpose of the pre-application meeting is to assist the applicant in understanding the 
town’s application review processes and to allow the Town Manager or their designee to 
determine the applicable process(es) and regulations for the proposed application.  

(C) Application Submittal Requirements  
All of the following information and materials shall be submitted to the Town of Ridgway in a 
form acceptable to the Town Manager or designee. Additional information and materials required 
to be submitted for each specific application type identified in Table XXX are set forth in 
subsequent sections of this Section and shall also be submitted in order to receive a 
determination of completeness. 
(a) Basic PUD Application Materials 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 5 of 18 

The following materials are required for all applications regulated by Section 6, Planned Unit 
Development, unless waived by the Town Manager or their designee.  

(i) Application Form. An application form for the request shall be obtained from the 
Town. Completed application forms and accompanying materials shall be 
submitted to the Town by the owner or applicant.  
a. Authorized Agent. If the applicant is not the owner of the land based on Ouray 

County Assessor records, the applicant shall submit a letter signed by the 
owner consenting to the submission of the application(s). 

b. Applicant is Not the Sole Owner. If the applicant is not the sole owner of the 
land, the applicant shall submit a letter signed by all owners or an association 
representing all the owners, by which all owners consent to or join in the 
application.  

(ii) Fees. All application fees shall be in compliance with Section 7-1-6, Fees and Costs.  
(iii) Proof of Ownership. Proof of Ownership in the form of a copy of the property deed 

or a title commitment which has been issued within sixty (60) days of the 
application submittal along with copies of all documents listed in the exceptions. 

(iv) Legal Description. Legal description of the property subject to the development 
application.  

(v) Mineral Interest Owners. List of all mineral interest owners with interests severed 
from the subject property.  

(vi) Vicinity Map. A map locating the project limits, parcel(s), and property within 
Ridgway. The vicinity map shall clearly show the boundaries of the subject property 
and all property within a three-mile radius of the subject property.  

(vii) General Written Narrative. A general written narrative identifying the development 
team, existing conditions of the property, proposed uses, density, lot layout, end 
users, financing, public dedications (including rights-of-way, parks, open space, 
infrastructure), and describing the purpose of the project, how the request meets 
the applicable approval criteria, furthers the goals and objectives specified in the 
Master Plan, and identifying any potential impacts on adjacent properties and 
public infrastructure and how those impacts are proposed to be mitigated.  

(D) Completeness Review  
When a completeness determination is required pursuant to Table X-X.X, the following shall 
apply: 
(a) Within ten (10) days following receipt of an application, the Town Manager or their designee 

shall administratively review the application and determine whether it includes all the 
application content requirements of the Ridgway Municipal Code for the requested application 
type. 

(b) All plans, reports, maps, and other information required for the application type must be 
complete and legible. A failure of the application to meet the requirements of Chapter 7, 
Land Use Regulations and the Ridgway Municipal Code may delay the processing of the 
application until the application is sufficient and deemed complete. 

(c) When the Town Manager or designee determines that the application is complete as 
submitted, the Town Manager or designee shall process the application for review in 
accordance with the provisions set forth in this Section 6, Planned Unit Development. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 6 of 18 

(d) In the event the Town Manager or designee determines that the application is incomplete, 
the Town Manager or designee shall inform the applicant in writing of the deficiencies in the 
application. No further processing of the incomplete application shall be undertaken until the 
Town Manager, or designee, determines that the applicant has remedied the application’s 
deficiencies.  

(E) Referral Agencies  
In accordance with Table X-X.X, applications shall be referred to any of the below referral agencies 
the Town Manager or their designee determines is necessary to the complete and comprehensive 
review of the request. Referral of applications to other agencies shall be for a minimum time frame 
of fourteen (14) days. However, the time frame for review and comment may be extended if the 
application presents technical issues which require additional review, additional information is 
provided by the applicant, or the application is modified. Referral agencies include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 
(a) Bureau of Land Management (BLM) 
(b) Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) 
(c) Colorado Division of Reclamation, Mining & Safety 
(d) Colorado Division of Water Resources 
(e) Colorado Parks and Wildlife 
(f) Colorado State Forest Service 
(g) Ditch companies 
(h) Fire Protection District(s) or department(s) 
(i) Ouray County Departments (Assessor, Clerk & Recorder, Attorney, Health Department, Building 

Department, Road & Bridge, Sheriff Office, etc.) as appropriate  
(j) Town of Ridgway Departments (Town Clerk, Town Attorney, Engineering Department, Building 

Department, Public Works Department, Police Department, etc.) as appropriate  
(k) Water Conservation District(s) 
(l) San Miguel Power Authority 
(m) School district(s) 
(n) Soil Conservation District  
(o) Utility service providers and districts 
(p) US Army Corp of Engineers 
(q) US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
(r) US Forest Service 
(s) Xcel Energy / Public Service of Colorado 
(t) Any other entity or agency deemed necessary by the Town Manager or their designee 

(F) Staff Report  
The Town Manager or their designee shall review the application to determine if the proposal 
satisfies the applicable standards. The Town Manager or their designee shall prepare a staff report 
discussing whether the applicable standards of the Ridgway Municipal Code have been satisfied. 
The staff report should identify issues raised through staff and referral agency review, potential 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 7 of 18 

mitigation requirements, any recommended conditions for approval, and any additional information 
pertinent to the review of the application.  

(G) Notice Requirements  
All public notices of hearings required by this Section shall include the date, time, place, and 
purpose of the hearing, a general description of the property affected, and any other information 
deemed appropriate to apprise the public of the general nature of the action proposed. Errors or 
inaccuracies in the notice shall not be deemed sufficient cause to postpone or invalidate a hearing 
except where such errors are substantive in material and are found to have reasonably mislead or 
misinformed the public.  
(a) Notice by Posting 

When notice by posting is required for a public hearing by Table X-X.X, notice of the hearing 
shall be posted at Town Hall ten (10) days before the hearing and posted, visible from each 
street frontage abutting the property, for at least ten (10) days prior to the hearing in addition 
to any other notice required by Town regulations. 

(b) Mineral Estates Notice.  
Per 24-65.5-103, C.R.S. if the surface estate and mineral estate are severed, the owners of 
severed mineral estates shall be entitled to notification of not less than thirty (30) days before 
the date scheduled for the public hearing for the application. A copy of the notice shall be given 
to the Town along with the applicant’s certification of compliance with said notification 
requirements. Provided this notice is not required if notice was previously sent and such 
certification previously provided with respect to the same surface development, or the 
application is only platting an additional single lot, unless a mineral estate owner has requested 
notice pursuant to 24-6-402(7), C.R.S. 

(H) Public Hearings  
When a PUD application requires a public hearing before the Planning Commission or the Town 
Council in accordance with Table X-X.X, the following shall apply:  
(a) The Town shall set the date and time of a public hearing. Notice of the public hearing shall be 

issued in accordance with Table X-X.X and Section XXX.XX, Notice Requirements.  
(b) At the public hearing, the reviewing body shall review the application for conformance with the 

applicable review standards and approval criteria for the request.  
(c) Any public hearing or other action of the body may be continued or postponed at any time to 

a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional information for further 
review by the reviewing body.  

(d) When required, the Planning Commission recommendation shall be forwarded to the Town 
Council. Following a public hearing, the Town Council shall approve, approve with conditions, 
or deny the application or continue the matter to a date certain.  

(e) The applicant shall bear the burden of presenting sufficient competent evidence at the public 
hearing to support the standards for approval set forth by this Ridgway Municipal Code. Any 
decision by the reviewing body to recommend, or to act to, approve, conditionally approve, or 
deny an application shall be based upon a consideration of all evidence presented during the 
public hearing. Where evidence presented is contradictory, the reviewing body shall weigh such 
evidence and judge the credibility and sufficiency of the evidence prior to rendering a decision.  

  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 8 of 18 

(I) Post Approval  
(a) Review. Prior to recording of the approved documents, the applicant shall submit all final 

documents reflecting any conditions of approval to the Town Manager or their designee for 
final review and acknowledgement.  

(b) Recording. Any documents required to be recorded with the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder 
shall be fully executed by the applicant and filed for execution by the Town and recorded. 
Recording of all documents shall be completed within a reasonable period of time from the 
date of approval by the approving body.  

(c) Effective Upon Recording. The approval does not become effective until all approved 
documents have been properly recorded with the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder. 

 

7-6-4 PUD ZONING [New language] 

(A) General Provisions 
An application for a PUD zoning is a type of rezoning. A PUD zoning application shall be 
accompanied by a PUD development plan and a PUD development guide. The review process for 
PUD zoning applications are set forth in Section X-XX, Review Procedures. Upon approval, the 
applicable zoning district standards shall be those established by the PUD development plan and 
the PUD development guide. 

(B) Review Procedures 
(1) Review Flowchart. Figure X, PUD Zoning Flowchart, depicts the PUD zoning application 

review process described in greater detail in this section.  
Figure X, PUD Zoning Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 
(2) Pre-Application Meeting. A pre-application meeting shall be held in accordance with the 

provisions set forth in Section X-XX, Pre-Application Meeting. 
(3) Application Submittal Requirements. The following are the application materials required to 

be submitted for a PUD zoning request. The Town Manager or designee may waive or alter 
any of the submittal requirements if they are determined to be inappropriate or unnecessary 
to determining if the application satisfies applicable standards. 

(i) Basic PUD Application Materials. All materials set forth in Section X-XX, Basic PUD 
Application Materials. 

(ii) PUD Written Description.  A written description of the proposal shall be submitted 
with a PUD zoning application including and addressing the following information: 
a. The names and addresses of owner, applicant and representative; 
b. General project concept and purpose of the request including, but not limited to, 

the character of the PUD, character and density of residential uses, and an 
explanation of how employee housing needs associated with the PUD will be met 
within the PUD and elsewhere; 

c. Relationship of the proposed PUD development to the existing land uses and 
adjacent property land uses; 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 9 of 18 

d. The expected schedule and phasing of the project including an explanation of 
how the phasing plan will satisfy basic needs of residents, visitors and future 
business owners of the project; 

e. Compliance with the Master Plan; 
f. Source of and legal right to water. Written confirmation of service availability 

from a water and sanitation provider or district if the property lies within a 
service boundary; 

g. Method of wastewater treatment and disposal; 
h. Method of fire protection; 
i. Names and addresses of severed mineral rights owners on the affected property 

and mineral rights lessees; names and addresses of water rights owners; 
j.  Description of natural and manmade hazards which may exist on the property; 
k. Discussion of impacts on services, including but not limited to county services, 

town services, and schools; 
l. Discussion of impacts on existing flora and fauna, air quality, wildlife, historic 

lands or sites, drainage or mineral extraction; 
m. A list of the modifications of standard zoning standards and regulations being 

requested and justification for such requests; and 
n. A statement of proposed financing. 

(iii) PUD Development Plan.  The development plan for a PUD zoning application must 
depict and contain the following information: 
a. The size of the plan shall be prepared at a size that is legible for reasonable 

review and interpretation, as determined by the Town Manager or designee; 
b. A scale that is one (1) inch equals two hundred (200) feet or another suitable 

scale if approved by the Town Manager or designee; 
c. Name or identifying title of the proposed development or use; 
d. Legal description, date of preparation, north arrow, scale, and legend; 
e. Vicinity map at a suitable scale; 
f. Certification of taxes paid; 
g. Total area of the site, in acres and square footage. If there are two or more lots 

included in the PUD, the gross and net acreage of individual lots, open space, 
common areas, and rights-of-way; 

h. Name, address, telephone number, and e-mail address of the applicant, person 
preparing the map or plan, designer, engineer, surveyor, and any other 
consultants of the applicant; 

i. The following signature and certificate blocks: 
1) Certification of title showing the applicant is the landowner, contract 

purchaser or option-holder; 
2) Certification by the project surveyor certifying to the accuracy of the survey 

and plat; 
3) Certification of the Ridgway Planning Commission approval; 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 10 of 18 

4) Certification for approval of the Ridgway Town Council; and 
5) Certification for the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder. 

j. Existing land uses and zoning on adjoining properties; 
k. Public or private sources of utility services and facilities including a statement 

concerning proposed financing and, where appropriate, types of security 
anticipated to assure installation of such facilities; 

l. Location and size of all existing and proposed land uses, including proposed 
densities, where applicable; 

m. Proposed use and gross floor area of structures and anticipated number of 
employees if commercial or industrial uses; 

n. Depiction of all natural and man-made water courses, retention areas, streams 
and lakes. Any known one hundred-year (100-yr) flood plains affecting the 
property shall also be delineated as per the national Flood Plain Insurance Map 
or those maps provided by the US Army Corp of Engineers or another recognized 
source; 

o. Building envelopes in hazardous areas to protect natural resources, if deemed 
appropriate by the county; 

p. Areas where geologic hazard, mineral resources, wildfire hazards, or other 
natural hazards may exist; 

q. Land to be used for common areas devoted to community use, and land 
dedicated to the town; 

r. The maximum height of all buildings; 
s. Areas that are to be conveyed, dedicated or reserved as public parks or open 

space, recreational areas, and as sites for schools or other civic uses; 
t. Topography at ten-foot (10’) contours, with delineation of areas having slopes 

twenty percent (20%) or more and other significant topographic conditions at 
more defined contours; 

u. The traffic and circulation network, off-street parking areas, service areas, 
loading areas and major points of access including the widths, lines, and names 
of all existing and proposed streets, drives, alleys, and roads on or affecting the 
site, and names of existing streets and alleys, if known, on or adjoining the 
property. The general location and right-of-way widths for all arterials and 
collectors shall be shown; 

v. A landscape plan identifying the location, spacing, size and proposed plant 
material and species schedule; 

w. Conceptual building elevations identifying the architectural intent and the means 
by which the intent will be achieved; 

x. Names and right-of-way width of each street or other right-of-way, even if for 
private maintenance and responsibility; 

y. Uses and grantees of all existing and proposed easements and rights-of-way on 
or adjacent to the parcel, shown by location and dimension; 

z. Primary control points, or descriptions and “ties” to such control points to which 
all dimensions, angles, bearings, and similar data on the plat shall be referred; 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 11 of 18 

aa. Location and description of monuments; 
bb. Tract boundary lines, right-of-way lines of streets, easements, and other rights-

of-way, and property lines of residential lots and other sites, with accurate 
dimensions, bearings or deflection angels and radius, arcs, and central angles of 
all curves; 

cc. Number to identify each lot, parcel, tract, outlot or site, such as lot and block 
numbers; 

dd. Preliminary street and road plans and profiles; and 
ee. The location, size and character of proposed signs, lighting and advertising 

devices. 
(iv) PUD Development Guide  

a. General. All PUD applications must include a proposed development guide that 
will be applicable only to that particular PUD and not to any other zone district or 
development. The development guide shall formally establish the standards and 
requirements for development within the entire PUD. The standards and 
requirements for development in the approved development guide may be 
different from the standards and practices established by this Ridgway Municipal 
Code if the requested modifications from those regulations are, in the opinion of 
the Town Council, reasonable as well as necessary to the overall project 
development, and not detrimental to the town or the residents thereof. The 
regulations and standards contained within this Ridgway Municipal Code, existing 
or as may be amended, shall be applicable to any matter which is not addressed 
in the approved development guide. Each PUD owner as well as their heirs, 
successors, or assigns shall be bound by all matters, covenants, restrictions, 
terms and conditions contained in the approved and recorded development plan 
and development guide, and the same shall run with the land. The PUD 
development guide may be included as notation sheets within the PUD 
development plan or submitted as a separate document to be recorded with the 
PUD materials. 

b. Contents of Development Guide. If no amendments or modifications are 
proposed for a particular standard or regulation, the standard or regulation set 
forth in this Ridgway Municipal Code shall apply to all uses and areas within the 
PUD. The development guide for all PUD applications must contain, at a 
minimum, provisions regarding the following development features: 
1) Objective, purpose and intent. The development guide shall further public 

health, safety, and the general welfare; facilitate the efficient utilization of 
land; ensure that there shall be an appropriate relationship with surrounding 
land and generally encourage compatibility with overall town planning 
objectives. 

2) Ridgway Municipal Code. The development guide shall supersede the 
Ridgway Municipal Code to the extent there are conflicts between the 
development guide and the Ridgway Municipal Code. 

3) Definitions. Any term or word not defined within this Ridgway Municipal Code 
shall be defined within the PUD development guide. Any term not explicitly 
defined by the development guide shall default to the terms and words 
defined in Section X-X, Definitions, of this Ridgway Municipal Code. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 12 of 18 

4) Land use planning areas. Land use planning areas and the uses permitted 
within each planning area. 

5) Dimensional Standards. Dimensional standards for each land use planning 
area including setbacks, building height, lot size, lot width, and densities. 

6) Streets. Street scape and cross-section design depicting the total right-of-
way width, vehicle travel lanes, surface material, landscaping and/or 
sidewalk as required by this Ridgway Municipal Code. 

7) Public facilities. Utilities and services (including water, sewer, roads, electric, 
gas, telephone, fiber optic, police, fire, medical, solid waste, schools, and 
snow storage and removal) and the financing for construction, installation, 
and/or maintenance of those facilities and services. 

8) Estimated construction costs and proposed method of financing of the 
streets and related facilities, water distribution system, sewage collection 
system, storm drainage facilities, and such other utilities as may be required 
of the applicant by the town. 

9) Signs and outdoor advertisement. Signs shall conform to the requirements in 
effect for the underlying zone pursuant to Section X-X, Sign Regulations, 
except that the PUD development guide may include amendments to those 
standards when it is determined by the Town Manager or designee that such 
amendments will result in better relationship of the signs to the general 
layout and design of the PUD. 

10) Parking. On-and off-street parking & loading area requirements for each use 
and planning area. If no standards are proposed, the standards set forth in 
this Ridgway Municipal Code shall apply to all uses and areas within the PUD. 

11) Landscaping. Landscaping design guidelines which enhance the PUD project 
shall include design standards and criteria for the construction of parks, 
trails, rights-of-way (where applicable), common areas, and non-residential 
uses. Such standards shall identify species, layout, maintenance, and design 
that will survive the Ridgway climate and geography. 

12) Accessory structure and uses. Any desired accessory structure or use may be 
allowed within a PUD provided any potential impacts of the structure or use 
are mitigated to an acceptable level. 

13) General development schedule. A general development schedule of 
construction of each phase including necessary public improvements for each 
phase. 

c. Supplemental Submittal Materials  
1) Domestic water supply and wastewater treatment systems complying with 

the standards of Section X-X-X, Design Standards, and the State Division of 
Water Resources regulations.  

2) Proposed covenants, conditions, and restrictions.  
3) Erosion control plan and drainage report.  
4) Mechanism for maintaining and preserving open space and common areas.  

(v) Supplemental Materials. The following items are also required to be submitted to the 
Town of Ridgway: 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 13 of 18 

a. Proof of minimum guarantee water supply.  
(vi) Additional Requirements.  

Any additional information that may be reasonably requested by the Town Manager 
or designee and determined to be necessary to enable an adequate and 
comprehensive evaluation of the application. 

(4) Completeness Review.  
The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in accordance 
with the provisions of Section X.XX, Completeness Review. 

(5) Evaluation by Staff and Review Agencies.  
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section X.XX, Referral Agencies 
and review the application for conformance with the requirements and standards of this 
Section and Chapter 7, Land Use Regulations.  

(6) Staff Report.  
A staff report shall be prepared and provided to the reviewing body in accordance with 
Section X.XX, Staff Report. 

(7) Review and Recommendation by Planning Commission.  
The Planning Commission shall review the PUD Zoning application in a manner consistent 
with Table X-XX to evaluate compliance with applicable standards. Following their review of 
the application, the Planning Commission shall provide a recommendation to approve, 
approve with conditions, or deny the application to the Town Council based on the criteria 
set forth in Section X-XX, Approval Criteria. 

(i) The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the public 
hearing to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional 
information for further review by the Planning Commission prior to providing a 
recommendation to the Town Council. 

(8) Review and Action by Town Council.  
The final decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a PUD Zoning Application 
shall be made by the Town Council in a manner set forth in Table X-XX and be based upon 
the review criteria set forth in Section X-XX Approval Criteria.  

(i) The Town Council may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the public hearing 
to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional information 
for further review by the Town Council prior to making a final decision.  

(9) Recordation. 
The applicant shall cause the PUD development plan and PUD development guide to be 
recorded with the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder as required by Section X-X-X, Post 
Approval. 

  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 14 of 18 

(C) Approval Criteria [Replaced current approval criteria in Sec. 7-3-16(B) with the following more robust 
criteria.] 
The following criteria shall be found to be met by the application and supplemental materials in 
order for the Planning Commission and/or Town Council to recommend approval or approve a 
PUD zoning application and associated development plan and development guide:  
(1) There is a legitimate need for the proposed development to be processed as a PUD;  
(2) The PUD does not negatively impact the immediate area, including employee housing 

requirements;  
(3) An exception from the zoning and subdivision regulations and requirements is warranted by 

virtue of the design and amenities incorporated in the development plan and development 
guide;  

(4) The land surrounding the proposed PUD can be planned in coordination with the proposed 
PUD; 

(5) The proposed PUD zoning is consistent with the applicable portions of the Master Plan in the 
reasonable judgement of the approving body; 

(6) Existing and proposed utility services are adequate for the proposed development and that 
the methods of financing, construction and maintenance are acceptable to the county; 

(7) The PUD creates a desirable and stable environment, and does not cause unacceptable air, 
water or noise pollution; and 

(8) The overall PUD design concept as well as the general phasing scheme are suitable to the 
land, community, and local economy. 

 
7-6-5  MAJOR PUD AMENDMENT [New language] 

(A) General Provisions 
(1) Major PUD amendments include any modification or amendment to an approved PUD 

development plan or development guide which: 
(a) Modifies the approved phasing plan; 
(b) Modifies a use or density established by the PUD; or 
(c) Removes or substantially modifies any standard or plan provision. 

(2) Amendments and modifications to an approved PUD development plan and/or development 
guides may be requested in accordance with this Section X.XX, Major PUD Amendment. 

(3) No amendments may be made to an approved PUD development plan and/or development 
guide during the construction of the improvements governed by the PUD. 

(B) Review Procedures 
(1) Review Flowchart. Figure X, Major PUD Amendment, depicts the major PUD amendment 

application review process described in greater detail in this section.  
Figure XX, Major PUD Amendment Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 
(2) Pre-Application Meeting. A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the 

provisions set forth in Section X-XX, Pre-Application Meeting. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 15 of 18 

(3) Application Submittal Requirements. The following are the application materials required to 
be submitted for a major PUD amendment request. The Town Manager or designee may 
waive or alter any of the submittal requirements if they are determined to be inappropriate or 
unnecessary to determining if the application satisfies applicable standards. 

(i) Basic PUD Application Materials. All materials set forth in Section X-XX, Basic PUD 
Application Materials. 

(ii)  Written Narrative 
a. General description of the amendment(s) being requested including the proposed 

amendments to the PUD general description, PUD development plan, and/or PUD 
development guide. 

b. Written narrative and description of how the proposed PUD amendment(s) 
comply with the standards of this Ridgway Municipal Code and the criteria set 
forth in Section XXX, Approval Criteria.  

(iii) PUD Development Plan.  
All materials and information required to be included in a PUD zoning request as sort 
forth in Section X.XX, PUD Development Plan, shall be submitted with a major PUD 
amendment request.  

(iv) PUD Development Guide. 
All materials and information required to be included in a PUD zoning request as set 
forth in Section X.XX, PUD Development Guide shall be submitted with a major PUD 
amendment request. 

(v) Supplemental Materials. The following items are also required to be submitted to the 
Town of Ridgway. 
a. Proof of minimum guaranteed water supply. 

(vi) Additional Requirements.  
Any other information deemed necessary by the Town Manager or designee to assist 
in the review of the application.  

(4) Completeness Review.  
The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in accordance 
with the provisions of Section X.XX, Completeness Review. 

(5) Evaluation by Staff and Review Agencies.  
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section X.XX, Referral Agencies 
and review the application for conformance with the requirements and standards of this 
Municipal Code.  

(6) Staff Report. A staff report shall be prepared and provided to the reviewing body in 
accordance with Section X.XX, Staff Report. 

(7) Review and Recommendation by Planning Commission.  
The Planning Commission shall review the major PUD Amendment application in a manner 
consistent with Table X-XX to evaluate compliance with applicable standards. Following their 
review of the application, the Planning Commission shall provide a recommendation to 
approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application to the Town Council based on the 
criteria set forth in Section X-XX, Approval Criteria. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 16 of 18 

(i) The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the public 
hearing to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional 
information for further review by the Planning Commission prior to providing a 
recommendation to the Town Council. 

(8) Review and Action by Town Council.  
The final decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a PUD Zoning Application 
shall be made by the Town Council in a manner set forth in Table X-XX and be based upon 
the review criteria set forth in Section X-XX Approval Criteria.  

(i) The Town Council may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the public hearing 
to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional information 
for further review by the Town Council prior to making a final decision.  

(9) Recordation.  
The applicant shall cause the PUD development plan and PUD development guide to be 
recorded with the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder as required by Section X-XX, Post 
Approval.  

(C) Approval Criteria 
The approval criteria for a PUD zoning application set forth in Section X.XX, Approval Criteria for 
a PUD Zoning request shall be found to be met by the application and supplemental materials in 
order for the Planning Commission and/or Town Council to recommend or approve a major PUD 
amendment application and associated development plan and development guide. 
 

7-6-6  MINOR PUD AMENDMENT [New language] 

(A) General Provisions 
(1) Minor PUD amendments include any modification or amendment to an approved PUD 

development plan or development guide which does not constitute a major PUD amendment 
as defined in Section XXX, General Provisions. 

(2) No minor PUD amendment shall affect the rights of the residents, occupants and owners of 
the PUD to maintain and enforce all provisions of law or in equity, except as to those lawfully 
modified, removed or released. 

(3) Minor amendments and/or modifications to an approved PUD development plan and/or 
development guides may be requested in accordance with this Section XXX, Minor PUD 
Amendment. 

(4) No amendment may be made to an approved PUD plan and/or approved development guide 
during the construction of the improvements governed by the PUD. 

(B) Review Procedures 
(1) Review Flowchart. Figure X, Minor PUD Amendment, depicts the minor PUD amendment 

application review process described in greater detail in this section.  
Figure XX, Minor PUD Amendment Flowchart 
[Insert Flowchart] 
(2) Pre-Application Meeting. A pre-application meeting may be held in accordance with the 

provisions set forth in Section X-XX, Pre-Application Meeting. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 17 of 18 

(3) Application Submittal Requirements. The following are the application materials required to 
be submitted for a minor PUD amendment request. The Town Manager or designee may 
waive or alter any of the submittal requirements if they are determined to be inappropriate or 
unnecessary to determining if the application satisfies applicable standards. 
(a) Basic PUD Application Materials. All materials set forth in Section X-XX, Basic PUD 

Application Materials. 
(b)  Written Narrative 

(i) General description of the amendment(s) being requested including the proposed 
amendments to the PUD general description, PUD development plan, and/or PUD 
development guide. 

(ii) Written narrative and description of how the proposed PUD amendment(s) comply 
with the standards of this Ridgway Municipal Code and the criteria set forth in 
Section XXX, Approval Criteria.  

(c) PUD Development Plan.  
(i) Updated PUD development plan depicting the proposed minor amendment(s), as 

applicable. The requirements of a PUD development plan identified in Section X-XX, 
PUD Development Plan should be used as a template. 

(d) PUD Development Guide. 
(i) Updated PUD development guide depicting the proposed minor amendment(s), as 

applicable. The requirements of a PUD development guide identified in Section 
5.04.B.3.d, PUD Development Guide should be used as a template. 

(e) Supplemental Materials. The following items are also required to be submitted to the 
Town of Ridgway. 
(i) Proof of minimum guaranteed water supply. 

(a) Additional Requirements.  
Any other information deemed necessary by the Town Manager or designee to assist in 
the review of the application.  

(4) Completeness Review.  
The Town Manager or designee shall review the application for completeness in accordance 
with the provisions of Section X.XX, Completeness Review. 

(5) Evaluation by Staff and Review Agencies.  
Upon determination of completeness, the Town Manager or designee shall refer the 
application to additional reviewing agencies as set forth in Section X.XX, Referral Agencies 
and review the application for conformance with the requirements and standards of this 
Municipal Code.  

(6) Staff Report. A staff report shall be prepared and provided to the reviewing body in 
accordance with Section X.XX, Staff Report. 

(7) Review and Recommendation by Planning Commission.  
The Planning Commission shall review the minor PUD Amendment application in a manner 
consistent with Table X-XX to evaluate compliance with applicable standards. Following their 
review of the application, the Planning Commission shall provide a recommendation to 
approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application to the Town Council based on the 
criteria set forth in Section X-XX, Approval Criteria. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 6 PUD 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 18 of 18 

(i) The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the public 
hearing to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional 
information for further review by the Planning Commission prior to providing a 
recommendation to the Town Council. 

(8) Review and Action by Town Council.  
The final decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a minor PUD Amendment 
shall be made by the Town Council in a manner set forth in Table X-XX and be based upon 
the review criteria set forth in Section X-XX Approval Criteria. 

(i) The Town Council may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the public hearing 
to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional information 
for further review by the Town Council prior to making a final decision.  

(9) Recordation.  
The applicant shall cause the PUD development plan and PUD development guide to be 
recorded with the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder as required by Section X-XX, Post 
Approval.  

(C) Approval Criteria 
The following criteria shall be found to be met by the application and supplemental materials in 
order for the Planning Commission and/or Town Council to recommend or approve a minor PUD 
amendment application and associated development plan and development guide:  

(1) The minor PUD amendment is consistent with the efficient development and preservation 
of the entire PUD; 

(2) The minor PUD amendment is consistent with the applicable portions of the Master Plan 
in the reasonable judgement of the approving body; 

(3) The minor PUD amendment does not affect in a substantially adverse manner either the 
enjoyment of land abutting upon or across a street from the PUD; and 

(4) The minor PUD amendment protects the public interest. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 7 Annexation 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 1 of 8 

Chapter 7: Land Development Regulations 
SECTION 7 – ANNEXATION 
 
7-7-1 APPLICATION OF MUNICIPAL CODE 

(A) This Section 7, Annexation, shall be known and cited as the “Ridgway Annexation Ordinance”. 
(B) Unless otherwise provided by an agreement or by ordinance governing the annexation of property 

into the Town, the ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations of the Town shall remain fully 
valid and effective as to any property annexed into the Town. 
 

7-7-2 PURPOSE 

(A) The purpose of the Ridgway Annexation Ordinance, is to establish a procedure to bring land under 
the jurisdiction of the Town of Ridgway in compliance with the Colorado Municipal Annexation Act 
of 1965, as amended (“Act”). Section 31-12-101, et seq., C.R.S.  

(B) This Section, in part, provides supplemental requirements for annexation pursuant to the Act and 
is not to be construed as altering, modifying, eliminating or replacing any requirement set forth in 
the Act or any requirements set forth in other portions of the Ridgway Municipal Code. In the event 
of a conflict between the Act, the provisions of this Section, or any requirements set forth in other 
portions of the Ridgway Municipal Code, the more stringent provision shall control.  

(C) For purposes of defining the certain words or phrases used herein and interpreting this S, the 
provisions of Section 31-12-103, C.R.S., shall apply, which provisions are incorporated herein by 
this reference. 
 

7-7-3 STATEMENT OF POLICY AND REVIEW CRITERIA 

It shall be the general policy of the Town with respect to annexations and the consideration of annexation 
petitions that: 

(A) Annexation is a discretionary act. Except for the initiated petition for the annexation of an enclave, 
the Town shall exercise its sole discretion in the annexation of territory to the Town. 

(B) The land to be annexed and the uses proposed for the land shall conform to the goals, policies and 
strategies of the Master Plan and to the land uses depicted on the Future Land Use Map, as 
amended.  

(C) Certain public facilities and amenities are necessary and must be constructed as part of any territory 
annexed to the Town in order that the public needs may be served by such facilities. These facilities 
include, but not by way of limitation, streets, bridges, public parks and recreation areas, school 
sites and storm drainage facilities. The annexation of lands to the Town shall not to create any 
additional cost or burden on the then-existing residents of the Town to provide such public facilities 
in any newly annexed area. 

(D) The petitioner for annexation shall be responsible for paying the Town's full cost for processing the 
annexation petition, from initial discussion with Town staff before submittal of the petition through 
the approval and recording of the final annexation documents, in the event of the Town Council's 
approval of annexation.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 7 Annexation 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 2 of 8 

(E) Annexed areas will not divide tracts of land to prevent further annexation of adjoining parcels (for 
example, leaving a "gap" or a "strip" of land between property to be annexed and the adjoining 
property). 

(F) Adequate water rights are to be deeded to the Town, as determined necessary by the Town, at 
the time of annexation, to provide sufficient water for the annexed property and the uses thereon. 

(G) The annexation process can be complex. A property owner considering an annexation petition may 
wish to consult with an attorney familiar with municipal annexation law. While the Town staff will 
cooperate with the property owner in the process of complying with state law or the Land 
Development Regulations, the Town cannot be bound by any representations made by the Town 
staff regarding the status of or the requirements of state law or the Land Development Regulations. 
As a general rule and except in extraordinary circumstances, annexation petitions should be 
accompanied by a request for zoning and, when appropriate, a sketch plan or other application(s), 
which may be needed pursuant to Chapter 7, Land Development Regulations. 

(H) The property owner may request that the annexed property be placed in a specific zone district, or 
the Town may initiate a zoning action as part of the annexation process. However, no zoning action 
shall become effective prior to the effective date of the annexation ordinance concerning the 
property. 

(I) The Town may conduct zoning and subdivision review for the area proposed to be annexed after 
the Town Council adopts a resolution finding the petition for annexation (or annexation election) 
to be in substantial compliance with the state law and that the area is eligible for annexation. The 
Town Council shall not pass any ordinance approving a request for zoning and/or subdivision until 
an ordinance annexing the property to the Town has been approved by the Town Council.  

(J) The petitioner(s) shall enter into an annexation agreement with the Town for the development of 
the property to be annexed. 
 

7-7-4 RESPONSIBILITIES OF APPLICANT 

In addition to other duties imposed upon all applicants by these Land Development Regulations and the 
Act, as amended, all applicants shall have the following responsibilities: 

(A) The applicant is responsible for having a representative at all meetings where the request is 
reviewed.  Failure to have a representative present is cause to have the item withdrawn from the 
agenda of that meeting. 

(B) The applicant shall consult with the Town Manager or designee to discuss any special conditions 
pertaining to the annexation and to obtain an annexation petition prior to submitting an annexation 
petition to the Town. 
 

7-7-5 ANNEXATION PROCEDURES 

(A) Eligibility 
Eligibility for annexation shall be determined by conformity with the requirements of the Act, 
including but not limited to Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., and as determined by the 
Town Council in its sole discretion.  

(B) Annexation Process Summary 
The annexation process shall be as follows: 
(A) Pre-Application Meeting 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 7 Annexation 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 3 of 8 

(B) Submittal of Application and Petition 
(C) Resolution of Substantial Compliance and Setting the Public Hearing 
(D) Evaluation and Review of the Application and Petition 
(E) Planning Commission Consideration of Zoning 
(F) Town Council Consideration of Annexation Agreement, Annexation Ordinance, and Zoning 
(G) Post Approval Requirements 

(C) Pre-Application Meeting 
The application process begins with a preapplication conference with the Planner and other 
appropriate Town staff to determine the feasibility of the annexation request. Following this 
informal meeting, the petitioner shall submit a letter of intent requesting annexation, the 
annexation petition, the completed annexation application form, annexation maps, applicable fees 
and supporting documents, as provided in this Chapter. 

(D) Application and Petition Submittal Requirements 
All of the following information and materials shall be submitted to the Town of Ridgway in a form 
acceptable to the Town Manager or designee. 
(a) Annexation Application Materials 

The following materials are required for all applications regulated by Section 7, Annexation, 
unless waived by the Town Manager or their designee.  

(i) Application Form. An application form for the request shall be obtained from the 
Town. Completed application forms and accompanying materials shall be 
submitted to the Town by the owner or applicant.  
a. Authorized Agent. If the applicant is not the owner of the land based on Ouray 

County Assessor records, the applicant shall submit a letter signed by the 
owner consenting to the submission of the application(s). 

b. Applicant is Not the Sole Owner. If the applicant is not the sole owner of the 
land, the applicant shall submit a letter signed by all owners or an association 
representing all the owners, by which all owners consent to or join in the 
application.  

(ii) Fees as required by Section 7-X General Provisions. 
(iii) Proof of Ownership. Proof of Ownership in the form of a copy of the property deed 

or a title commitment which has been issued within sixty (60) days of the 
application submittal along with copies of all documents listed in the exceptions. 

(iv) Legal Description. Legal description of the property subject to the development 
application.  

(v) Vicinity Map. A map locating the project limits, parcel(s), and property within 
Ridgway. The vicinity map shall clearly show the boundaries of the subject property 
and all property within a three-mile radius of the subject property.  

(vi) General Written Narrative. A general written narrative identifying the development 
team, existing conditions of the property, proposed uses, density, lot layout, end 
users, financing, public dedications (including rights-of-way, parks, open space, 
infrastructure), and describing the purpose of the project, how the request meets 
the applicable approval criteria, furthers the goals and objectives specified in the 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 7 Annexation 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 4 of 8 

Master Plan, and identifying any potential impacts on adjacent properties and 
public infrastructure and how those impacts are proposed to be mitigated.  

(b) Petition for annexation. A Petition for Annexation, in a form acceptable to the Town Attorney 
and complying with the requirements of the Act. The Town may provide a standard form 
petition. The Petition shall be signed by 100% of the owners of the private property described 
in the Petition. 

(c) Annexation map. All annexation maps shall be made with an engineer’s scale, minimum scale 
to be one (1) inch represents one hundred (100) feet and shall be on a reproducible medium 
with outer dimensions of twenty-four (24) by thirty-six (36) inches.  The annexation map shall 
contain the following information: 

a. The date of preparation, the scale and a symbol designating true north. 
b. The name of the annexation. 
c. The names, addresses and phone numbers of the applicant and the person responsible 

for preparing the annexation map. 
d. The legal description. 
e. Distinction of the boundary that is contiguous to the Town and the length of same. 
f. Lot and block numbers if the area is already platted. 
g. Existing and proposed easements and rights-of-way.  
h. Existing water courses with adequate easements for flood control. 
i. Existing and requested zoning and acreage of each requested zone. 
j. Ownership of all parcels within and adjacent to the annexation. 
k. Mailing addresses of all property owners within two hundred (200) fee of the 

annexation. 
l. Affidavit concerning the amount and historical use of all water rights owned. 

(d) Annexation Impact Report. Using information available at this stage of the development 
process, the application is to be accompanied by a narrative report assessing the effect of the 
proposed annexation upon the community and existing services and facilities. It shall detail the 
possible need for any expansion of those services and facilities to accommodate the 
development proposed for the property being annexed. The narratives shall be one or more 
paragraphs in length, and adequate to explain the needs, concepts, and proposed solutions for 
each of the following.  

a. An assessment of the community needs for the proposed annexation and land use.  
b. The economic impact to the Town of the proposed annexation. This is to include an 

analysis of short-term and long-term revenues to the Town to be generated by the 
development, short-term and long-term expenses of the Town likely to be incurred as 
a result of the annexation and development, and proposals to mitigate any negative 
impacts.  

c. The school impact including an estimate of the number of students to be generated 
by development of the property, capital construction required to educate the students, 
and proposals to mitigate any negative school impacts.  

d. The source of water, both potable and non-potable, and sanitary sewer systems 
anticipated to serve the property, including a description of any regional facilities that 
must be constructed or upgraded to serve the development on the property.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 7 Annexation 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 5 of 8 

e. The impact on the existing transportation system and proposals to mitigate any 
negative transportation impacts upon the community (arterial and collector street 
improvements, intersection improvements, intersection signalization, alternative 
modes of transportation, etc.)  

f. The impact of the proposed development on the existing storm drainage system and 
proposals to mitigate any negative drainage impacts upon the community (historic 
rainfall drainage patterns, detention and retention areas, storm sewer requirements, 
discharged irrigation ditches, floodways and floodplains, etc).  

g. The impact of the proposed development on law enforcement and proposals to 
mitigate any impact upon the existing law enforcement services (special security 
needs, additional officers required, additional equipment requirements, etc.).  

h. The impact of the proposed development on the fire district and proposals to mitigate 
any impact upon the existing fire protection services (special fire hazards, fire 
prevention, fire detection, emergency access, additional equipment requirements, 
additional manpower requirements, additional fire stations, etc.).  

i. The impact of the proposed development on town park facilities and recreation 
programs and proposals to mitigate any impact upon the existing facilities and 
programs. 

j. The impact of the proposed development on the environment of the town and 
proposals to mitigate any negative impact (identify environmentally sensitive areas, 
endangered species, significant habitats, etc.).  

k. The short-term and long-term economic development potential for the property 
(numbers of jobs to be created, sales and use tax generation, property tax generation, 
utility revenue generation, incentives to be offered, etc.).  

l. The compatibility of the proposed development with the town’s current and future 
transportation infrastructure and road network and proposals for mitigating any 
negative impact.  

m. The compatibility of the proposed development with the Master Plan and any plan 
amendments that may be necessary for the proposed development.  

n. The compatibility of the proposed development with the Land Development 
Regulations and Ridgway Municipal Code and any deviations in setbacks, space 
requirements, and permitted uses that may be required for the proposed development. 

o. A review of existing and adjacent land uses, areas of compatibility or conflict, and 
possible mitigation measures that may be required for the proposed development.  

(e) Concept development plan map. The concept development plan map(s) shall be a neat, clear, 
permanent, legible and reproducible document and shall contain the following: 

a. The boundary of the area to be developed; 
b. A written legal description of the area to be developed;  
c. The general location of each proposed land use on the property and the percentage 

of the whole for each use. General location of land uses may be shown as irregular 
graphic shapes depicting the approximate size and relationship to adjacent land uses. 
A table shall be used to list densities and land use by type, including the area of each, 
the density of residential development and the maximum and minimum lot sizes, and 
the maximum square footage of commercial and industrial buildings and the maximum 
and minimum lot sizes;  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 7 Annexation 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 6 of 8 

d. Existing and proposed arterial and collector streets and their relationship to the 
principal land uses on the site;  

e. Existing and proposed major utility lines or facilities and their relationship to the 
principal land uses on the site;  

f. Contour lines at 10 foot intervals, except when there are significant geographical 
features on the land and a different interval is determined to be more appropriate; and  

g. Significant natural or manmade features on the site and contiguous to the property, 
including but not limited to, bluffs, tree galleries, lakes and ponds, irrigation ditches 
watercourses and wetlands. 

(f) For all annexations in excess of ten (10) acres, the applicant shall obtain from the school district 
governing the area to be annexed a statement of the effect of the annexation upon the school 
district, including an estimate of the number of students generated by the proposed annexation 
and the capital construction required to educate such students. 

(g) Property tax statement. A copy of the prior year’s property tax statement for all property to be 
annexed.  

(h) Public hearing notification envelopes. In addition, the applicant shall provide such envelopes 
for the County Commissioners, County Attorney, and School District.  

(i) Surrounding and interested property ownership report. 
(j) Statement of conformance to the Master Plan. A narrative of how the project conforms to the 

Future Land Use Classification and the goals, policies and strategies identified in the Master 
Plan.  

(k) Water rights. A “Water Rights Report” for the property prepared by a qualified water engineer 
or water attorney detailing the water rights appurtenant to and severed from the property to 
be annexed and their historical use. The report must include both surface (tributary) and 
subsurface (non-tributary and not non-tributary groundwater). The applicant shall provide to 
the Town a signed warranty deed(s) for sufficient water rights as defined by the Town Engineer 
and in a form acceptable to the Town Attorney to provide the domestic needs of property to 
be developed as a result of the annexation. In addition the applicant shall provide to the Town 
a signed standard form warranty deed for the transfer of all subsurface (non-tributary) water 
rights to the Town. The timing and form of required water rights dedication may be modified 
in the Annexation Agreement.  

(l) Application for zoning of property to be annexed. The petitioner must submit a completed 
Zoning Map Amendment application, and all required submittal requirements as set forth in 
Section 7-5-X, Map Amendment of this Chapter. 

(E) Completeness Review 
The Town Manager or designee shall review the petition for annexation and all other submitted 
materials for completeness as follows: 
(a) Within ten (10) days following receipt of a petition or application, the Town Manager or 

designee shall administratively review the application and determine whether it includes all the 
application content requirements of the Ridgway Municipal Code for the requested application 
type. 

(b) All plans, reports, maps, and other information required for the application type must be 
complete and legible. A failure of the application to meet the requirements of the Act, Chapter 
7, Land Use Regulations and the Ridgway Municipal Code may delay the processing of the 
application until the application is sufficient and deemed complete. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 7 Annexation 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 7 of 8 

(c) When the Town Manager or designee determines that the application is complete as submitted, 
the Town Manager or designee shall process the application for review in accordance with the 
provisions set forth in this Section 7, Annexation. 

(d) In the event the Town Manager or designee determines that the application is incomplete, the 
Town Manager or designee shall inform the petitioner in writing of the deficiencies in the 
application. No further processing of the incomplete application shall be undertaken until the 
Town Manager, or designee, determines that the applicant has remedied the application’s 
deficiencies.  

(F) Substantial Compliance 
(a) Annexation petition referral to Town Council. Upon the Town staff's determination that the 

petition and supporting documentation are complete and in compliance with provisions of this 
Chapter, the Act, and the Ridgway Municipal Code, the Town Manager or designee shall refer 
the petition to the Town Council for review and consideration. 

(b) Town Council determination of substantial compliance. The Town Council shall consider at a 
regular or special meeting whether the petition is in substantial compliance with provisions of 
the Act. 

a. If the petition is found to be in substantial compliance with the Act, the Town Council may, 
by the adoption of a Resolution of Substantial Compliance, set the annexation and zoning, 
for a public hearing as provided in the Act. 

b. If the petition is found to not be in compliance with the Act, no further action shall be taken, 
except that the findings shall be made by resolution of the Town Council. 

(G) Evaluation and Review of Application and Petition 
Town Staff shall analyze the feasibility of annexing the proposed property, such analysis including 
but not limited to, the ability to serve with streets, water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, parks and 
recreation, schools, law enforcement and fire protection. The analysis shall also consider the 
following: compliance with the Town’s Comprehensive Plan, codes and policies; sources of revenue 
from the property; the Town’s costs to serve development proposed for the property; and any 
other related matters. 

(H) Notice of Public Hearing 
After adoption by the Council of a Resolution of Substantial Compliance, the Town shall provide 
notice of the public hearing as provided in the Act and Chapter 7, Land Development Regulations. 

(I) Planning Commission Review 
The Planning Commission shall review the Map Amendment application in a manner consistent with 
Section 5, Zoning Regulations to evaluate compliance with applicable standards. Following their 
review of the application, the Planning Commission shall provide a recommendation to approve, 
approve with conditions, or deny the application to the Town Council based on the criteria set forth 
in Section X-XX, Approval Criteria. 

a. The Planning Commission may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the public 
hearing to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional information 
for further review by the Planning Commission prior to providing a recommendation to the 
Town Council. 

(J) Town Council  
The final decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a Annexation, Annexation 
Agreement, and initial zoning request shall be made by the Town Council in a manner consistent 
with the Act.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 7 Annexation 
November 23, 2022 
 

Page 8 of 8 

(i) The Town Council may, in its sole discretion, continue or postpone the public hearing 
to a specified date and time in order to permit preparation of additional information 
for further review by the Town Council prior to making a final decision.  

(K) Post Approval 
(a) Review. Prior to recording of the approved documents, the applicant shall submit all final 

documents reflecting any conditions of approval to the Town Manager or their designee for 
final review and acknowledgement.  

(b) Recording. Any documents required to be recorded with the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder 
shall be fully executed by the applicant and filed for execution by the town and recorded. 
Recording of all documents shall be completed within a reasonable period of time from the 
date of approval by the approving body. 

(c) Effective Upon Recording. A plat does not become effective until it is properly filed for recording 
with the Ouray County Clerk and Recorder. 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 8 ‐ Definitions 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 1 of 7 

Chapter 7: Land Development Regulations 
SECTION 8 – DEFINITIONS 
 
7-8-1 DEFINITIONS [Combined terms from Sections 6-3-1, 7-3-2, and 7-4-4. New terms and 
definitions will be added and updated during the update process.] 

The following words and terms shall be defined as follows for the purposes of these Land Development 
Regulations:  
ACCESSORY USE: A use which is subordinate to, clearly incidental to, customarily in connection with, and 
ordinarily located on the same premises as the permitted use. Home occupations which meet the criteria 
set out in subsection 7-3-18(A), including daycare facilities with eight or fewer children, shall be considered 
an accessory use to a residence in all districts.  
ADAPTIVE CONTROLS: Devices such as timers, motion-sensors and light-sensitive switches used to actively 
regulate the emission of light from light fixtures. 
APPLICANT: [New term to be defined] 
ART AND CRAFT STUDIO: The workshop of an artist, sculptor, photographer, craftsperson, furniture maker, 
glass blower, potter or cabinet maker primarily used for on-site production of unique custom goods by hand 
manufacturing involving the use of hand tools and small-scale equipment, which may include an accessory 
gallery. The primary use of art and craft studios is the retail sale of the custom goods as produced on-site, 
as evidenced through allocation of customer floor area or gross sales receipts of the business.  
BOARDING OR ROOMING HOUSE: A building or portion thereof which is used to accommodate, for 
compensation, one or more boarders or roomers, not including members of the occupant's immediate 
family who might be occupying such building. "Compensation" includes compensation in money, services 
or other things of value.  
BUILDING LINE: A line parallel to a property line beyond which no exposed portion of a building extends. 
The first three feet of unroofed terraces or patios, sills, cornices and chimneys; temporary awnings; free 
standing walls, rails or fences; the first one foot of a roof eave; and the first four feet of an open fire 
escape; need not be considered in determining the building line.  
CONDOMINIUM: A building or buildings consisting of separately owned air space units of a multi-unit 
property. Generally, the units or portions of the units are stacked one above another. In addition to the 
interest acquired in a particular unit, each unit owner has an undivided interest in the land or buildings as 
parts thereof used in common by all the unit owners (common elements). This does not prohibit the 
ownership of common areas by a homeowners association holding title to such areas for and on behalf of 
the owner of a condominium unit.  
CONDOMINIUMIZATION: The development or use of the land and existing structures as a condominium 
project, regardless of the present or prior use of such lands and structures and regardless of whether 
substantial improvements have been made to structures. 
DEPENDENT MANUFACTURED HOME: A manufactured home without toilet, lavatory or bathing facilities. 
DORMITORY: A building used as group living quarters for students or religious adherents as an accessory 
use for a bona fide college, university, boarding school, seminary, convent, monastery or other similar 
institutional use.  
DWELLING: A building or portion of a building that is designed or used exclusively as the living quarters 
for one or more families, and that complies with all applicable building and safety codes. This definition 
includes factory-built housing that does not meet the definition of a manufactured home, provided the 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 8 ‐ Definitions 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 2 of 7 

structure meets all applicable building and safety codes and is mounted on a permanent structure and 
connected to all required utilities.  
DWELLING, CLUSTER DEVELOPMENT: A development type that concentrates single-family, duplex, or 
townhouse dwellings (in groups of two) on smaller lots than would otherwise be allowed in the zone district 
in return for the preservation of sensitive natural areas, agricultural or ranch land, trail or recreational 
easements, and/or common open space within the same site, on a separate lot, or in an easement.  
DWELLING, CO-HOUSING DEVELOPMENT: A residential development that does not meet the definition of 
a Group Home, that includes a group of individual dwelling units of varying sizes, the largest containing 
less than 1,500 square feet of floor area, that are not constructed on a frame or capable of being 
transported on their own wheels, and in which individual units may or may not have partial or complete 
kitchens. The development must include one or more community building(s) with a community kitchen and 
dining room intended for communal use on a regular basis, and in which most or all residents generally 
agree to share in the provision of regular communal services such as cooking meals or providing childcare.  
DWELLING, DUPLEX: A single structure, located on a single lot, containing two dwelling units, neither of 
which meets the definition of a townhouse dwelling or an accessory dwelling unit.  

 
DWELLING, FOURPLEX: A single structure, located on a single lot, containing four dwelling units, none of 
which meets the definition of a townhouse dwelling unit or an accessory dwelling unit.  

 
DWELLING, LIVE/WORK: A structure containing an integrated living and working space that is intended to 
function predominantly as business workspace with residential use area occupied by the business owner or 
operator. The unit typically has a store front, with the workspace, public display area, or show room on the 
ground floor of the unit and the majority of the residence area is located either on the upper floor if there 
are two floors, or the back of the unit if there is only one floor.  
DWELLING, MULTIPLE FAMILY: Five or more dwelling units, within a single building and located on a single 
lot, including apartments and condominiums. This definition also includes any number of dwelling units 
located within a single building that contains a nonresidential primary use on the ground floor of the 
building, and that does not meet the definition of employee housing.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 8 ‐ Definitions 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 3 of 7 

 
DWELLING, SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED: A dwelling unit, located on a separate lot or tract that has no 
physical attachment to any other building containing a dwelling unit located on any other lot or tract, and 
that does not meet the definition of a manufactured home.  

 
DWELLING, TOWNHOUSE: A single-family dwelling at least two stories in height that is attached to at least 
one other single-family dwelling at least two stories in height by an unpenetrated vertical wall running from 
ground level or below ground level to at least the top of the highest floor designed for human occupancy, 
and that has a pedestrian entrance leading directly from the ground floor of the dwelling unit to a street 
fronting the lot on which the dwelling unit is located. Individual townhouse dwellings may be located on 
separate lots, or a group of two or more townhouse dwellings may be located on a single lot.  

 
DWELLING, TRIPLEX: A single structure, located on a single lot, containing three dwelling units, none of 
which meets the definition of a townhouse dwelling unit or an accessory dwelling unit.  

 
DWELLING UNIT: An area in a building containing cooking, living and sanitary facilities designed for use 
and used by a single family for residential purposes, including related accessory structures. The term 
dwelling shall not include hotels, motels, homeless shelters, boarding and rooming houses, dormitories, 
seasonal overflow shelters, tents, or other structures designed or used primarily for temporary occupancy.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 8 ‐ Definitions 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 4 of 7 

DWELLING UNIT, ACCESSORY: A dwelling unit located within, attached to, or detached from the principal 
dwelling, that contains no more than 800 square feet of gross floor area, the use of which is associated 
with and subordinate to the principal dwelling and that is located upon the same lot as the principal 
dwelling.  
EMPLOYEE HOUSING: A dwelling unit that contains no more than 450 square feet of gross floor area, 
located within the same structure as a nonresidential use and above or behind the nonresidential use, in 
which the use of the dwelling units is secondary and subordinate to the nonresidential use and restricted 
for occupancy only by the employees of the nonresidential use.  
FACTORY-BUILT HOUSING: Any structure, or component of a structure, designed primarily for residential 
occupancy, either permanent or temporary, that is wholly or in substantial part made, fabricated, formed, 
or assembled in manufacturing facilities for installation, or assembly and installation, on the building site, 
and that does not meet the definition of a manufactured home. Factory-built housing shall either comply 
with the Town's adopted building codes or the Colorado Division of Housing adopted Building Codes for 
Modular Homes, as set forth in CDOH Rule 2, Codes and Standards, at 8 CCR 1302-14.  
FAMILY: One or more individuals occupying a single dwelling unit and living as a single housekeeping unit 
with a maximum of eight adults. This includes groups of eight or fewer persons whose right to live together 
is protected by the federal Fair Housing Amendments Act.  
GAS STATION: Any building or lot having facilities for the sale of gasoline and other fuels for use by motor 
vehicles, and which may include incidental facilities for service and minor repair of motor vehicles.  
GOVERNMENT BUILDINGS AND FACILITIES: Any building or facility owned and operated by the United 
States of America, the state of Colorado, the Town of Ridgway, or any agency or political subdivision 
thereof.  
GROSS FLOOR AREA: The heated area of a building measured along the outside enclosing walls, excluding 
interior parking areas and outdoor common areas.  
GROUP HOME: One or more dwelling units in which more than eight unrelated individuals or related and 
unrelated individuals live, where physical assistance and/or supervision, care or treatment is provided by 
resident and/or nonresident professional support personnel as a continual benefit. This definition does not 
include a hotel, motel, boarding or rooming house, facility housing juvenile or adult offenders, or a facility 
for persons with drug or alcohol addictions that are not in a treatment program, but includes any group of 
eight or more persons whose right to live together is protected by the federal Fair Housing Amendments 
Act. Group home shall include state licensed personal care and alternative care personnel.  
HIGH-WATER MARK: The boundary dividing a river bed from a river bank and defined as the line on the 
bank up to which the presence and action of water are so usual and long conditioned as to impress on the 
bed a character distinct from that of the bank with respect to the nature of the ground surface, soil and 
vegetation.  
HOME OCCUPATION: Any commercial activity, whether for profit or nonprofit, conducted within a dwelling 
unit.  
HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION: Any entity, whether corporation, partnership, nonprofit, unincorporated 
association, or other entity existing for the purpose of maintaining commonly owned facilities and/or 
enforcing private protective covenants whose members or shareholders are the property owners involved.  
HOTELS AND MOTELS: Any building or portion thereof containing six or more guest rooms used, designed 
to be used, let or hired out for occupancy by persons on more or less a temporary basis.  
LOT: A unit into which land is divided on a subdivision plat, including a condominium unit.  
LOT WIDTH: Measured at the frontage of that abutting public street which provides actual access to the 
lot.  



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 8 ‐ Definitions 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 5 of 7 

MAJOR ADDITION: An addition to or renovation of a structure in which the total gross floor area of the 
proposed addition or renovation area is 50 percent or more of the total gross floor area of the existing 
structure before addition or renovation.  
MANUFACTURED HOME: A factory-built structure that is built on a permanent chassis, is designed and 
constructed to permit lawful long-term occupancy as a dwelling, whether attached or unattached to a 
permanent foundation, that meets requirements of the National Manufactured Housing Construction and 
Safety Standards Act of 1974", 42 U.S.C. Section 5401, et seq., as amended (commonly referred to as the 
"HUD Code".).  
MIXED-USE SITE: An undivided or combination of undivided lots under one or more ownership or lease 
agreement used for a mixture of commercial, industrial, institutional, and residential uses.  
MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL SITE: An undivided or combination of undivided lots under one or more 
ownership or lease arrangements occupied by multiple dwelling units.  
MANUFACTURED HOME PARK: A single site, parcel, or lot operated and used for the location of two or 
more manufactured homes intended for use as residences.  
NATIVE VEGETATION: Vegetative species that occur naturally in a particular region, ecosystem, and 
habitat.  
NONCONFORMING USE: A use which does not comply with the use regulations, dimensional requirements 
or other regulations of these Zoning Regulations.  
NONRESIDENTIAL SITE: An undivided or combination of undivided lots under one or more ownership or 
lease agreement used for commercial, industrial, or institutional uses. 
PERSON: means any individual, firm, partnership, corporation, association, LLC, or other entity, including 
to the extent allowed by law, the United States and the State of Colorado, and any agency or political 
subdivision thereof.  
PLANNING COMMISSION: The Planning and Zoning Commission of the Town.  
PUBLIC UTILITY SERVICE FACILITIES: Transmission and distribution facilities for natural gas, electricity, 
water, sewer, drainage, telephone, and cable television necessary to provide service to customers located 
in the various districts of the Town, such as pipes, lines, mains, wires, transformers, valves, and other 
related appurtenances, but not including buildings, offices, and production or generation facilities.  
SETBACK: The perpendicular distance between a property line and the building line.  
SHORT-TERM RENTAL: Rental of all or a portion of a residential dwelling unit for periods of less than 31 
days. This definition of short-term rentals excludes hotels, motels, lodges, and bed and breakfasts.  
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL SITE: An undivided or combination of undivided lots under one ownership 
occupied by a single-family residential structure and related accessory structures.  
STRUCTURE HEIGHT: A be determined as follows for application of the limitations as set forth herein:  

(a) The height of any structure shall be determined by measuring the vertical distance between 
the elevation of the lowest point of the natural grade abutting any exterior wall or supporting 
structure and the highest point of the coping of a flat roof or to the deck line of a mansard roof or 
to the average height of the highest gable or a pitched or hipped roof. Structures that do not have 
roofs shall be measured to the height of the structure.  
(b) The height of each separate terrace or step for terraced or stepped buildings shall be 
considered for purpose of application of these limits.  
(c) Allowable building height may be increased by six inches if the roof design includes raised 
heel trusses. [Relocated from footnote to Table at Sec. 7-3-15(A).] 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 8 ‐ Definitions 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 6 of 7 

SUBDIVISION: A parcel of land which is divided into two or more parcels, lots, tracts or other interests 
including condominiums; townhouses, other common interest ownership properties; and apartment 
complexes or other development involving more than one primary building; and any act creating such 
results. Provided, however, the following shall not be considered to be a subdivision for the purpose or 
application of these regulations:  

(1) A division of land which creates cemetery lots;  
(2) The creation of separate but undivided interests in a tract of land such as joint tenancy, 

tenancy in common, tenancy in entirety, trust, lien, mortgage, deed of trust or other security 
interest, unless such separate interests apply to less than all of the tract;  

(3) An interest severing the oil, gas, minerals or water from the surface estate;  
(4) Creation of a utility easement or an easement unrelated to the use of the surface;  
(5) Any division of property created by acts of a Town;  
(6) Boundary adjustments which resolve a disputed boundary or boundary survey problem such as 

overlaps or gaps, so long as the boundary adjustment or transaction does not result in the 
transfer from one parcel to another of an area in excess of 10,000 square feet.  

SUBDIVIDE: Any act which is intended to or does result in the creation of a subdivision, and 
SUBDIVIDER: Any person performing such act or processing a subdivision pursuant to this Section X-XX  
SUBDIVISION, XXXX: [Many new definitions will be added under Subdivision to address the new subdivision 
processes added to the Section 5, Subdivision Regulations.] 
SUBDIVISION, MINOR: A minor subdivision shall include a resubdivision of a structure of two or fewer 
units, a minor relocation of a property line, a correction of a survey or engineering error, and the conversion 
of an existing structure into townhomes or condominiums. 
TOWN: means Town of Ridgway, Colorado, and any authorized officer, employee or agent thereof.  
TOWNHOME: An individually owned residential unit that has an undivided interest in common with other 
unit owners in the common elements of a project including land and infrastructure. Townhouse ownership 
includes the structure, from foundation to roof in an unbroken vertical plane, and the land on which the 
foundation of the Townhouse is constructed. In order for footings to be considered a foundation in any 
location, that area must have an unbroken vertical plane to the roof and must be physically attached to 
the building. Townhouse units or portions thereof cannot be stacked one above another. Nothing shall be 
construed to prohibit the ownership of common areas by a homeowners association holding title to such 
areas for and on behalf of the individual owners of a townhouse unit. 
TRAVEL HOME: Any movable or relocatable dwelling unit with a living area of less than 500 square feet or 
which is required to have a license plate. 
TRAVEL HOME PARK: A park or campground for the temporary use of travel homes, including, but not 
limited to, campers, motorhomes, pick-up truck campers, trailers and trailer coaches. 
USE: The activity or purpose for which property, a building or other structure is designed, arranged, 
intended, occupied or maintained.  
USE BY RIGHT: A use which is permitted or allowed in the district involved, without review, and complies 
with the provisions of these Zoning Regulations and other applicable Town ordinances and regulations.  
WORKFORCE HOUSING: Housing that is available for purchase or rent on terms that are affordable to 
households earning between 80 percent and 120 percent of area median income (AMI) as determined by 
the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and published annually for the County. 
The cost of for sale workforce housing (including principal, interest, taxes, insurance, utilities, and 



Ridgway Municipal Code 
Draft Chapter 7 Updates: Sec. 8 ‐ Definitions 
November 23, 2022 

 

Page 7 of 7 

homeowners' association fees) or for rent workforce housing (including rent and utilities) does not exceed 
30 percent of those households' gross annual incomes.  
YARD, FRONT: A yard extending between the side lot lines across the full width of the lot and lying between 
the front lot line and any portion of any structure on the lot. In those instances where a lot abuts two (2) 
streets, such as a corner lot or a double frontage lot, the town manager shall designate which yard 
constitutes the front yard based on the existing development patterns within the neighborhood.  
YARD, REAR: A yard extending between the side lot lines across the full width of the lot and lying between 
the rear lot line and any portion of any structure on the lot.  
YARD, SIDE: A yard extending between the front and rear lot lines along the full length of the lot and lying 
between the side lot line that abuts a public way or private street and any portion of any structure on the 
lot.  



 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM #2 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING 
 

  OCTOBER 25, 2022 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 

The Planning Commission convened both in-person at 201 N. Railroad Street, Ridgway, Colorado and via 
Zoom Meeting, a virtual meeting platform, pursuant to the Town’s Electronic Participation Policy, due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
The Chairperson called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. Commissioners Franz, Liske, Nelson, Petruccelli, 
Mayor Clark, Mayor Pro-Tem Meyer and Chairperson Montague were in attendance.  
 
APPOINTMENT OF COMMISSIONER 
 
1. Chairperson Montague welcomed Jack Petruccelli as the newly appointed commissioner who will       
    replace Thomas Emilson.                 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
    
2.  Application for Variance to Fence Height; Location: Cottonwood Creek Subdivision, Lot 17; Address: 320 S. 

Amelia St.; Zone: Residential; Applicant: Efren Ramos Delgado; Owner: Efren Ramos Delgado 
 

   Staff Report dated October 21, 2022, presenting background, analysis and recommendation prepared by TJ 
Dlubac, AICP of Community Planning Strategies.  

 
   Planner Dlubac noted the original hearing was continued from the September 25, 2022, Regular Planning 

Commission Meeting to provide the applicant the opportunity to clarify the existing conditions on the 
property, to clarify what sections of the fence would be newly constructed and what section of the fence 
needed to be amended. He explained a written request from the applicant was received prior to the meeting 
to withdraw the application. The applicant said the standards in the Municipal Code would be met and that 
landscaping would be used for the privacy issue so there would be no reason to request a variance for the 
fence the Planner clarified. 

 
   The Chairperson opened the hearing for public comment. 

 
   Lucy Boody, adjacent neighbor to the applicant said she and the Delgado’s originally agreed a privacy fence 

would be needed due to the 4-foot change in elevation transitioning from her property to the applicants’ 
property, but they have since worked out the issue. 

 
The Chairperson closed the hearing for public comment. 
 
   The Planning Commission noted that elevation changes between properties in town should be reviewed 

during the work sessions to update the Ridgway Municipal Code, Chapter 7, Planning & Zoning. 
 
 
3.  Application for Rezone; Location: Solar Ranches Filing No. 2C, Lot 110A; Address: TBD Sabeta Dr.; Zone: 

General Commercial; Applicant: Michael Len Wilson and Susan Carriere Wilson, trustees of the Wilson 
Living trust dated 12-5-2017; Owner: Wilson Living Trust dated 12-5-2017  

 
4. Application for Variance to Lot Width; Location: Solar Ranches Filing No. 2C, Lot 110A and Lot 110B; 

Address: TBD Sabeta Dr.; Zone: Residential; Applicant: Michael Len Wilson and Susan Carriere Wilson, 
trustees of the Wilson Living trust dated 12-5-2017; Owner: Wilson Living Trust dated 12-5-2017 



Planning Commission 
October 25, 2022 
Page 2 

 
 
5. Application for Final Plat; Location: Solar Ranches Filing No. 2C, Lot 110A and Lot 110B; Address: TBD 

Sabeta Dr. and 604 Sabeta Dr.; Zone: Residential; Applicant: Michael Len Wilson and Susan Carriere 
Wilson, trustees of the Wilson Living trust dated 12-5-2017; Owner: Wilson Living Trust dated 12-5-2017 

 
     Staff Report dated October 21, 2022, presenting background, analysis and recommendation prepared by 

TJ Dlubac, AICP of Community Planning Strategies. 
 
    TJ Dlubac explained agenda items 3-5 are for a parcel consisting of 2 lots purchased by the Wilsons and the 

3 requests intend to bring both lots into compliance with the Ridgway Municipal Code (RMC) standards, the 
2019 Master Plan and the Future Land Use Map. He explained vacant Lot 110A was rezoned from a 
Residential District to a General Commercial District in 2001 to accommodate a proposed holistic center 
that was never constructed. Mr. Dlubac further noted that the plat note restrictions provide for only health 
care uses on Lot 110A. The applicants are requesting Lot 110A be rezoned for residential use he 
concluded. 

 
     Dlubac explained an amended plat is needed to readjust the property lines for structural improvements 

placed on Lot 110A that were intended for Lot 110B. Once the property lines are adjusted, neither lot will 
meet the minimum lot width requirement, so a variance approval is needed along with an approval for the 
final plat. The Planner noted the new lot number assignments with the amended plat will be Lot 110A-1, and 
Lot 110B-2 and the driveway access will be shared by both lots. He recommended approval of all three 
requests with the conditions intended to tie each of the approvals together so no one request is approved 
unless all three are approved as explained in the Staff Report dated October 21,2022. 

 
     The Commissioners discussed the request with Planner Dlubac.  
 
The Chairperson opened the hearing for public comment and there was none. 
 
     Applicant Susan Wilson stated the requests in the applications are being made to provide the option of 

selling one of the lots in the future. She explained that the shared driveway access would be legally 
documented if one of the lots were to be sold. 

 
ACTION: 
 
Commissioner Nelson moved to recommend approval to the Town Council to rezone Lot 110A, Amended Plat 
of Lot 110, Solar Ranches, Filing No. 2 from the General Commercial District to the Low Density Single-Family 
District, finding that the criteria set forth in RMC Section 7-3-22(A)(1) have been met with the condition that the  
Town Council approves the Wilson variance request to reduce the minimum lot width and the amended plat. 
Mayor Clark seconded the motion. On a call for the roll call vote, the motion carried unanimously. 
 
ACTION: 
 
Mayor Clark moved to approve a 3.56 ft. variance to allow a 46.44 ft. lot width for Lot 110A-1, Wilson Solar 
Ranch Subdivision in the Low-Density Residential District finding that the criteria set forth in RMC Section 7-3-
21 have been met with the condition that the Town Council approves the Wilson Subdivision rezoning and 
amended plat. Mayor Pro-Tem Meyer seconded the motion. On a call for the roll call vote, the motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
ACTION: 
 
Mayor Clark moved to approve the request of a 4 ft. variance to allow a 46 ft. lot width for Lot 110B-2, Wilson 
Solar Ranch Subdivision in the Low-Density Residential District finding that the criteria set forth in RMC 
Section 7-3-21 (A) have been met with the condition that The Town Council approves the Wilson Subdivision 
rezoning and amended plat. Commissioner Franz seconded the motion. On a call for the roll call vote, the 
motion carried unanimously. 



Planning Commission 
October 25, 2022 
Page 3 

 
 
ACTION: 
 
Mayor Clark moved to recommend approval to the Town Council for the Wilson Solar Ranch Subdivision 
finding that the criteria set forth in RMC Section 7-4-5 and 7-4-10 have been met with the following conditions: 
1.) Update the Attorney Certificate to include exceptions included on the Title Commitment. 2.) The Town 
Council approves the Wilson Subdivision rezoning and variance requests to reduce the minimum lot width.  
Mayor Pro Tem Meyer seconded the motion. On a call for the roll call vote, the motion carried unanimously. 
 
6.  Application for Final Plat; Location: Ridgway Land Company Subdivision, Lots 30-34: Address: TBD Redcliff 

Dr.; Zone: General Commercial; Applicant: Vista Park Development, LLC; Owner: Vista Park Development, 
LLC  
 

 Staff Report dated October 21, 2022, presenting background, analysis and recommendation prepared by TJ 
Dlubac, AICP of Community Planning Strategies. 

 
 The Planner explained the Preliminary Plat for Vista Park Commons Planned Unit Development (PUD) 
expired on August 14, 2021, which was an oversite by both staff and the applicant. However, Staff believes 
the spirit and intent of the regulation were met, and it was clear that a final plat submission was forthcoming 
because the project was proceeding with active construction and the applicant had been communicating 
with Town Staff throughout the course of project improvements. 

 
 Dlubac explained that 5 lots are proposed to be divided into 23 lots that will include 19 single-family 
residents, 4 duplex units, common area buildings for storage and commercial use, parking spaces and 2 
deed restricted units.  

 
  He reviewed the variances, conditions, deviations and waivers approved with the PUD, and the standards 
to approve the final plat. The Planner explained the preliminary plat was approved prior to the 2020 
revisions to the Ridgway Municipal Code so the analysis is based on the standards prior to the code 
revisions. He noted insignificant changes made to the final plat that were not proposed with the preliminary 
plat such as changes in the square footage for lots 22 and 23 to accommodate duplex structures, originally 
proposed for Lots 17 and 18, and reductions in the overall lot sizes within the development. 

 
  Planner Dlubac noted the required final PUD Plan was not submitted and suggested the applicant ensure 
consistency within the existing document and submit it with the current information and date. He further 
noted an updated Phasing Plan should be submitted indicating when the 2-duplex deed restricted units will 
be constructed. The required updated architectural, elevations and landscape plans, recorded with the final 
plat were not provided, and the comments regarding the As-built drawings must be addressed and included 
prior to submitting the final plat to the Town Council for approval. Curb/gutter/sidewalk improvements, 
parking, and a drainage facility will be included in the Subdivisions Improvement Agreement for public 
improvements that are not already finished Dlubac concluded.  The Planner recommended approval of the 
application with the following conditions: 

 
1. Applicant shall submit updated architectural designs, landscape plans, phasing plans, and as-builts 

to the Town to be reviewed by town staff prior to the final plat and PUD being considered by the 
Town Council. 

2. Applicant shall address all redlines in Attachment C of the Staff Report dated October 21,2022 and 
resubmit necessary plans and documents for review prior to the final plat and PUD being considered 
by the Town Council. 

3. Applicant shall address all outstanding review comments in the comment letter dated July 18,2022 
and submit the necessary documentation for review prior to the final plat and PUD being considered 
by the Town Council. 
 



Planning Commission 
October 25, 2022 
Page 4 

 
Attorney David Reed, representing the applicant stated the application is in substantial compliance and will 
meet the conditions suggested by staff. He noted the applicant’s Development Team would need to meet 
with staff for clarification regarding the conditions noted in the Staff Report. 

 
The Commissioners discussed the request with the applicant. Joe Nelson, member of Vista Park 
Development LLC explained the sidewalks, internal paths, gutter, drainage, primary and secondary 
irrigation, and interior fencing have been completed. Nelson explained the Landscaping Plan was modified 
to replace aspen trees with pine and other disease resistant trees and the remaining landscaping would be 
completed as the units are constructed.  

 
The Planning Commission noted ownership clarity is needed for the Greenbelt Lot referred to as Tract A so 
that the parcel can be legally dedicated to the Town as a utility easement since Tract A is not part of the plat 
for the to-be-developed Lots 30-34. 

 
 Circulation within the proposed development was discussed and Mr. Nelson explained the                
subdivision is intended to be pedestrian oriented. He noted the painted lines for parallel parking and cross 
walks would need to be completed and that will be included in the Subdivisions Improvement Agreement. 
Nelson also explained that there is a desire to complete the development in one phase, but it may require 
two phases due to pending orders for specific lots. He further noted the 560 sq. ft. studio units would sell for 
approximately $234,000.  

 
The Chairperson opened the hearing for public comment. 

 
 Patsy Young requested approval of the project, stating it is good for the community, and noting the continual 
rise in construction cost and loan fees.  

 
The Chairperson closed the hearing for public comment. 

 
ACTION: 

 
Mayor Pro-Tem Meyer moved to recommend approval to the Town Council for the Application for Final Plat for 
Ridgway Land Company Subdivision, Lots 30-34: Address: TBD Redcliff Dr., finding that the criteria set forth in 
RMC Section 7-4-5(8)(b) have been met with the following conditions: 1.) Applicant shall submit updated 
architectural designs, landscape plans, phasing plans, and as-builts to the Town to be reviewed by town staff 
prior to the final plat and PUD being considered by the Town Council. 2.) Applicant shall address all redlines in 
Attachment C of the Staff Report dated October 21,2022 and resubmit necessary plans and documents for 
review prior to the final plat and PUD being considered by the Town Council. 3.) Applicant shall address all 
outstanding review comments in the comment letter dated July 18,2022 and submit the necessary 
documentation for review prior to the final plat and PUD being considered by the Town Council. Commissioner 
Liske seconded the motion. On a call for the roll call vote, the motion carried unanimously. 

 
APPROVALOF THE MINUTES 

 
7.  Approval of the Minutes from the Special Meeting of September 22, 2022 

 
ACTION: 
 
Mayor Clark moved to approve the Special Meeting Minutes from September 22, 2022. Mayor Pro-Tem Meyer 
seconded the motion. On a call for the roll call vote, the motion carried unanimously with Commissioners Liske 
and Franz abstaining.  
 
8.  Approval of the Minutes from the Regular Meeting of September 27, 2022 
 
ACTION: 
 



Planning Commission 
October 25, 2022 
Page 5 

 
Mayor Pro-Tem Meyer moved to approve the Regular Meeting Minutes from September 27, 2022. Mayor Clark 
seconded the motion. On a call for the roll call vote, the motion carried unanimously with Commissioners Liske 
and Franz abstaining.  
 
9.  Ridgway Municipal Code, Chapter 7 “Planning and Zoning” Update 
 
     TJ Dlubac reported that a detailed outline of the chapters and sections should be ready for review by the 

Town Manager, Engineer and Attorney by the first week in November. He suggested a draft review by the 
Planning Commission at the November Regular Planning Commission Meeting. 

 
10.  Discussion Regarding November Meeting Schedule 
 
       Town Manager Neill said the Regular Planning Commission Meeting scheduled for November 29 will 

proceed as scheduled and the agenda may include the draft update for Chapter 7, “Planning and Zoning” 
depending on the number of complete hearing applications received in time for that meeting.  Neill will 
advise the Commissioners if a separate meeting should be scheduled to review Chapter 7 prior to posting 
the agenda for the Regular Meeting. 

 
11.  Updates from Planning Commission Members 
 
       Mayor Clark reported the Final Plat for the Lakin-Arnold Subdivision was approved by the Town Council. 
        

Mayor Clark also reported that the Town Council Budget Retreat is scheduled for October 29, in the Town   
Hall Community Center which is open to the public. 
 

12.  Discussion Regarding December Meeting Schedule 
 
      The Planning Commission agreed to defer the December Regular Meeting to January 2023. The date for 

that meeting will be decided in December.  
 
       ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting adjourned at 7:30 p.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Karen Christian 
Deputy Clerk 

 


